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The Victor

If you think you are beaten, you are,

If you think you dare not, you don’t

If you like to win, but think you can’t,

It is almost certain you won’t

If you think you’ll lose, you’re lost

For out of the world we find,

Success begins with a person’s will –

It’s all a state of mind.

If you think you are outclassed, you are,

You’ve got to think high to rise.

You’ve got to be sure of yourself before

you can ever win a prize

Life’s battles don’t always go

To the stronger or faster man,

But soon or late the one who wins

Is the one WHO THINKS HE CAN!”

- CW Longenecker -
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
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VISION AND MISSION

Our Vision

To be the leading Mutual and Savings bank in South Africa improving the quality of life of our clients, through their 
participation in saving together, growing together and ownership of their own community bank.

Our Mission

To consistently satisfy the needs of our target market by offering innovative, superior, inclusive investment, saving and 
credit solutions and better service that add value to our clients’ lives by empowering them and contributing towards their 
financial growth, independence and freedom. 

Our Purpose

We exist to improve and transform the lives and livelihoods of our clients by availing them of modern inclusive banking 
products and services that benefit and empower them. 

“All men dream but not equally. 
Those who dream by night in the dusty recesses of their minds wake in the day to find that it was vanity; 

but the dreamers of the day are dangerous men, for they may act their dream with open eyes to make it possible.” 
– T.E. Lawrence –



Finbond Group Limited & Finbond Mutual Bank Integrated Annual Report 2013 3

Our Beliefs (What do we believe)

We believe in challenging the status quo where large corporate banks have lost touch with what their clients really 
need.

We believe that a bank should be owned by and managed exclusively for the benefit and in the best interest of 
its depositors and that all depositors should have an ownership stake in their own bank with the ability to vote at 
shareholders meetings.

We believe that banking products and services should improve the quality of life of our clients and add real value to 
their lives and livelihood. 

We believe in savings and credit solutions tailored around depositor and borrower requirements rather than out-
dated institutionalized policies and practices. 

We believe that savings should be encouraged through offering superior, high yield investment and saving solutions. 

•

•

•

•

•

Our Core Values

Integrity
To maintain social and ethical norms in all activities. 

Human Dignity
To at all-times treat people with respect and consideration for their unique needs, feelings and opinions. 

Excellence
To be excellent in everything at all levels at all times.

Accountability
To accept responsibility for the work delegated and execute it with excellence. 

Teamwork
To strive for the greater benefit of the organisation through an appreciation of the role that each employee plays in 
achieving the overall goals.

•

•

•

•

•

“Nothing can stop the man with the right mental attitude from achieving his goal; 
nothing on earth can help the man with the wrong mental attitude.”

– Thomas Jefferson  –
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ABOUT US

Finbond Group Limited is a leading South African Financial Services institution that specializes in the design and delivery 
of unique value and solution based savings, credit and insurance solutions tailored around depositor and borrower 
requirements rather than institutionalized policies and practices. 

Finbond conducts its business through Finbond Mutual Bank’s two divisions focused on: 

•  Investment and Savings Products, and 
•  Micro Credit Products.

Investment and Savings products, that offer a superior above average rate of return, are offered nationally to investors 
and pensioners looking for guaranteed higher fixed income in the current environment of depressed low yields. Finbond’s 
strategy is to stimulate savings through offering superior investment and saving solutions by providing client shareholders 
with better interest rates, better products and better service. All investment and savings products are marketed nationally 
in the print media and available nationally through Finbond Mutual Bank’s head office call centre in Pretoria.

Micro Credit Products are offered nationally to the under-banked and underserved market of more than 40% of the adult 
population in South Africa actively seeking credit solutions but remaining largely unattended and underserviced due to the 
traditional banks concentration on the higher income brackets of the population. Finbond Micro Credit division operates 
nationally through 172 branches in South Africa and has 487 employees. For the twelve months ended 28 February 2013 
Finbond granted loans of R407.9 million and received cash payments of R563.2 million from clients. Finbond Mutual 
Bank has a credit client base of 330 000, with 35 000 – 45 000 active monthly clients. 100% of customer payments are 
collected via advanced direct debit orders.

Finbond commenced trading in 2003, was listed on The Johannesburg Stock Exchange in 2007 and received its Mutual 
Banking license from the South African Reserve Bank on 23 July 2012. 

Finbond’s management team have a long and successful track record within the banking, micro finance and financial 
services sectors. This, combined with well-developed systems, unique branded product offerings, advanced information 
technology and a well-trained and motivated staff compliment, provide Finbond Mutual Bank with a sound platform for 
future growth.

“The surest way not to fail is to determine to succeed.”
– Richard Brinsley Sheridan –

2.8
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WHAT IS A MUTUAL BANK?

A “Mutual Bank” also known as a “Mutual Savings Bank” is a bank which is operated on a mutual bank model, with the 
specific goal of encouraging savings and providing benefits to its depositors. When someone deposits funds in a “Mutual 
Bank”, she or he essentially buys an ownership stake in the bank and are entitled to vote at shareholder and member 
meetings. 

A mutual savings bank is set up specifically to be operated for the benefit of the depositors. The purpose of the mutual 
bank is to stimulate savings by creating a safe place to deposit money and to offer benefits such as interest on deposits 
and dividends on mutual bank shares, and to invest conservatively for the purpose of generating profits. 

The institution most frequently identified as the first modern mutual savings bank was the “Savings and Friendly Society” 
organized by the Reverend Henry Duncan (1774–1846), the local minister in 1810, in Ruthwell, Scotland. Rev. Duncan 
established the Mutual Bank in order to encourage his working class congregation to develop thrift. These first mutual 
savings banks were designed to uplift the poor and working classes to teach low income individuals the virtues of thrift, 
and self-reliance by encouraging them to save and allowing them the security to save their money. 

Mutual Banks have historically been characteristically conservative in their approach. This conservatism is what allowed 
mutual savings banks to remain stable throughout the turbulent period of the Great Depression, despite the failing of 
some commercial banks. Because mutual savings banks are run very conservatively, they tend to be insulated from some 
of the volatility of the market. Unlike other banks, they weather financial crises much better, and may continue to return a 
profit when other institutions are failing.

Some of the first mutual savings banks still operate today, and numerous others have been established since.

“A time comes when you need to stop waiting for the man you want to become 
and start being the man you want to be.” 

– Bruce Springsteen –
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OUR BRANCHES

RSA Population Density – Finbond Branch Locations

Finbond has a distribution network of 172 branches nationwide.

Finbond Branches per Region

Finbond’s branch network includes access points in low populated areas in order to reach economically disadvantaged 
market segments.

Population scale Finbond branch< 1 inhabitant/km2

> 3 000 inhabitants/km2

Free State & North West

Gauteng, Limpopo & Mpumalanga

Eastern & Western Cape

KwaZulu-Natal

“Things do not happen things are made to happen.”
– John F Kennedy –

2.5 | FS 13
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

–  to always add value

–  to supply solutions not just products

–  to provide excellence of service

–  to ensure consistency and constancy of the first three

Finbond’s identity and culture is centered upon achieving results. Finbond strives for excellence and is passionate about 
achieving goals. High goals are set and, once achieved, these become benchmarks for the future. All tasks are undertaken 
in a harmonious and creative way, constantly measuring results against the Key Performance Indicators.

Finbond is not focused upon making quick and short-term profits but sets out to build critical market momentum that will 
secure long-term rewards and sustainable profits. Our business strategy is to exceed our business partners’ expectations 
and, in so doing, sustain the organic growth of Finbond.

Ethics and Integrity are treated as essential core fundamentals in Finbond, they are not just words. 

Finbond is committed to:

•  The highest standard of service and professionalism;
  
•  Protecting the public and the industry and to adhere to all laws;
  
•  Client confidentiality;
  
•  Equality and non-discrimination;
  
•  Best interest of the consumers; and
  
•  Transparency and disclosure of information in order for clients to make a rational decision.

“Set your sights high, the higher the better. 
Expect the most wonderful things to happen, not in the future but right now. 

Realize that nothing is too good. Allow absolutely nothing to hamper you or hold you up in any way.”
– Eileen Caddy –

1
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HUMAN CAPITAL

Finbond employed 487 employees as at 28 February 2013, supporting families in all provinces throughout the country. 
The gender-demographic and geographic breakdown of the workforce is best displayed graphically, as follows:

Total headcount reflects just under 70% of the total workforce is female, and evenly spread workforce geographically:

During the financial period, staff turnover statistics, broken down into the same gender-demographic and geographic 
statistics reflect the same even spread across all regions, but an increasing proportion of females being brought onto the 
workforce during the year as almost 35% of new hires were male.

When analysed based on basic employee cost however, the Group’s employee profile reflects that there is almost parity 
between the total, basic employee costs of male and female workers, whether this be in aggregate, or even by position, 
at both operational and administrative level:

In order to assist management, the Group has created an interview guide which details possible questions to be asked of 
potential candidates which is used as a recruiting tool during this process. The Group makes use of on-going performance 
assessment tools, which are built into the daily operational working environment (Finbond’s workflow), and these are 
tested monthly as part of the compliance and finance departments’ systems of internal control. Therefore all new staff are 
trained “on-the-job” at the commencement of their employment and undergo an on-boarding process in order to learn 
the Group’s operational workflow. The systems are not overly complex to learn and usually staff are trained to competency 
on average, within 60 working hours. It is estimated that in 2013, the Group invested 12 740 hours in on-boarding 
training of new employees. In addition to this on-boarding, annual salary reviews are conducted by line-management for 
100% of employees on an individual by individual basis, which relies heavily on the results achieved by each individual.

The majority of Finbond’s workforce do not belong to any specific trade union, and staff are employed under consistently 
worded employment contracts which include six month probationary periods, followed by 30-day notice periods for 
termination. There were no incidents of discrimination that required corrective action which took place during the period.

EC 7 | LA 1 | LA 2 | LA 5 | LA 10 | LA 12 | LA 14
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In order to continually improve operational effectiveness, two way communication with employees is valued. Employees 
are encouraged and empowered to raise their concerns through the following platforms:
•

• 

• 

•
• 

•

Employees are also kept abreast of company related issues through: The Finbond Compass – a monthly electronic 
magazine, The Finbond Intranet and regular e-mail communications from regional offices and head office.

“What you do today can improve all your tomorrows.”
– Ralph Marston –

Anonymous surveys where employees can bring various matters that they want addressed, changed or improved  to 
senior management’s attention.
An anonymous Report Fraud intranet and telephonic hotline where suspicious or fraudulent actions by fellow employees 
can be reported.
The employment equity forum where employees as representatives of the workforce discuss matters of concern to 
employees.
Line Management within which employees have an open invitation to discuss matters of concern with their line managers.
Area Managers, Internal Audit and General Managers regularly visit branches to interact with branch employees and to 
discuss matters of concern with them.
The Chief Executive Officer also visits the regions and branches to discuss matters of concern with branch and regional 
personnel directly.
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SERVICE STANDARDS

The customer is our most important asset.

Never make promises you cannot keep.

A lasting relationship starts with respect.

A customer that trusts you, will keep coming back.

Nothing is more inviting than a neat and tidy environment.
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INTERNAL AUDIT

Finbond’s internal audit function reports directly to the Audit Committee. The primary objective of the internal audit 
function is to ensure that adequate measures and procedures are in place for adequate, effective, efficient and economic 
management. Internal audits are risk-based and Internal Auditors submit assessments to the Audit Committee on the 
system of internal controls. Since the establishment of Finbond Mutual Bank, the Internal Audit function also fulfils the 
requirements of Regulation 48 of the Banks Act as enforced by the South African Reserve Bank. The internal audit charter 
approved by the Audit Committee defines the purpose, authority and responsibility of the internal audit activity and is 
consistent with the standards of the Institute of Internal Auditors and Regulation 48 of the Banks Act.

Role and function of internal audit

Internal audit focuses on adding value to the operations of the Group as part of its combined assurance model, by 
examining and reviewing, amongst others, the following:
•  the adequacy and effectiveness of the bank’s internal control systems; 
•  the application and effectiveness of the bank’s risk management procedures and risk assessment methodologies; 
•  the accuracy and reliability of the bank’s accounting records and financial reports; 
•  the manner and means in terms of which the bank safeguards its assets; 
•  the systems and processes established by the bank in order to ensure compliance with any relevant legal and regulatory 
    requirements, codes of conduct and the implementation of policies and procedures; 
•  the Bank’s compliance with policies and risk controls; 
•  the reliability, integrity, accuracy, completeness and timeliness of financial and management information.

Scope of internal audit

The department annually submits a coverage plan to the audit committee for approval. The scope of this plan encompasses 
all audit entities throughout the Group. 

During risk-based reviews, emphasis is placed on the adequacy and effectiveness of the control environment as part 
of Internal Audit’s assurance function. Control deficiencies that are detected are referred to management for corrective 
actions. The extent to which recommendations emanating from internal audit reviews have been implemented is measured 
continuously.

“A failure is a man who has blundered, but is not able to cash in on the experience.” 
– Elbert Hubbard –
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COMPLIANCE

In line with Regulation 49 of the Banks Act No 94 of 1990 (the Bank’s Act) Finbond Mutual Bank has an independent 
compliance function as part of its risk management framework and corporate governance structure managing the Bank’s 
compliance risk.

Compliance risk is defined as the current and prospective risk of damage to the Bank’s business objectives, reputation and 
financial soundness arising from non-adherence with Legal or Regulatory requirements, Codes of Conduct and Standards 
of Good Practice applicable to its business.

The Finbond Mutual Bank Compliance Governance Structure is in line with the generally accepted compliance practice 
framework of the Compliance Institute of South Africa, which in turn incorporates sound practices recommended inter alia 
by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision and the King III Report on Corporate Governance.

This structure facilitates the achievement of the following key objectives:  
• Top management’s awareness of the regulatory requirements applicable to the organisation
• Top management’s understanding of the compliance framework
• Top management’s ability to asses and understand the status and level of compliance within the organisation
• The effective reporting of the results of compliance monitoring
• The quick and effective resolution of compliance issues
• The ability of the compliance function to function independently in terms of Regulation 49
• Enables the Compliance Officer to have easy access to top management and all areas of the business
• The promotion of the desired compliance culture 
• The avoidance of any conflict of interest
• Adherence to any specific relevant regulatory requirements 

The Board of Directors of the Bank, together with senior management have ultimate responsibility for understanding and 
overseeing the management of compliance risk across the Bank. The primary role of the compliance function is to assist 
senior and executive management with effectively managing the compliance risks faced by the Bank. The Compliance 
function work closely with operational units to ensure consistent management of compliance risk. Regular training and 
advice are provided on all policy issues to ensure that all employees are familiar with their regulatory obligations. Through 
the Finbond “Code of Conduct and Policy Manual” and “Training Manual” employees are made aware of the most 
pertinent compliance-related policies and behaviours expected of all employees. 

A Regulation 49 Compliance report is submitted to both the board of directors and the Bank Supervision Department 
of the South African Reserve Bank on a quarterly basis. For the period under review, the Compliance Reports indicated 
a good level of compliance by the Group and the Bank to statutory and regulatory requirements and the events of non-
compliance listed were all non-material and either rectified, or are in the process of being rectified though system and 
process changes.

“Anyone who stops learning is old, whether at twenty or eighty. Anyone who keeps learning stays young.”
– Henry Ford –
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REGULATION

Finbond Group and especially Finbond Mutual Bank have a good, transparent and trusting relationship with its regulators 
which include the Bank Supervision Department of the South African Reserve Bank, the National Credit Regulator, The 
Financial Services Board, The Johannesburg Stock Exchange and the Financial Intelligence Centre.

In terms of Finbond’s Regulatory Universe, The Mutual Banks Act, No 124 of 1993, The Banks Act No 94 of 1990 and 
its Regulations, The National Credit Act no 34 of 2005, The Basic Conditions of Employment Act, No 75 of 1997, The 
Companies Act 71 of 2008 (and Regulations 2011), The Financial Advisory and Intermediary Services Act No 37 of 2002, 
The Protection of Constitutional Democracy Against Terrorist and Related Activities Act, No 33 of 2004, The Securities 
Services Act, No 36 of 2004, The Financial Intelligence Centre Act  No 38 of 2001, The Consumer Protection Act No 68 
of 2008, The Debt Collectors Act No 114 of 1998 and The Occupational Health and Safety Act are the main focus of the 
independent compliance function and management system activities of Finbond Mutual Bank. 

The regulatory landscape in the financial services industry is characterised by constant change, amendments to existing 
regulatory and policy-related requirements and the introduction of new requirements. To understand and assess the 
impact of these changes and amendments on the business and the way the Bank conducts business, Finbond utilises the 
Finbond Regulatory Compliance Model (“FRCM”) as depicted below:

Changes, amendments and new additions are assessed, based on all the identified risk components, and remediation-
related controls are developed and implemented to mitigate the assessed risk.

“Every great dream begins with a dreamer. Always remember, you have within you the strength, 
the patience, and the passion to reach for the stars to change the world.”

– Harriet Tubman –
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS AND INDICATORS

Profitability and performance
Revenue from continuing operations 
Micro finance revenue 
Operating profit before taxation from continuing operations 
Profit for the period attributable to owners of the company 
Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA)
Shareholders’ equity (net asset value)
Net tangible asset value

Weighted average number of shares in issue
Earnings per share
Headline earnings/(loss) per share
Return on ordinary shareholders equity
Total Assets

Portfolio quality (by instalment)
Gross loans & advances
Net impairment loss ratio
Net impairment as percentage of cash received
Total arrears (delinquent by one day) to gross loans and advances
Non performing loans (90 days +)
Risk coverage ratio (90 days +)

Sales and operations
Value of loans advanced
Number of loans advanced
Average loan amount
Aggregate annual cash receipts
Number of branches
Employees

Share price

R’000
R’000
R’000
R’000
R’000
R’000
R’000

shares
cents
cents

R’000

R’000

R

R
R

cents

Actual 2013 Actual 2012

 
212 761 
 207 795 
 29 715 
 20 733
 53 923  
305 758 
 244 495

581 504 702
 3.6 
 3.1 

7.5%
 556 271

 166 459 
15.0%
5.8%

19.5%
8.4%

95.6%

 407 852 282 
260 303

 1 567 
 563 222 836 

172
487

139

 197 034 
 159 320 
 28 229 
 13 552 
 50 196 

 247 638 
 186 376 

382 025 250
 3.5 

 (1.3)
5.6%

 477 123 

 122 631 
21.1%
6.0%

27.9%
10.0%
88.2%

 378 663 712 
 265 885 

 1 424 
 536 337 041 

 166 
 461

7 

Refer to Chief Executive Officer’s review for context and further detail behind the ratios above.

“They can because they think they can.”
– Virgil –

EC 1

Finbond Group Limited Share Price   1 year
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Revenue from Continuing Operations (R’000) Return on Equity

Headline Earnings (cents) Net Tangible Asset Value (R’000)

Net Profit after Tax (R’000) Gross Loans and Advances (R’000)
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CONSUMER EDUCATION, CUSTOMER SERVICE, RIGHTS AND PROTECTION

Finbond is committed to educating South African consumers about the credit industry, their rights and their responsibilities 
when using credit facilities, and the role of the National Credit Regulator. For this reason, the Group distributes accessible 
and easy-to-read booklets and pamphlets to all branches regularly. 

“Spend Wisely”, which was developed and written by Mrs. Ina Wilken-Jonker, serves as a guide to budgeting, personal 
financial planning, managing credit and achieving financial security. It also provides useful information on credit services, 
as outlined by the National Credit Act and the Regulator. It is the first of a planned series of booklets and pamphlets aimed 
at fulfilling Finbond’s customer education objectives, and at building strong, lasting relationships with clients. 

The Consumer Protection Act entrenches the consumer’s right to fair value, good quality and safe products, while 
protecting them against defective or inferior goods. To further advance consumer education, Finbond has also distributed 
a second booklet, written by Adv. Neville Melville, under the title “Know Your Customer Rights” which is a pocket guide to 
the Consumer Protection Act intended to assist consumers in understanding the Consumer Protection Act, knowing their 
rights and protecting themselves.

“The three great essentials to achieve anything worth-while are: 
Hard work, Stick-to-itiveness, and Common sense.”

– Thomas A. Edison –

FS 16 | PR 3
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Finbond Directorate - 2013
Danie Pentz, Adv. Neville Melville, Robert Emslie, Dr. Willie van Aardt, Gary Sayers,

Rosetta Xaba, Adv. Jasper Noeth, Dr. Malesela Motlatla, Ina Wilken-Jonker.

“Whether you think you can, or you think you can’t--you’re right.”
– Henry Ford –

FINBOND GROUP DIRECTORATE
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FINBOND GROUP DIRECTORATE

Dr. Willem (Willie) van Aardt
Chief Executive Officer

B. Proc (Cum Laude), LLM (UP), LLD (PUCHE), 
Admitted Attorney of the High Court of South Africa, 

QLTT (UK) Solicitor of the Supreme Court of England and Wales

Willie has more than 15 years experience in the financial 
services and microfinance sector. In 1998 Willie was 
the co-founder and an executive director of a JSE listed 
micro finance and debt collection company, Thuthukani 
Group Limited. For the year ended 29 February 2000 
Thuthukani achieved a turnover of R264 million and pre 
tax profits of R61 million. Thuthukani had 200 nationwide 
branches and 1250 employees. During early 2000 Willie 
sold his shares in Thuthukani to Saambou bank which 
then proceeded to acquire 100% of Thuthukani which 
was subsequently delisted. All of Thuthukani’s various 
businesses currently remain both in operation and 
profitable. Willie also has a strong academic background 
in corporate and constitutional law and finalised his 
Doctorate in Constitutional Law through the University of 
Potchefstroom in 2005. In December 2006 Willie passed 
the Law Society of England and Wales’ bar exam and was 
admitted as a Solicitor of the Supreme Court of England 
and Wales in 2008. In May 2009, Willie successfully 
completed International Development Ireland’s “Strategy 
in Management and Banking Programme” in Dublin. 
Prior to Finbond, Willie has held the positions of Legal 
Consultant at Sanlam and Executive Director of Thuthukani 
Group Limited. Willie founded Finbond in January 2003.

Dr. Malesela Motlatla
Independent Non-Executive Chairman

BA (UNISA), Post-Graduate Diploma in Marketing (UNISA), 
D.Com (UNISA), Diploma in Business Management and further studies 

through the Wharton School of Business (Philadelphia)

Malesela David Clement Motlatla worked for the South 
African Breweries (SAB) for more than 20 years, where 
his main job functions included marketing and sales 
management, research and business development and 
training, corporate affairs, management consultancy and 
employee relations. After leaving SAB, he successfully 
established the first black business consortium in the 
Northern Cape region, Malesela Holdings (Pty) Limited, 
which flourishes through its successful subsidiaries in 
the areas of logistics, health, power and energy and the 
cleaning industries. As an astute businessman, Malesela 
serves on the boards of several companies as chairman. 
His passion and commitment to the upliftment and 
advancement of disadvantaged South Africans is beyond 
reproach. Malesela’s recognition awards include amongst 
others the ‘Nelson Mandela Award - Black Education 
Upgrade Projects’ - for his contribution to community 
development and education, the ‘International Man of the 
year Award’ from the International Biographical Centre 
(Cambridge), he has been appointed ‘Lifetime Deputy 
Governor of the American Biographical Institute Research 
Association’ and has received the ‘Honouree Lifetime 
Achievement Award’ for contributions made to South 
African business and the economy. Furthermore, Malesela’s 
contributions to both corporate and social flair have been 
recognised by the University of South Africa (UNISA), and 
UNISA’s College of Economic and Management Sciences. 
This award resulted from his outstanding achievements 
in entrepreneurship, job creation, transformation and 
black economic empowerment. Dr. Motlatla is currently 
the Chairman of the Tshwane University of Technology.

4.3 | LA 13 | SO 5
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Hendrina (Ina) Wilken-Jonker
Chief Compliance Officer

B. Com (Hons) (UNISA)

Ina has considerable professional and management 
experience, and has been working in the banking sector 
since 1964. She has held positions at Santam Bank, the Bank 
of the Orange Free State and First National Bank, and she is 
a strong campaigner for the rights of consumers. From 1996 
to 2009, she was an active member of the South African 
National Consumer Union, but left the SANCU in 2009 to 
become a consumer activist in her own right.

Ina has also served on several other bodies, and has been 
involved with many organisations and companies. She was 
appointed to the Debt Collectors’ Council by the Minister of 
Justice, to the Agricultural Research Council by the Minister 
of Agriculture, and to the Estate Agency Affairs Board in 
December 2010 by the Minister of Trade and Industry and 
is currently the chairperson thereof. She has also been 
reappointed to the FAIS Advisory Committee of the Financial 
Services Board. Ina was recently appointed as trustee to the 
Financial Consumer Education Foundation of the FSB. She 
has further been the vice-president of the Pretoria Camber 
of Commerce, the president of International Training and 
Communication in Pretoria, and a board member of the SA 
Pharmaceutical Council, amongst others. In 2005 Ina was 
chosen as the “Individual Consumer Champion of South 
Africa” by the Department of Trade and Industry, and was the 
runner up for the same title in 2007. She was also invited to 
be the keynote speaker at the annual congress of Consumers 
International, which was held in Sydney in October of that 
year. The title of her lecture, “Credit and Debt: Problems in 
Accessing and Dealing with debt”, is still relevant today. In 
addition to developing and publishing her own consumer 
education material, Ina has also worked with a number 
of institutions to produce publications dealing with the 
rights and responsibilities of the consumer. These include: 
The Consumer’s Guide to Personal Budgeting and Money 
Management (1998); The Self-Help Approach to Personal 
Budgeting and Money Management (1998); The Self-Help 
Guide to Eezi Financial Planning for South Africans (2008); 
and Spend Wisely: Learn the Secrets of Financial Freedom 
(2009).

Adv. Jasper Jurgens Noeth
Independent Non-Executive Director

Dip Iuris (Natal), B Iuris LLB (UNISA), 
Advocate of the High Court of South Africa, QC

After matriculating in 1957, Adv. Noeth joined the 
Department of Justice at the Magistrate’s Court, 
Griekwastad. Adv. Noeth was promoted through 
the ranks and in 1989 he was appointed Director-
General of the Department of Justice. After the 1994 
elections, he was appointed as the Director-General 
of the new unified Department of Justice which was 
comprised of the eleven former Justice Departments. 
He served for ten years as Director-General: Justice 
until his retirement in January 1999. During this period 
he was the accounting officer of the Department and 
exercised control over an annual budget of R2.3 billion.                                                                                                                                         
Adv. Noeth’s experience and achievements have also 
included Chief researcher of the Hoexter Commission 
of Inquiry into the Structure and Functioning of the 
Courts, Chairman of the Implementation Committee for 
the creation of the Small Claims Courts in South Africa, 
permanent member of the National Road Safety Council 
and permanent member of the Legal Aid Board, member 
of the Magistrate’s Commission, the International 
Bar Association, the Australian Institute of Judicial 
Administration and the Canadian Criminal Justice 
Association. He represented the Department of Justice 
at meetings of the Commonwealth Judicial Committee 
in Malta and Malaysia, was a member of the Audit 
Committee of the Department of Justice and subsequently 
also of the National Prosecuting Authority, Legal consultant 
and Head of the Legal Division of Rentmeester Assurance 
Ltd and Alnet. Adv. Noeth currently acts as a consultant 
on various legal matters.
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Danie Cornelius Pentz
Chief Risk Officer

Chartered Accountant (SA), B. Com (Hons), AEP (UNISA)

Danie is a Chartered Accountant who completed his 
training at one of the big four audit firms. Since then he 
has had more than 40 years experience as a financial 
manager, tax consultant and executive director of 
various JSE listed financial institutions including JCI, 
Absa Bank, Alactrity, African Bank, Fulcrum Bank and 
the unlisted Community Bank. He has participated in 
the founding and  registration of the Community Bank 
and was the Chief Operating Officer of Fulcrum Bank. 
At these financial institutions he was responsible for the 
development and installation of financial and IT systems.
Over his years in these financial institutions he facilitated 
the strategic processes and supervised the implementation 
of these strategic plans and the resulting achievements 
of goals and action plans. He managed a wide range 
of disciplines during his roles in senior management. 
During his experience at the banks, Danie acted as Chief 
Operational Officer and deputy managing director. Danie 
joined Finbond in June 2005.

Robert Emslie
Independent Non-Executive Director

B. Comm Law, Hons Acc, Chartered Accountant (SA)

With more than 30 years of accounting experience, 
Robert completed his articles at Brink Roos & du Toit 
(now part of PriceWaterhouseCoopers) between 1980 
and 1983. He then traded the corporate world for the 
academic, becoming a lecturer at the Rand Afrikaans 
University. Robert joined Absa Bank in 1987, and enjoyed 
a very successful career with the banking giant until 2008. 
During his time at ABSA he served as a Member of the 
Absa Group Executive Committee (2004 - 2008), Head 
of Absa Corporate and Business Bank (2005 - 2008), 
Head of Absa Africa (2007 - 2008) and Head of Absa 
Corporate and Merchant Bank including offshore offices 
(now Absa Capital) (2003 - 2005).

Adv. Neville Melville
Independent Non-Executive Director
B. Law, LLB(Natal), LLM(cum laude)(Natal), 

Post Graduate Diploma in Company Direction, 
Senior Executive Programme (Harvard Business School), 

AltX Company Directors’ Induction (Wits Business School),
Advocate of the High Court

Adv. Melville has extensive experience in the banking 
sector, he was the CEO of the Board of the Ombudsman 
for Banking Services Ltd for seven years, working 
alongside various top-flight, experienced directors of 
public companies. He was the First Executive Director of 
the Independent Complaints Directorate and practised as 
an Advocate at the Durban Bar. Adv. Melville is a former 
office-bearer in various local and international voluntary 
associations, including Chairperson of the South African 
Ombudsman Association. He was also a Member of the 
Financial Service Ombuds Scheme Council and was the 
FSB court appointed Curator of PIT Group of Companies. 
During his career he served as a founder director of the 
Co-operative Banks Development Agency (CBDA), and is 
a honorary Research Fellow at the University of KwaZulu-
Natal. Adv. Melville serves as a member of the Chartered 
Institute of Arbitrators, London and at the Institute of 
Directors, South Africa. He is currently Chairman of 
Zaptronics (Pty) Ltd (listed on the AltX stock exchange).
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Gary Thomas Sayers
Chief Financial Officer

Chartered Accountant (SA), B. Com Hons (UNP), 
B. Comt (Hons) (UNISA)

Gary qualified as a chartered accountant in 1999 after 
completing his training with PriceWaterhouseCoopers. 
Born in Scotland, he immigrated to South Africa with his 
family in 1981. While studying accounting at the University 
of Natal, he served fellow students as Assistant Warden at 
the University’s Malherbe Residence in both 1993 and 
1994. He has substantial experience managing high 
performing finance teams within a number of industries 
including financial services. In his early professional career, 
he contributed strongly to the improvement of reporting 
processes and operational effectiveness as financial 
manager at Nampak Limited’s Tissue division, a national 
manufacturer and distributor of familiar brands of pulp 
fibre based products. In 2004, he joined the national 
executive management team of well-known corporate and 
retail travel agency Flight Centre, leading a local finance 
team that regularly achieved accolades from within the 
Australian based multinational for strong reporting 
performances. The South African business in particular 
achieved unprecedented levels of organic growth during 
the period in which he contributed as part of the executive 
management team. More recently, in his previous capacity 
as Group Financial Officer at investment bank African 
Alliance, he was based in Mauritius for two years where 
he opened a group Head Office and provided executive 
leadership and support to the group’s investment banking 
operations throughout Eastern and Southern Africa. Gary 
now resides in northern Johannesburg with his family. He 
is experienced in IFRS financial reporting and throughout 
his career has gained valuable experience initiating and 
improving the regulatory reporting and effectiveness of 
teams and operations based in a number of Southern 
and East African countries. Although well-travelled, he 
now contentedly regards South Africa as home.

Rosetta Ntambose Xaba
Independent Non-Executive Director
Chartered Accountant (SA), B. Comt (UNISA), 

B. Comt Hons (UNISA)

Rosetta Xaba is a Chartered Accountant with over 10 
years experience in External Auditing, Internal Auditing 
and Financial Management. She has worked as an 
auditor for KPMG and consultant for Deloitte’s Business 
Process Outsourcing division. As an Audit Manager, 
she managed a number of internal and external audit 
clients for KPMG in the private and public sector. While at 
Deloitte’s, Rosetta was outsourced as a Financial Director 
to a number of clients and was responsible for ensuring 
compliance with the Public Sector Finance Management Act 
(PFMA), Treasury Regulations and compiling policies and 
procedures for supply chain, financial management and 
payroll. Rosetta Xaba is a founder and director of ROSSAL 
98, an independent consultancy company specialising in 
consulting, financial management and accounting and 
auditing. Her consulting experience involves working 
for the National Treasury Technical Assistance Unit. As 
a National Treasury consultant she has done projects on 
the developing business plans for the Further Education 
Training (FET) and National School Nutrition Project 
(NSNP) across 9 provinces. She was also part of the 
project team responsible for the provision of consulting 
services to the Office of the Accountant General on the 
financial management improvement strategies for the 
Provincial Department of Health. She is currently involved 
in the provision of financial management services to the 
recently established Cooperative Banks Development 
Agency (CBDA), which is responsible for providing a 
regulatory environment on deposit-taking financial 
cooperative institutions. Rosetta serves as a non-executive 
director of the following organisations: The Human 
Sciences Research Council (HSRC) - Audit Committee 
member; The South African Nursing Council (SANC) - 
Council member, Chair of Finance Committee; The South 
African Pharmacy Council - Audit Committee member; 
The Little Eden Society for the Care of persons with Mental 
Handicap - Board member; CIDA Empowerment Trust and 
CIDA Empowerment (Pty) Ltd - Non-Executive Director, 
Outsourced Financial manager.
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PRODUCT OFFERING

Finbond’s product range includes high-yield investment and savings products, short-term personal cash loans, credit-
life and retrenchment cover insurance products, funeral insurance, cell phone airtime and pre-paid electricity. Its target 
market is both South Africa’s under-banked – but formally employed population, those individuals, who fall within this 
category 1 to 7 of the living Standard Measurement (LSM) income categories, as well as investors and pensioners looking
for a guaranteed higher fixed income in the current environment of depressed low yields.

Key to regions: EWC = Eastern & Western Cape; FS = Free State & North West; GP = Gauteng, Mpumalanga & Limpopo; 
KZN = KwaZulu-Natal.

Key to products: = Fin 500 = 1 month personal loan, value <R1000.00; Fin 1 = 1 month personal loan, value 
>R1000.00; Fin 2 = 2 month personal loan; Fin 3 = 3 month personal loan; Fin4 = 4 month personal loan; Fin6 = 6 
month personal loan.

2.2 | 2.7 | FS 6
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PRODUCT OFFERING

Savings - Fixed Term Deposits

Get the best interest rate on your capital and earn up to 10% per annum. Both interest and capital are guaranteed. The 
ideal savings and investment account for investors and pensioners requiring a high, guaranteed, rate of return in the 
current environment of depressed low yields and declining interest rates. Interest can be capitalised or paid monthly, 
quarterly, half yearly or annually.

06 - 11 months            8.75%
12 - 24 months            9.25%
25 - 36 months            9.50%
37 - 48 months            9.75%
49 - 60 months           10.00%
*   Minimum deposit R100 000. 
** Rates are amended from time to time.

Investments - Mutual Bank Share Investments

Indefinite Period Paid Up Shares
The ideal type of investment for investors and pensioners looking for a high return without committing themselves to a 
fixed rate during a rising interest rate cycle. An indefinite period type of investment at nominal higher than fixed deposit 
rates. Minimum investment period is 18 months with 6 months’ notice of redemption required after 12 months. After the 
18 month period 3 months’ notice of redemption is required. The rate fluctuates according to the prevailing interest rate 
patterns and in the event of a drop in interest rates at any stage clients may redeem their investment after receiving notice 
of the drop in rate during the same month. Dividends can be paid monthly, quarterly, half yearly or annually.

18 months - notice        9.50%
*   Minimum subscription R100 000.
** Rates are amended from time to time.

Fixed Period Paid Up Shares 
The ideal longer term investment for investors and pensioners looking for a vastly superior rate of return. Fixed Period 
Paid up shares is an excellent way to guarantee and protect investment income during declines in the interest rate cycle. 
Dividends can be paid monthly, quarterly, half yearly or annually.

60 months                    10.75%
*   Minimum subscription R100 000. 
** Rates are amended from time to time.

Credit

Finbond Mutual Bank offers short term [30 day – 120 day] cash loans and medium term [6 month] cash loans at its 172 
Finbond Micro Credit branches nationwide. Finbond’s personal cash loans range from R100 – R7 000. On 1 March 2013 
Finbond also launched its longer term product range for higher scoring customers with tenures of 12 – 24 months ranging 
from R12 000 to R20 000. The application process is very simple with very fast turn-around time of approximately 30 – 45 
minutes for in-branch loans.   
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REVIEW

During the twelve months under review, Finbond 
delivered another set of solid results and made further 
good progress towards the realization of our vision “to 
be the leading Mutual Bank in South Africa improving the 
quality of life of our clients, through their participation 
in saving together, growing together and ownership of 
their own community bank.” This included a number of 
achievements and significant developments for Finbond:
• 

•
 
• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

The twelve month period ended 28 February 2013 has 
been pivotal for Finbond in terms of its evolving strategy 
to establish and register a Mutual and Savings Bank 
in order to provide clients with a full range of low cost 
banking services.  

After due adherence to the South African Reserve Bank’s 
conditions of establishment, the Registrar of Banks issued 
Finbond Mutual Bank with a banking license during July 
2012. This is a significant achievement for a number of 
reasons :
1. 

2. 

3.

4.

Finbond continues to manage for the longer term and 
to invest in people, training, information technology 
and banking systems, as well as in enhanced collection 
strategies and systems, in order to build a sustainable 
bank.

We further remain focused on executing the Group’s 
strategy and top business priorities namely, optimal capital 
utilization, earnings growth, client growth, strict upfront 
credit scoring, good quality sales, effective collections, 
branch network expansion, bank IT system development  
and training and development of staff members. 

Finbond Mutual Bank 
A “Mutual Bank” also known as a “Mutual Savings Bank” 
is a bank which is operated on a mutual bank model, with 
the specific goal of encouraging savings and providing 
benefits to its depositors. 

The fundamental “Mutual Bank” principle is therefore that 
a “Mutual Bank” is owned by its depositors and that the 
“Mutual Bank” is managed for the benefit of its depositors. 
When someone deposits funds in a “Mutual Bank”, he or 
she essentially buys an ownership stake in the bank and 
is entitled to vote at shareholder and member meetings.

Finbond Mutual Bank, with its 487 staff compliment, 
specializes in the design and delivery of unique value 
and solution based savings and credit solutions tailored 
around depositor and borrower requirements rather than 
institutionalized policies and practices. We exist to improve 
and transform the lives and livelihoods of our clients by 
availing them of modern inclusive banking products and 
services that benefit and empower them.

Headline earnings per share increased 338.5% to 
3.1c (Feb 2012: loss 1.3c)
Share price increased 1885,7 % to R1.39 (Feb 2012: 
R0.07)
Profit for the period attributable to owners of the 
company increased 53% to R20.7 million (Feb 2012: 
R13.5 million)
Revenue from continuing operations increased 8% to 
R212.7 million (Feb 2012: R197 million)
Micro Credit segment revenue increased 30.2% to 
R207million (Feb 2012: R159 million)
Value of loans advanced increased 7.9% to R407.8 
million (Feb 2012: R378 million) 
Cash received from customers increased 5% to R563.2 
million (Feb 2012: R536.2 million)
Total Assets increased 16.5% to R556 million (Feb 
2012: R477.1 million)  
Net Tangible Asset Value increased 31.3% to R244.5 
million (Feb 2012: R186.3 million) 
We received formal consent from the Registrar of 
Banks to establish and register a mutual bank, namely 
Finbond Mutual Bank
We became a member of the Banking Association of 
South Africa (BASA)
We raised R164 million in fixed term retail deposits in 
the first five months of operation as a Mutual Bank.

It was the first Banking License issued to a local 
company by the South African Reserve Bank in more 
than 10 years. 
Finbond is one of only three micro lenders within the 20 
year existence of the micro finance industry (following 
the exemption to the Usury Act and deregulation of 
interest rates in 1994), that were able to make the 
transition and evolve from micro lender to bank [the 
others being Capitec and African Bank].

In line with the principles set out in Treasuries National 
Policy Document “A safer financial sector to serve South 
Africa better” with regards to financial inclusion and 
promoting access to financial services Finbond Mutual 
Bank provide’s Finbond’s credit target market and 
consumer community of previously disadvantaged, low 
income, unbanked, under-banked and under serviced 
consumers, in the LSM Group 1 – 7 (predominantly     
1 – 3), with a meaningful empowerment opportunity 
to own shares in their own Mutual Bank.
It encourages financial inclusion and greater 
competition in the retail banking sector in South 
Africa stimulating market competition and promoting 
affordable access to quality services, by facilitating 
entry for a smaller dedicated bank that is limited in 
complexity, scope and size that is in line with both the 
Department of the Presidency’s National Planning 
Commission’s National Development Plan (“NDP”) 
and National Treasury’s Policy Document referred to 
above.

1 
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Finbond Mutual Bank conducts its business through two 
divisions focused on:

    1. Investment and Savings Products, and 
    2. Short and Medium Term Micro Credit Products.

It is our mission “To consistently satisfy the needs of our 
target market by offering innovative, superior, inclusive 
investment, saving and credit solutions and better service, 
that adds value to our clients’ lives by empowering 
them and contributing towards their financial growth, 
independence and freedom.”

Basel III
Basel III was introduced in response to the deficiencies in 
financial regulation revealed by the late-2000s financial 
crisis. The three basic elements of Basel III are to require 
more capital, better liquidity and a lower leverage ratio 
for banks.

Although Finbond as a Mutual Bank is not subject to the 
Basel III requirements, Finbond already complies with 
and exceeds key Basel III requirements set for 2018 and 
2019. As at 28 February 2013 Finbond’s:
 • liquidity coverage ratio % was 1112% 
    [1012% more than required from 2019] 
 • net stable funding ratio % was 408% 
    [308 % more than required from 2019]
 • capital adequacy ratio % was 57% 
    [38% more than required from 2019]

Micro Credit Portfolio
The overall gross loan book reflected strong positive 
growth of 36% ending the financial year at R166.4 million 
(2012: R122.6 million). Total segment revenue from 
Finbond’s Micro Finance activities, made up of interest, 
fee and insurance income (portfolio yield) increased 
30.4% to R207.7 million (2012: R159.3 million).

During the period under review Finbond offered                      
1 month – 6 month micro loans from R100 – R7 000 with 
an average loan size of R1 567 and an average tenure 
of about 2.6 months. Given the short term nature of 
Finbond’s products, Finbond’s loan portfolio is very cash 
flow generative and a good source of internally generated 
liquidity. The whole loan portfolio turns 5 times a year. 
For the twelve months ended February 2013, Finbond 
granted R407.9 million worth of loans and received cash 
payments of R563.2 million from customers.

Finbond’s average loan period is significantly shorter 
than our larger competitors and our average loan size 
significantly smaller. Given this conservative approach 
Finbond does not have any exposure to the 36 – 84 
month R30 000 – R180 000 long term unsecured lending 
market that saw disproportionate growth over the past 12 
– 24 months and that caused significantly increased write 
offs and bad debts. Finbonds historic data and vintage 
curves indicate that the shorter the loan tenure the lower 
the write off and bad debt. Shorter term loans therefor 

offer lower risk as consumers are more likely to pay them 
back as opposed to longer term loans.

Finbond’s micro credit portfolio is not exposed to any 
concentration risk and does not have any significant 
exposure to any specific employer or industry.

Liquidity 
Finbond’s liquidity position at the end of February 2013 
reflects R63.6 million cash in bank (2012: R53.2 million). 

Cash Received as a % of Cash Granted for the period of 
March 2012 – February 2013 averaged 138%. 

Finbond has been able to attract more than R160 million 
in fixed term deposits between 21 September 2012 and 
28 February 2013. By the middle of May 2013, the 
deposit book grew to more than R300 million with an 
average deposit size of R310 000 and average term of 30 
months at an average interest rate of 9.49%. 

Finbond is not exposed to the uncertainty that 
accompanies the use of corporate call deposits as a 
funding mechanism since Finbond only accepts 6 – 60 
month fixed term deposits. Given the long term nature of 
Finbond’s liabilities [fixed term deposits with average term 
of 30 months] and short term nature of its assets [short 
term micro loans with an average term of less than 3 
months], Finbond possesses a low risk liquidity structure. 

During the period under review Finbond repaid all 
expensive debt owed to Development Funding Institutions 
such as the Dutch Development Finance Corporation 
thereby reducing the average cost of funding by 
approximately 10%. 

Bad Debts
Strict upfront credit scoring supported by robust collection 
strategies and processes further improved default rates 
during the period under review. The bulk of Finbond’s 
book is collected by way of advance debit orders on the 
Nupay system. 

Finbond’s Net Impairment as a percentage of expected 
instalments amounted to 5.2% and Net Impairment 
as a percentage of cash received (which is more 
conservative than instalments due) stood at 5.8% at the 
end of February 2013. The best measurement of arrears 
and impairments on the short term products is against 
instalments due and not outstanding balances, because 
a large part of a short term loan is repaid before month-
end/year-end and is therefore not reflected on the 
balance sheet. Computations based on the outstanding 
balance therefore distort this ratio on short term products. 
Loan loss reserve, also referred to as the risk coverage 
ratio (Loan loss reserves [impairment provision]/PaR90) 
remains conservative at 95.6% (2012: 88.2%), which is 
an indication of a microfinance institution’s ability to cope 
with estimated loan losses. 
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The write off vintages show that Finbond’s 1 to 6 month 
product range write offs range between 4% and 8%.

Upfront Credit Scoring
Over the past 12 months, Finbond continued to improve 
on and apply strict upfront credit scoring and affordability 
criteria. The scores on the various products are monitored 
on a monthly basis and adjusted upwards or downwards. 
Detailed affordability calculations are also performed 
prior to extending any loans in order to determine whether 
the client can, in fact, afford the loan repayments.

Rejection rates between March 2012 and February 2013 
are set out below and reflect that Finbond’s upfront credit 
scoring is stricter than its larger competitors: 

Product       Total           Total               %                 %
    Accepted     Declined     Accepted     Declined
FIN 500     370 528 37 738            91%        9%
FIN 1     341 869 66 397            84%      16%
FIN 2       82 846 44 697            65%      35%
FIN 3     215 717       192 549             53%      47%
FIN 4      206 098        201 067                51%               49%
FIN 6     182 556       225 699             45%      55%

Increasing Footprint
Finbond currently operates through 172 branches in 
South Africa of which 46 are located in Gauteng, 45 in 
KwaZulu-Natal, 53 in the Western and Eastern Cape and 
28 in the Free State and North West. 

We intend to open 25 to 40 branches in the current 
financial year and thereafter approximately 40 branches 
per year for the next five years.

Providing Inclusive Financial Services 
Achieving sustainable and inclusive development in 
the financial sector goes hand-in-hand with improving 
access to financial services, particularly for the poor and 
vulnerable. 

More than 40% of the adult population in South Africa 
are actively seeking banking and credit solutions but 
remain largely unattended and underserviced due to the 
traditional banks concentration on the higher income 
brackets of the population. These nationally distributed 
prospective customers represent earning potential for the 
South African Banking Sector, but constitute the unbanked, 
under banked and underserviced. These consumers need 
access to banking for savings, loans and microfinance, 
but are not effectively serviced by the commercial banks in 
South Africa. These unbanked and underserviced do not 
fall outside the banking sector by choice. An important 
reason for their predicament is that banks do not offer 
products tailored to their specific needs. Many of these 
consumers are also in rural areas where the traditional 
banks do not have a foot print or are busy leaving due to 
the fact that they can not operate profitably in the small 
towns and rural areas in South Africa due to their high 
cost structures.

There is a huge need among Finbond’s current customer 
base and target market for a Mutual Bank that specifically 
caters for their needs with regards to inter alia the 
following banking products and services: 
• 
• 

• 
• 
• 

• 

• 
• 

Finbond is well positioned and able to provide much 
needed inclusive Banking services and products to the 
vulnerable, unbanked, under-banked and previously 
disadvantaged in line with the principles set out in 
Treasuries National Policy Document “A safer financial 
sector to serve South Africa better” with regards to financial 
inclusion and promoting access to financial services.

Over the past 20 years, unsecured lending has become a 
permanent feature of the South African credit landscape 
providing credit solutions and access to funding to the 
previously disadvantaged, under banked and unbanked. 
Responsible unsecured lending fulfills an important role 
in South Africa of including the vulnerable and previously 
excluded and giving them access to credit and will 
continue to grow rather than diminish in importance. 

Growing Market Share
Our share of the short term unsecured market [loans below 
R8 000 with a tenure of between 30 days and 180 days] 
grew to approximately 10% and we have an insignificant 

Savings accounts that earn interest on small amounts 
Higher interest on savings deposits than traditional 
banks that actively encourage saving [due to Finbond’s 
higher margins on micro lending it can afford to pay 
depositors more than the traditional banks that have 
low margins can] 
No minimum operating balance 
Branch Network in rural areas 
Low monthly bank charges and no cash deposit or 
cash handling fees 
Innovative and modern cash deposits, transfers and 
drawings 
Unsecured Loans with credit guarantee insurance 
Basic Financial Education.
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share of the total R171 billion unsecured lending market 
in South Africa.Given that we are growing from a small 
base we can keep on growing for a long time.

Finbond is well positioned for the implementation of its 
strategic growth plans in the micro credit market in South 
Africa with significant growth opportunities over the next 
five to ten years.

Strategic Initiatives
Strategic initiatives under way include: 
* 

* 

* 

* 

* 

* 

* 
* 

Risk Management
Finbond’s approach to risk management and its Risk 
Management Framework are detailed on pages 36 to 
41. This also describes in some detail the nature of the 
organizational structure put in place to direct, manage 
and control the activities of the Group and the Bank.  

Mr. Robert Emslie has been appointed as the Chairman 
of the Risk Committee that is responsible for providing 
oversight and advice in relation to Finbond’s Risk 
Management Framework, including the significant 
policies, procedures, and practices employed, current 
and potential future risk exposures of the Group and the 
Bank and future risk strategy, including determination of 
risk appetite and tolerance. 

The objectives and areas of responsibility of the Risk 
Committee are to: 
•

• 

• 

• 

•

• 

• 

Finbond’s selected target market and product range 
attracts a particular risk profile. This risk profile requires 
careful analysis and the development of a comprehensive 
risk management program that will sustain the business 
over the long-term. Finbond’s continued commitment to 
sound risk management has proved to be effective as 
reflected in our strong capital and liquidity position. 

We recognise that maintaining and continually enhancing 
our risk management capabilities will be critical in the 
months and years ahead to ensure that Finbond’s 
financial and strategic objectives are achieved within 
approved levels of risk appetite.

Regulation
Finbond Group and Finbond Mutual Bank have a good, 
transparent and trusting relationship with its regulators 
which include the Bank Supervision Department of the 
South African Reserve Bank, the National Credit Regulator, 
The Financial Services Board, The Johannesburg Stock 
Exchange and the Financial Intelligence Centre. 

The South African financial services industry are 
privileged to have world class regulators such as the 
South African Reserve Bank that was ranked second 
in the world by the recent  “’World Economic Forum’s’ 
Global Competitiveness Report 2012/13” that rated the 
regulation of the South African banking environment 2nd 
out of 142 Countries in the World. The same report rated 
the regulation of the South African Stock Exchange as the 
best in the world. 

Human Capital Development
The Human Capital Development department facilitate, 

Developing and rolling out Finbond Mutual Bank, 
transactional bank accounts and savings accounts to  
all its micro credit clients.  
Developing and rolling out a Cellular Phone Banking 
Product and Application.
Developing and rolling out an Internet Banking Product 
and Application.
Developing and rolling out a Mastercard Debit Card 
product .
Diversification of the funding-base through inter alia 
raising fixed term deposits and an issue on the debt 
capital markets. 
Growing market share through the increased sale of 
medium term products, specifically 6 months and 12 
– 24 month loans.
Expansion of the branch network in high growth areas.
Considering selective strategic acquisitions. 

Review the design and implementation of risk 
management and measurement strategies across 
the Group and the procedures for monitoring the 
adequacy and effectiveness of those processes.
Consider the Group’s risk profile relative to current 
and future Group strategy and Group risk appetite and 
identify any risk trends, concentrations or exposures 
and any requirement for policy change.
Consider and recommend for approval by the Group 
and Bank Boards, the Group’s risk appetite framework 
and tolerance for current and future strategy, taking 
into account the Group’s capital adequacy and the 
external risk environment.

Review, consider and update the Finbond Risk 
Barometer after receiving information relative to the 
Bank’s risk including:
o
o
o
o

o

o

Material regulatory or rating agency issues.
Material emerging risks.  
The Bank’s aggregate risk profile as appropriate.
Key risk indicators and performance to established 
tolerance limits.
Other significant matters relating to liquidity, 
interest rate sensitivity, credit risk, market risk and 
operational risk.
Capital adequacy and allocation of capital to 
business units, including the overall return on 
allocated business equity.

Ensure rigorous stress and scenario testing of the 
Bank’s business and to receive reports that explain the 
impact of crystallisation of identified risks and threats 
to the Bank and to ensure a sufficient level of risk 
mitigation is in place.
Review and/or approve new or proposed products, 
services or businesses initiatives that may expose the 
Bank to new material types of risks or significantly alter 
the Group’s risk profile.
Consider the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
technology infrastructure supporting the risk 
management framework.

1



Finbond Group Limited & Finbond Mutual Bank Integrated Annual Report 2013 29

the National Credit Act in easy to understand language 
with animated pictures and practical examples.

Finbond further acquired a number of “Know Your 
Consumer Rights” pocket books written by Adv Neville 
Melville, branded with the Finbond Mutual Bank logo 
to distribute to customers in all geographical areas. 
The “Know Your Consumer Rights” book explains the 
Consumer Protection Act in easy understandable terms in 
order for consumers to know what their various consumer 
rights entail.

In addition to the aforementioned various educational 
flyers informing customers about their rights and 
consumers and lenders and of the benefits to budgeting 
properly are distributed through the branch network on a 
monthly basis.

Black Economic Empowerment 
and Social Responsibility 
Finbond is committed to contributing to the growth 
and development of broad based BEE in South Africa. 
Finbond supports the concept of broad based BEE, not 
only because of its potential economic benefits for the 
South African economy, but also because the company 
believes that it is morally appropriate and emotionally 
rewarding to contribute to its achievement. Finbond is also 
committed to the principles of socio-economic upliftment 
of the marginalised and previously disadvantaged in 
society.

Finbond believes that a particular approach to personalized 
client service, risk orientation and management style is 
necessary in order to successfully penetrate it’s selected 
target markets. It also requires a clear commitment to 
educate clients about the advantages and risks associated 
with credit; as well as the basic elements of financial 
planning and discipline. The Group endeavors to make 
a measurable contribution towards the empowerment of 
our target markets through the provision of appropriate 
credit and financing facilities to responsible individuals. 

Finbond supports the view that public-private-community 
partnerships are the only vehicle through which 
sustainable development and poverty alleviation can be 
achieved. To this end Finbond contributes to and is proud 
to be associated with Tswhane Place of Safety Association 
(“TPOSA”) which focuses on providing orphaned and 
abandoned babies and babies infected with HIV with 
good homes, frail care and shelter.
 
Since opening its doors in October 2003, TPOSA have 
saved and made a significant difference in the lives of 
more than 918 babies and toddlers. The racial breakdown 
of the children saved were: 646 Black African, 187 White, 
77 Coloured, 6 Indian and 2 Thai babies and children. 
462 of the children were boys and 456 were girls. 

Finbond further continues to make its property in 
Waterkloof Ridge [valued at R3.9 million] available to 

support, guide and supply advice and information to the 
various regions within Finbond on people effectiveness, 
development and succession planning.  

Emphasis is placed on ensuring that employee competency 
levels are up to the required levels through learning and 
development and that every employee has the correct 
business tools to be able to perform their work functions at 
exceptional levels. Weekly and monthly progress reports 
measurement occurs at head office, branch, area and 
regional level to ensure that we monitor and enhance the 
development of all our employees to be able to service 
our communities effectively. Coaching and assessment 
has also been a business priority with monthly balanced 
scorecard measurement indicators being utilized for all 
employees. 

Employees further receive market-related remuneration 
with short term performance-based rewards as well as 
long-term cash based incentives for all personnel.

In order to continually improve two way communication, 
employees are encouraged and empowered to raise their 
concerns through the following platforms:
• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Employees are also kept abreast of company related 
issues through: The Finbond Compass (a monthly 
electronic magazine) and regular e-mail communications 
from regional offices and head office.

Consumer Education 
In line with the letter and spirit of both the Consumer 
Protection Act No 68 of 2008 and the National Credit Act 
no 34 of 2005 we again distributed the Finbond Consumer 
education book Spend Wisely to customers and staff in all 
geographical areas. The “Spend Wisely” book addresses 
and educates consumers on important topics such as 
how to do a personal budget, the dangers of too much 
debt and over indebtedness, reckless credit, being black 
listed, consumer rights and the rules and regulations of 

Anonymous surveys where employees can bring 
various matters that they want addressed, changed or 
improved  to senior management’s attention;
An anonymous Report Fraud hotline where suspicious 
or fraudulent actions by fellow employees can be 
reported;
The employment equity forum where employees as 
representatives of the workforce discuss matters of 
concern to employees;
Line Management where employees have an open 
invitation to discuss matters of concern with their line 
managers;
Area Managers, Regional Managers, General 
Managers, Internal Audit and Compliance regularly 
visit branches to inter act with branch employees and 
to discuss matters of concern with them;
The Chief Executive Officer and/or Chief Operating 
Officer also visits the regions and branches to discuss 
matters of concern with branch and regional personnel 
directly.  
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Thank you to our chairman Dr. Malesela Motlatla,           
and other non-executive directors Adv. Jasper Noeth, 
Mrs. Rosetta Xaba, Mr. Robert Emslie and Adv. Neville 
Melville for their support and valuable input. I also wish to 
extend my personal thanks and appreciation to my fellow 
executive directors Mr. Gary Sayers, Mrs. Ina Wilken-
Jonker and Mr. Danie Pentz as well as our competent 
operational management, Mr. Carel van Heerden, Mr. 
Hannes Cloete, and Mr. Fabian Manuel without whose 
enormous contributions Finbond would not be successful. 
We look forward to another successful year.

Last but not least I would like to thank our Lord and 
Saviour, Jesus Christ for blessing us with the ability to steer 
our business through these challenging times. Without His 
loving kindness, abundant grace and mercy it will not be 
possible to truly succeed in all aspects of life.

Dr. Willie van Aardt
Chief Executive Officer

17 May 2013

Dr. Willem (Willie) van Aardt

TPOSA free of charge as a Safe Haven to accommodate 
children with medical problems (premature, HIV+, TB 
and malnourished children). The haven cares for up to 
16 children per month. For further info see:                          
www.placeofsafety.org.za.

Prospects
The challenging and difficult market conditions in the 
markets within which Finbond operates, are not expected 
to abate in the short and medium term. However, we are 
confident that we have the required resources and depth 
in management to successfully confront and overcome 
these challenges and that our client base and various 
sources of revenue will continue to grow.

We are positive about our prospects for future growth due 
to Finbond’s:
• 
•
• 
• 
• 

•
• 
• 
•
•
•
• 

We believe that the evolution from a Micro Finance 
Institution to a Mutual and Savings Bank in the 
implementation of our strategic action plan will ensure 
that we achieve results in the medium and long term. 

Dividend
It is the Group’s policy to consider the declaration of a 
dividend annually. Given the Finbond growth prospects 
and expansion plans the Board of Directors decided not 
to declare a dividend for the year ended 28 February 
2013 but to rather invest surplus capital in the loan book, 
people, training, banking systems and technology and 
towards increasing the branch network. 

Property Investments
Two Independent valuations by professional valuers 
registered with the South African Institute of Valuers were 
again obtained as at 28 February 2013, as required by 
IAS 40. The Independent Valuations revalued Finbond’s 
property portfolio at R233 million (2012: R229 million). 

Conclusion
Quality staff with enthusiasm is the driving force in 
creating success in the exciting and volatile environment 
in which we do business. I would like to thank them for 
their individual contributions.  

Significantly improved earnings to date,
Significantly improved revenue to date,
Strong growth prospects over the next 5 – 10 years,
Proven business model,
Strategic position following the establishment of 
Finbond Mutual Bank, 
Management expertise,
Low gearing,
Strong cash flow,
Strong, low risk liquidity position,
Uniquely positioned 172 branch network,
Access to funding, and 
Untapped potential in the Micro Credit and Mutual 
Banking markets.
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Finbond Group Limited is an active corporate citizen with 
a strong ethical bent and a desire to make a difference in 
the lives of previously disadvantaged and less fortunate 
South Africans. 

During the financial period, in addition to contributing 
to the financial literacy of our existing clients through 
regular interaction at our branches and providing them 
with simple, but much needed, education through 
communications such as the “Spend Wisely” booklet, 
Finbond contributed in aggregate almost a quarter of a 
million rand to a number of charitable causes through 
cash donations: Girls & Boys Town, Mvulane Kids School, 
Tshwane Place of Safety and Tshwane Haven.

The Tshwane Place of Safety and Tshwane Havens also 
benefit from the use of property valued at R3.9 million 
owned by the Group, which saves the charity an estimated 
R420 000 p.a. 

In the future, Finbond intends to enhance the contributions 
to this wonderful charitable organisation by also arranging 
for and allowing staff to spend productive time at these 
charities and assisting them with administrative roles that 
the relevant individuals are already familiar with through 
the fulfilment of their roles within Finbond, but which 
administrative skills may not necessarily be the “fortes” of 
the regular care-givers at the charity.

“The wise does at once what the fool does at last.”
– Baltasar Gracian –

EC 1
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CHAIRMAN’S REVIEW

“The receipt of a banking licence on 23 July 2012 has 
made a significant contribution to the ability of the 
Finbond Group to grow and expand, and together with 
the ability to take deposits, will ensure that the group will 
raise finance at reduced costs which, in turn, will result in 
increased margins.”   

Finbond provides exclusive financial services to the 
previously disadvantaged and previously excluded. The 
company has embedded credit granting and control 
mechanisms which has had the effect of keeping 
impairments (“bad debts”) to controlled levels while the 
lending book has shown strong positive growth, which is 
up 36% on the balance shown in 2012. Until very recently, 
this loan book had to be financed by expensive money, 
mainly from foreign sources. 

The banking licence gave Finbond the ability to raise 
deposits locally and our efforts in this regard have 
been well received by the community. Our advertising 
campaigns continue to have the desired results and 
deposits to the amount of R164 million were raised in the 
partial year ended 28 February 2013. 

This positive development put Finbond in a position to 
redeem all the external expensive loans and the sole 
source of funding is now deposits from our clients which 
fits in well with Finbond’s model of a mutual bank where 
the clients of the bank own the bank.

In establishing Finbond Mutual Bank, shareholders, 
depositors and clients of the bank can take comfort in 
the constitution of the Bank’s corporate governance 
structures and the continued supervision by the South 
African Reserve Bank (SARB). The management structure 
of the Bank and the Group has been augmented with 
the introduction of committee structures as required by 
the SARB. The committees of the Group and the Bank 
collectively strive to manage all the risks of the business 
according to the highest standards outlined in the Finbond 
Risk Management Framework, which is based on a variety 
of literature placing strong emphasis in particular on, 
inter alia, the King Code of Corporate Governance and 
the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision.

The taking of deposits by the bank has provided the added 
benefit of improving the liquidity position for Finbond 
Group, which holds cash and cash equivalents of R64 
million as at 28 February 2013, which is 19% up from last 
year. However, particularly encouraging is that the cash 
position incorporates both the increased capital invested 
in the loan book and the repayment of all of the Group’s 
expensive, amortising institutional debt of approximately 
R150 million.

The concomitant reduction in the cost of funding 
contributed significantly to the enhanced profitability of 
the Group and bodes well for future net earnings.

Performance of ordinary shares
The Headline earnings per share, which excludes income 
and expenses which are capital in nature, has improved 
to a profit of 3,1 cents per share from a loss of 1,3 cents 
in the previous year.

This improvement, following the announcement of the 
banking licence, have seen the share price move from 
7 cents per share at 31 August 2012 to 139 cents on 
22 April 2013, which is a phenomenal 1 637.5% 
growth, in an eight month period. This means R100 000 
invested in Finbond shares in August 2012 was worth                                                     
R1 637 500 on 22 April 2013. One, however, has to 
caution against the volatility which may follow such extra-
ordinary movements. 

External environment
The mood in the business environment appears to be less 
sombre as the high impact concerns of last year have 
been avoided or at least postponed for now. However, 
the low growth environment looks set to persist and recent 
international political and banking sector developments 
illustrate how fragile the recovery remains. South Africa’s 
outlook remains intricately tied to the fortunes of Europe 
and the developments are critical for the South African 
economy going forward, and we look forward to a revival 
in world trade to help drive the domestic recovery. The 
cautious optimism that was evident at the beginning of 
the year has now given way to renewed concerns. 

China has become South Africa’s largest trading 
partner although much of our exports to that country 
are commodities or commodity based. Fears of a hard 
landing in China have abated, and although a return to 
previous elevated growth rates is unlikely, the expected 
growth rates should help to underpin the demand for 
and the price of commodities, which is critical for South 
Africa’s growth outlook. The continued weakness in South 
Africa’s traditional trading partners in the Eurozone and 
the United Kingdom underlines the need to seek new 
markets for manufactured exports. However a disturbing 
aspect of recent trends has been the weak recovery of 
South Africa’s exports despite a marked improvement in 
our terms of trade since 2010. 

Part of this has been due to the slow global recovery, but 
this has not been the whole story as South Africa’s slow 
export growth was also an outcome of the widespread 
stoppages in the mining sector last year which adversely 
affected the export performance of the country’s main 
source of exports. 

EC 9
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The main export sectors of the South African economy 
therefore face a challenging outlook, both from external 
and internal resources. Commodity prices, apart from 
the gold price, have not generally recovered from their 
pre-crises levels. At the same time input costs, particularly 
electricity and wage costs, have risen significantly and the 
sector is beset by an increasingly difficult labour relations 
environment. Nevertheless the underlying structural issues 
remain, which will make it all the more important for South 
Africa to improve its domestic savings performance. 

The South African economy is forecast to grow at a rate 
of 2,8% in real terms in 2013, impacted by global growth 
of around 3,5% this year, while domestic and socio-
economic developments and conditions will also be a 
major contributor to the country’s growth performance. 
Although headline consumer price inflation is projected 
to rise above 6% in 2013, interest rates are forecast to 
remain low, which will be a reflection of macro-economic 
trends in general, and the possible impact of these and 
inflationary pressures on consumers. 

According to SARB data, household credit extension grew 
by 10% year on year, the fastest since December 2008. 
Breaking with the trend witnessed earlier in this economic 
cycle, asset based credit has also started to rise more 
robustly, but remains well below that of unsecured credit 
growth. More broadly, the increases in credit growth can 
signal a positive for the economy, as extra credit can act 
as an underpin for real disposable income growth in 
the face of higher inflation, while at the same time it is 
important to note that the accelerating debt uptake serves 
to make consumer balance sheets more vulnerable.  

Net impairments
Finbond’s key internal asset quality measures, net 
impairment as a percentage of cash received and 
impairment as a percentage of expected instalments, 
show encouraging improvement between February 2012 
and 2013, remaining well within acceptable levels. All of 
the applied measures indicate that the quality of the loan 
assets held by Finbond Mutual Bank has improved over 
the period under review.

Overall loan loss provisions increased in order to 
accommodate consistent application of the tried and 
tested group provisioning policy over the increased loan 
book. The annual write-off is similar to that of the prior 
year, which, on a vastly more substantial loan book and 
under an unchanged provisioning policy, reflects a good 
improvement in the quality of the loan book. 

Outlook for the coming year
The challenging macro-economic environment as well 
as the adverse conditions within which Finbond operates 

is expected to continue in the short to medium term. In 
the ensuing year the Group will continue to focus on the 
following areas:

• 

• 
•
• 
• 

•
• 

• 

Finbond Mutual Bank is well positioned for the 
implementation of its growth plans. 

Dividends
Although the Group’s equity ratios, profitability and 
liquidity positions have improved over the past year, 
the Board has decided not to pay a dividend during the 
current financial year. Although this will be disappointing 
for our shareholders, we believe it is the correct stance to 
retain reserves in order to strengthen the Bank and the 
Group.

Board structure
During the year the Board was enhanced by the entrance 
of Adv. Neville Melville, a former Banking Ombudsman 
and more recently Mr. Robert Emslie, a widely respected 
banker. They bring valuable talents to the Board and 
Finbond welcomes them both into the fold. 

Thanks and acknowledgements
I would like to thank our many clients and customers for 
their continued support. We recognise our accountability 
to you and are committed to help you to achieve your 
ambitions and goals. 

Our achievements have only been possible through the 
dedication of our Finbond employees, ably guided by the 
Executive Committee led by Dr. Willie van Aardt. It was a 
year of many achievements, requiring sacrifices to ensure 
that the desired outcomes were achieved, and I thank you 
all for your contributions. 

We have benefitted from our relationship with the 
Registrar of Banks, not only in the allocation of a banking 
license, but from the guidance received throughout the 
period to the end of the financial year in structuring the 
bank appropriately. 

My thanks also go to my colleagues on the Board for their 

Increasing the numbers of new customers through 
quality sales
Profitability
Reducing impairments
Cost efficiency
Raising additional funding through deposits to grow 
our business 
Enhancing the collection capabilities of the organisation
Development and implementation of additional 
banking products
Participating in the National Payment System.

EC 9
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Dr. Malesela Motlatla

insight, passion and commitment. Their contributions to 
our deliberations have been of great value and much 
appreciated.

Lastly, I want to thank God for his grace and for blessing 
us all with the ability to work towards our ambitions and 
vision.

Dr. Malesela Motlatla
Chairman
  
17 May 2013

“Reach high, for stars lie hidden in your soul. Dream deep, for every dream precedes the goal.”
– Pamela Vaull Starr –
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RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

1. Risk Management Framework

a. Approach

Finbond’s approach to risk management is based on 
well-established governance processes and relies on both 
individual responsibility and collective oversight, supported 
by comprehensive reporting. 

This approach balances strong corporate oversight at 
executive management level, beginning with proactive 
participation by the Chief Executive Officer and the 
Executive Committee in all significant risk matters, with risk 
management structures, supporting policies, procedures 
and processes within all regional and divisional business 
units enabling risk assessment in a controlled environment. 
Risk management is seen as the responsibility of each and 
every employee.

b. Governance Structure

The various committees’ areas of responsibility, objectives, 
members and meeting frequency are set out in the 
Committee Charters.

c. Risk Appetite

Risk appetite is the maximum level of residual risk that 
Finbond is prepared to accept to deliver its business 
objectives. 

The board establishes Finbond’s parameters for risk 
appetite by:
• 
• 
• 

The board delegates the determination of risk appetite to 
the Executive and Risk Committees and ensures that risk 
appetite is in line with group strategy and the Group’s 
desired balance between risk and reward.

d. Stress Testing 

Stress tests are used in proactively managing the Group’s 
risk profile, capital, liquidity, strategic business planning 
and setting of capital buffers. Stress testing is an integral 
component of Finbond’s internal capital adequacy 
assessment process, and is used to assess and manage the 
adequacy of regulatory and economic capital.  

Stress testing may reveal a reduction in surplus capital or a 
shortfall in capital under specific scenarios. This may then 
serve as a leading indicator to the group to raise additional 
capital, reduce capital outflows, adjust the capital structure 
and/or reduce its risk appetite.

The outcomes of stress testing on earnings, liquidity, 
and capital adequacy are considered in determining an 
appropriate risk appetite to ensure that these remain above 
the Group’s minimum capital requirements. Management 
further also reviews the outcomes of stress tests and, where 
necessary, determines appropriate mitigating actions 
to minimise and manage the risks induced by potential 
stresses. Examples of potential mitigating actions include 
reviewing and changing risk limits, increasing credit 
scores, limiting exposures to certain longer term product 
ranges and only selling 30 to 120 day products in certain 
branches.

The objective of stress testing is to support a number of 
value-added business processes that include:
• 

• 
•
 
• 
• 

• 

On a bi-annual basis Finbond performs stress tests across 
all major risk types based on a number of scenarios, each 
with different levels of severity. The outcome of these stress 
tests serve as an indicator, as to whether or not, Finbond 
remains within its risk tolerance levels in the various 
scenarios.

e. Bankers Algorithm

The Finbond Banker’s algorithm is a resource allocation 
and deadlock avoidance algorithm that tests for safety 
by simulating the allocation of predetermined maximum 
possible amounts of all resources over a one to five year 
period, and then makes a “safe-state check” to test for 
possible deadlock conditions for all other pending activities, 
before deciding whether allocation should be allowed to 
continue. 

providing strategic leadership and guidance;
reviewing and approving annual budgets and forecasts;
regularly reviewing and monitoring the Group’s risk 
performance through detailed monthly Management 
Information Packs and Quarterly  Board Reports.

assessment of potential changes in the risk profile and 
monitoring of risk appetite;
strategic planning and budgeting;
capital planning and liquidity management, including 
setting capital buffers;
communication with internal and external stakeholders;
the assessment of the impact of stresses on headline 
earnings; and
ad hoc assessment of the impact of changes in short-
term macroeconomic factors on the performance of the 
bank.
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The algorithm avoids deadlock by denying or postponing a 
resource request if it determines that accepting the request 
could put the bank in an unsafe state (one where deadlock 
could occur). 

2. Risk Identification, Measurement, Monitoring, 
    Reporting and Mitigation

a. Risk Identification

Risk identification is the first step in the proactive risk 
management process. It provides the opportunities, 
indicators, and information that allow the organization to 
raise major risks before they adversely affect the group or 
the bank. The various risks that Finbond is exposed to are 
listed in the Finbond Risk Barometer (“FRB”). The biggest 
risks reside in credit extension, liquidity and operations and 
therefor emphasis are placed on these three areas. 

b. Risk Measurement

In terms of the Finbond Risk Barometer the various risks are 
allocated a risk colour at time of measurement:

Blue :    No risk
Green:    Low to Medium Risk that is manageable
Orange:   Medium to High Risk that is difficult to manage
Red:    High Risk that cannot be managed 

c. Risk Monitoring

The various risks that Finbond is exposed to are monitored 
on a monthly basis by the Executive Committee and Risk 
Committee that updates the FRB on a monthly basis. Detailed 
reports are generated as part of the monthly Management 
Information Pack (“MIP”) to enable monitoring of all risk 
levels. The specific risk relating to the Asset and Liability 
Committee and the Credit Committee are also monitored 
at each of their meetings. Formal Risk Assessments and 
Stress Tests are conducted at least bi-annually. 

d. Risk Reporting

The various risks that Finbond is exposed to are reported 
in the FRB that is included in the MIP and distributed to all 
Executive Directors, Non-Executive Directors, The Internal 
Auditor, Compliance, The External Auditors KPMG Inc, The 
Executive Committee, The Operational Committee, The 
Asset and Liability Committee and the Credit Committee 
within 10 days after month end.

e. Risk Mitigation

Risk management and reduction is at the core of the 
operating structure of the Group. The various risks that 
Finbond is exposed to are mitigated through various internal 
business processes and policies as set out in the Finbond 
Policy Manual (“FPM”). Existing controls and policies are 
assessed and if necessary adjusted and updated.

3. Risk Categories

a. Credit Risk

Credit Risk is the banks most material risk and can be 
defined as the risk of loss arising from the failure of a client 
or counterparty to fulfil its financial and or contractual 
obligations to the Bank. The credit risk that the Bank faces 
arises mainly from consumer loans and advances. 

Credit Risk related to the investment of surplus cash with 
banks and money market funds is managed by the Asset 
and Liability Committee that proposes a list of counter 
parties and related limits for approval by the Credit 
Committee.

Given that Credit Risk is the most material risk considerable 
resources are dedicated to control credit risk effectively 
within the Finbond Credit Risk Control Framework. The 
Finbond Credit Policy sets out the principles under which 
the Group and the Bank are prepared to assume credit 
risk.

Credit risk management is overseen by the Credit 
Committee as subcommittee of the Executive Committee. 
The credit committee meets at least every month to 
evaluate the activities of the credit division and operations, 
new business, results, arrears, provisioning, regulatory 
compliance and any potential amendment to the Credit 
Policy or Credit Scores.

i. Credit Risk Appetite and Credit Policies
Finbond’s strategy does not entail the elimination of credit 
risk but rather to take on credit risk in a well-controlled, 
planned and targeted manner pursuant to its business 
objectives. Its approach to measuring credit risk is therefore 
designed to ensure that it can be assessed accurately, and 
that relevant, timely and accurate credit risk information is 
available at an operational and at a strategic level at all 
times.

At a strategic level, the Bank seeks to manage its credit 
risk profile within the constraints of its overall risk appetite 
and to structure its portfolio so that it provides optimal 
returns for the level of risk taken. Finbond seeks to achieve 
an appropriate balance between risk and reward, and 
continue to build and enhance credit risk management 
capabilities that assist in delivering growth in a controlled 
environment. 

Finbond’s Credit Risk appetite and credit risk framework 
are defined by the Finbond Credit Policy and Finbond 
Upfront Credit Scoring Rules as approved by the Executive 
Committee and Credit Committee from time to time. Policy 
changes are recommended to the Credit Committee as 
and when required. The Credit committee reviews the 
various policies at least bi-annually. Finbond’s Upfront 
Credit Scoring Rules and Credit Risk Management Model 
are continually adjusted to maintain and improve levels of 
arrears in a volatile and changing economic climate.
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ii. Sector and geographic exposures 
Finbond’s consumer loans comprise of a large number of 
customers with small short terms loans (45 000), dispersed 
across different geographical areas, different sectors and 
different LSM 1- 7 groups.

Sector and geographic concentration risk are monitored 
on a monthly basis through Portfolio Analysis, Detailed 
Vintage Curves and Loan Spread Per Sector Reports.

iii. Risk acceptance and monitoring of credit risk 
The Credit Risk Control Framework provide a structure 
within which credit risk is managed and for which 
compulsory credit policies are prescribed. These policies 
are approved by the Executive Committee and Credit 
Committee. Finbond has implemented a robust Credit 
Scoring and approval process in line with Finbond’s Credit 
Policy that makes use of Compuscan’s Compuscore and 
Codix Upfront Credit Scoring as well as affordability 
assessments for each client. The credit acceptance decision 
is based on the applicant’s:
• Behaviour (willingness to pay)

• Ability to pay

• Source of payment

Credit Risk is actively monitored on a daily, weekly and 
monthly basis through inter alia:
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
•
•
• 
• 
• 

Arrears are actively monitored to ensure operational 
efficiency by identifying changes in trends and variances 
from tolerance levels. Arrears percentages are reported 
monthly and are evaluated on product, regional, 
operational (provincial) manager and national levels. 
Branch performance and targets include arrears targets, 
appropriately balanced with sales and profit targets.

iv. Credit Concentration Risk
Finbond employs an internal economic capital model and 
stress tests to adequately measure concentration risk.

Concentration risk is managed on a centralised basis 
through the monitoring of exposures at Executive 
Committee, Asset and Liability Committee, Operational 
Committee and Credit Committee level. The measurement 
methodology for concentration risk is also commensurate 
with the complexity/simplicity of the Banks’ business and 
the environment in which we operate.

v. Credit Control and Loss Recovery
With regards to Daily Collections and Early Stage Collections 
Finbond makes use of the Early Debit Order Platform in the 
form of AEDO (Authenticated Early Debit Order) facilitated 
by AltechNupay. NuPay AEDO (Authenticated Early Debit 
Order) is a terminal based solution which enables a 
merchant to load future-dated, irreversible transactions on 
a 3rd party’s account. The basic functionality of the NuPay 
system is to provide a facility whereby a credit provider can 
process an electronic transaction to transfer funds from 
a client‘s account to his own, similar to what is currently 
being done with credit and debit card transactions at retail 
outlets. The difference is that, unlike real time transactions, 
these transactions will be processed at a later date. The 
collections method involves client authenticated debit order 
authorization, through card and PIN verification of the 
clients account. 

A further advantage of the Early Debit Order platform is 
a tracking facility which tracks the availability of funds in 
client accounts for a period of time determined by the user 
(for instance start tracking from pay date to three days 
thereafter). Once the debit order is received via Bankserv 
the funds are transferred directly into a Finbond bank 
account.
 
In case of an initial default by the client, Finbond uses 
internal regional call centre based “soft collection centres” 
for remedial collections. This environment is governed by 
the Excalibur Collections Call Centre Management System 
as facilitated by Futuresoft.

Legal collections are handed over to various External 
Debt Collection agents (“EDC’S) who are responsible for 
tracing and legal action (emolument attachment orders). 
The EDC’s are managed in terms of mandates and their 
performance is reviewed monthly. 

These agents, the handed-over-accounts database and 
recoveries are managed by the Finbond Collection 
department. 

vi. Provisions and Impairments
The Group reviews its loan portfolios to assess impairment 
on a monthly basis. In determining whether an impairment 
loss should be recorded in the income statement, the 
Group makes judgements as to whether there is any 
observable data indicating that there is a measurable 
decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio 
of loans (known as loss events), before the decrease can 
be identified with an individual loan in that portfolio. This 
evidence may include observable data indicating that 
there has been an adverse change in the payment status of 

The willingness to pay is established externally by 
enquiries performed and credit bureau-related policy 
rules. This information is supplemented internally and 
fraud checks are included.

The ability to pay is assessed after authentication 
and capturing of income, expenditure and financial 
obligation information, as prescribed by the National 
Credit Act.

The source of payment is established from the salary 
slip details, bank statement and again when confirming 
employment. 

Maximum Exposure to Credit Risk Reports
Revenue, Asset and Cash Analysis
Loan Balance Analysis
Portfolio Analysis
Vintage Curves
Write Off and Bad Debt Vintages
Net Impairment Loss Ratios
Portfolio at Risk (PAR 30 and PAR 90)
Risk Coverage Ratios ( RCR30 and RCR90)
Roll Rate Analysis
Arrears Dashboards
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borrowers in a group, a breach of contract such as a default 
or delinquency in payment for an individual borrower, or 
local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on 
assets in that group. Management uses estimates based 
on industry trends as well as historical loss experience 
for assets with similar credit risk characteristics for both 
identified impairment as well as incurred but unidentified 
impairment. The methodology and assumptions used for 
estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows 
are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between 
loss estimates and actual loss experience. Judgemental 
and non-judgemental inputs are required in estimating 
cash flows. 

b. Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that Finbond is unable to meet its 
payment obligations when they fall due and to replace 
funds when they are withdrawn, the consequence of which 
may be the failure to meet obligations to repay depositors 
and fulfil commitments to lend.

Liquidity risk refers to a bank’s inability to continue 
operating as a going concern due to a lack of funding. This 
type of event may arise where counterparties who provide 
the bank with funding withdraw or do not roll over that 
funding, or as a result of a generalised disruption in asset 
markets which results in normally liquid assets becoming 
illiquid. The appropriate and efficient management of 
liquidity is of utmost importance to Finbond in ensuring 
the confidence of the financial markets and to support 
the Finbond business plan. The efficient management of 
liquidity risk is further essential in order to ensure that:
• 
• 

Finbond operates an uncomplicated liquidity profile with a 
preference for long term funding at interest rates aligned 
with the structure of the asset book. The management 
of liquidity risk takes preference over the optimization of 
interest rate risk.  

i. Liquidity risk management and monitoring
The Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO) is responsible 
for the management of liquidity risk. ALCO meets monthly 
to consider the activities of the treasury desk which operates 
in terms of an approved Asset and Liability (ALM) policy 
and in line with approved limits.

In managing liquidity risk, Finbond aims to maintain 
a balance between liquidity and profitability in order to 
effectively manage liquidity risk, the Group and the bank 
is required to:
• 
• 

•
•
• 

• 

In managing liquidity risk, cognisance is taken of business-
as-usual liquidity conditions, stress liquidity scenarios, 
liquidity risk guidelines and limits. Liquidity risk is managed 
by maintaining sufficient liquid assets or assets that can 
be translated into liquid assets at short notice and without 
capital loss to meet cash flow requirement.

Asset Liability and Capital Management are monitored by 
the CEO, CFO, CRO, COO, EXCO and ALCO through:
• 

• 

•
 
• 
•
• 

•
• 
• 

ii. Principal Policies and Products
Given the long term nature of liabilities versus the short 
term nature of assets Finbond possess a low risk liquidity 
structure.

Finbond is not exposed to the uncertainties that accompany 
the use of corporate call deposits as funding mechanism 
and Finbond’s average deposit (liability) is approximately 
30 months while Finbond’s asset structure (loan book) is 
short term in nature with an average term of 3 months. 

The principle risk management policies governing the 
management of liquidity risk as set out in the ALM policy 
are as follows:
• 

• 

• 

• 

all stakeholders in the Bank are protected; and
liquidity risk is managed in line with regulatory liquidity 
requirements.

maintain a sufficiently large liquidity buffer;
ensure a structurally sound statement of financial 
position;
manage short- and long-term cash flow;
preserve a diversified funding base;
undertake regular liquidity stress testing and scenario 
analysis; and
maintain adequate contingency funding. 

Daily cash balance analysis, weekly and monthly 
analysis and stress testing and cash monitoring as set out 
in the Finbond Cash Management page in the monthly 
MI Pack setting out detail of cash and cash equivalents 
available, free cash for growth, cash collateral, working 
capital cash, cash stock , overdraft facilities, micro credit 
operational weekly cash sweepings and net micro credit 
operational cash flows. 
Monitoring non-operating cash flow specific to funding 
liabilities (both capital and interest) in cash flow 
statements that are updated monthly.
Asset and liabilities matching through the maturity 
ladder.
Treasury desk deposit book maturity analysis. 
Deposit concentration analysis.
Minimum liquid asset and reserve balance compliance 
reports.
Progress on funding initiative reports.
Stressed cash flow forecast.
Bankers Algorithm.

Wholesale deposit funding is limited to fixed term 
contractual maturities of 6 months to 60 months.
Surplus short term retail funding is maintained in call 
accounts with AAA rated South African Banks or Money 
Market Unit Trusts operated by large reputable South 
African Asset Managers, Treasury Bills issued by the 
South African Treasury and South African Reserve Bank 
debentures.
Adequate liquid assets are maintained in terms of the 
Mutual  Banks Act Regulations to fund the liquid asset 
requirement and reserve account and to maintain  
collateral for clearing balances on the South African 
Multi Settlement Option System (SAMOS) account.
Treasury’s use of interbank facilities is restricted in line 
with specified EXCO and ALCO approved limits. 
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iii. Business-as-usual liquidity risk management
Business-as-usual liquidity management refers to the 
management of the Bank’s inward and outward cash flows 
experienced in the ordinary course of conducting business. 

The business-as-usual environment tends to result in fairly 
high probability, low severity liquidity events and requires the 
balancing of the Bank’s day-to-day cash needs. Finbond’s 
approach to managing business-as-usual liquidity needs 
focuses on a number of key areas including:
• 

• 

• 

•

• 

• 

• 

iv. Liquidity stress testing and scenario analysis
ALCO reviews liquidity scenario analysis and stress testing 
on a regular basis in order to assess the adequacy of 
the Bank’s stress funding sources, liquidity buffers and 
contingency funding strategies to meet unexpected outflows 
arising from Finbond specific, systemic and market stress 
events.

v. Liquidity risk measurement 
Monitoring and reporting of liquidity risk takes the form 
of net cash flow measurement and projection for the next 
day, next week and each month out to one year and up to 
two years.

vi. Diversified funding base
Although Finbond employs a diversified funding strategy, 
sourcing funding lines in the domestic and offshore markets 
Finbond’s main focus and source of funding is retail deposit 
funding that is limited to fixed term contractual maturities 
of 6 months to 60 months.

Concentration risk limits are used to ensure a wide 
diversification by provider, product and term. Limits are set 
internally to restrict single and top ten depositor exposures 
to below 10% for a single depositor and 20% for the top 
ten depositors of funding related liabilities respectively.

vii. Deposit Management
Given that Finbond only have fixed term funding of 
between 6 and 60 months, efforts are directed towards 
giving clients excellent service in order for new clients 
to continue to invest and for old client to re-invest with 
Finbond on maturity. Given that Finbond is mainly funded 
through fixed term retail deposits with different maturities 
there are no significant  roll over risks.

Interest rates are reviewed monthly to ensure that deposit 
rates remain competitive and appropriate. Deposit rates 
are advertised nationally in the print media and on selected 
radio stations in order to attract deposits.

c. Operational Risk

Operational risk arises from the potential that inadequate 
management, information systems, operational problems, 
breaches of internal controls, fraud or unforeseen 
catastrophes will result in unexpected losses. 

Operational risk is associated with human error, system 
failures and inadequate procedures and controls. 
Operational risk exists in all products and business activities. 
Operational risk event types that have the potential to result 
in substantial losses include internal fraud, external fraud, 
employment practices, workplace safety, clients, products 
and business practices, business disruption and system 
failures and damage to physical  assets. 

The objective of operational risk management is to find 
out the extent of the Finbond’s operational risk exposure; 
to understand what drives it, to allocate capital against it 
and identify trends internally and externally that would help 
predicting it. 

The Operational Committee (OPCO) has been established 
to oversee the operational risk profile of the group and 
the bank. The committee executes, recommends and 
monitors Finbond’s day to day operations and practices 
and reviews and implements risk management policies, 
processes and procedures and business strategies taking 
into consideration internal as well as external conditions 
with regards to best practice, innovation and financial 
performance within the approved risk management 
framework. The Committee comprises the Chief Executive 
Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, The Chief Operating 
Officer and all Regional General Managers and Heads of 
Departments. The Heads of Internal Audit and Compliance 
provide independent monitoring and attend all OPCO 
meetings.

i. Day to Day Operational Risk Management 
The management of operating risk is inherent in the day to 
day execution of duties by management and is the central 

Forecasting daily cash requirements. This is achieved by 
forecasting liquidity commitments which are considered 
as day to day flows and those that relate to large 
singular obligations,
Analysing and forecasting the growth in the loan book, 
inflows from settlements adjusted for expected default 
as well as expected inflows and outflows in terms of 
Finbonds funding program of retail fixed deposits and 
periodic commitments such as dividend or tax payments, 
The active daily management of the funding and liquidity 
profile taking cognisance of historic cash flow patterns 
to determine business as usual cash flow requirements 
including cash stress points in any given month. The 
modelling is adjusted for seasonal variations based on 
historical experience adjusted for expactations around 
projected growth and current market dynamics,   
The maintenance of a portfolio of highly liquid assets 
that can easily be liquidated to meet unexpected 
variances in forecast requirements as protection against 
any unforeseen interruption to cash flow,
Actively pursuing medium and long term funding 
opportunities to fund the budgeted growth opportunities 
of the bank (in line with the preference for long-term 
fixed-term funding) in order to achieve an optimal 
funding profile and sound liquidity risk management,
Offering retail fixed term deposits with a term between 
6 and 60 months appropriate for clients who want to 
benefit from the higher yield offered, and 
The monitoring and managing of liquidity costs and 
average cost of funding.
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element of all management processes within Finbond. Line 
management accepts accountability for the identification 
management, measurement and reporting of operational 
risks. 

ii. Insurance program
A comprehensive insurance program is maintained to 
cover losses from loss of key personnel, professional 
liability claims, damage to physical assets and theft of 
certain assets. Cash losses in branches and opportunity 
cost of lost revenue are self insured.

iii. Fraud prevention
A zero tolerance approach is followed with respect to 
fraud, theft and dishonesty. Information regarding any 
irregularities  received from employees, management or 
the independent fraud hotline are immediately investigated 
by internal audit and referred to the police’s commercial 
crimes unit.

iv. Information Technology Systems
All banking systems, credit scoring systems and loan 
management systems (including mission critical systems) 
are outsourced to reputable external service providers. 
These relationships are formalised by way of Service 
Delivery Agreements. All incidences of downtime are 
recorded.

The core banking systems of Finbond Mutual Bank 
are supplied by and contracted out to BankserveAfrica 
subsidiary BSVA Integrated Services (previously EMID 
Technologies) that has both the ISO 9001:2007 and ISAE 
3402* (SAS70) accreditations. The BSVA Integrated Services 
(EMID) information technology principles and systems 
implemented by Finbond Mutual Bank are appropriate for 
the business activities of the Bank. BSVA Integrated Services 
(EMID) currently provides systems and technology to inter 
alia the following banks and financial services groups in 
the SA banking regulatory environment:
o 
o
o 
o
o

v. Disaster recovery plan/business continuity plan
As confirmed by auditors KPMG during June 2012, 
Finbond has established a proper, functioning Disaster 
Recovery Site in case of emergency.

Finbond Mutual Bank utilises the BSVA Integrated Services 
(previously EMID) site as its Disaster Recovery Site. BSVA 
have a certifcate from IBM Business Continuity and 
Recovery Services (“BCRS”) in favour of BSVA following 
disaster recovery rehearsals performed at BSVA. 

d. Other Risks

In addition to the aforementioned various other risks are 
constantly monitored by the EXCO, Risk Committee and the 
Board in terms of Finbond’s Risk Barometer that is updated 

on a monthly basis. These other risks include: Market and 
Securities Price risk; Cash Flow and Fair Value Interest Rate 
Risk; Interest Rate Risk; Investment Risk; Foreign Currency 
Risk; Reputational Risk; Legal Risk; Financial Crime Risk; 
Regulatory and Compliance Risk and Insurance Risk. 

4. Conclusion 

Finbond’s continued commitment to sound risk 
management has proved to be effective as reflected in our 
strong capital and liquidity position. 

We recognise that maintaining and continually enhancing 
our risk management capabilities will be critical in the 
months and years ahead to ensure that Finbond’s financial 
and strategic objectives are achieved within approved 
levels of risk appetite.

Bidvest Bank
First National Bank (Housing Finance)
National Housing Finance Corporation (NHFC)
VBS Mutual Bank
Ithala Limited
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BASEL AND OTHER REGULATORY COMMITMENTS

Finbond Mutual Bank
Regulatory Review – February 2013

Finbond Group Limited, with the advent of the establishment of the Mutual Bank, has further expanded its diligent focus 
on and adherence to only the highest standards globally, by embracing the Basel III committee’s recommendations, in 
conjunction with the standards monitored by the South African Reserve Bank. In adhering to these requirements, which 
in many cases do not strictly apply to the Finbond Group, we develop a platform from which rapid expansionary growth 
can be achieved while minimising risk and optimising the ability of the business to operate within the strictest regulatory 
environment. The following statistics were calculated and reported to internal and external stakeholders at the end of the 
current financial period.

SARB returns summary:
The following measurements are included in the monthly and quarterly DI returns provided to the Reserve Bank at            
28 February 2013.

Fixed and Notice Deposits
Qualifying capital and reserves
Less: Impairments (section 70(5) of the Act) 
Net qualifying capital and reserves
SARB Regulatory requirement
Excess/(Shortfall)

DI200 Income Statement
Net Interest Turn (YTD)
Retained Income at the end of the period (YTD)

DI300 Liquidity Risk Maturity Ladder
Anticipated future cash flows - inward
Anticipated future cash flows – outward
Anticipated liquidity mismatch per Alco model
Wholesale deposits (greater than R100 000)
Retail deposits (rand) 
Total funds supplied by 10 largest depositors

DI310 Min. Reserve Balance & Liquid Assets
Adjusted Liabilities
Reduced Liabilities

Month ended

DI100 Balance Sheet

28 February 2013

164 741
 421 842
 84 751
337 091
250 000
87 091

22 785
11 586

 709 000
 561 360

 +147 640
 -   

 164 741
 28 722

220 043
174 692

ZAR ‘000
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Basel Compliance:

The new international banking rules known as Basel III were introduced after the banking crisis to strengthen banks. Basel 
III prescribes higher capital ratios, but also imposes measures which will be phased in over the next number of years, to 
ensure that banks have access to stable and long term funding. Finbond Mutual Bank already complies with these new 
rules. As at 28 February 2013 our liquidity coverage ratio was 1112% (100% required from 2019) and our net stable 
funding ratio was 408% (100% required from 2018).

As a condition of establishment, the Registrar required minimum capital of R250 million, while Basel III requires capital be 
maintained at 19% of Risk Weighted Assets being the Basel Global minimum amount of 8%, plus a South African premium 
of 1.5%, a common equity tier 1 (CET1) buffer of 4% which was applied for the 2014 year over and above the Tier 1 capital 
buffer of 5.5%.     

 BASEL III            Liquid Assets 30 Days outflows 2019 Requirement Percentage of Ratio

LCR: Liquidity Coverage Ratio       10 400 000         935 026            >100%             1112%

 BASEL III            Stable Funding Long Term Assets 2018 Requirement Percentage of Ratio

NSFR: Net Stable Funding Ratio     585 909 974      143 571 171           >100%             408%

Net qualifying issued share capital and unimpaired reserve funds
REQUIRED MINIMUM SHARE CAPITAL & UNIMPAIRED RESERVE FUNDS
(Shortfall)/Excess 

Capital Adequacy: Risk Asset Ratio
REQUIRED CAPITAL ADEQUACY RATIO
(Shortfall)/Excess 

DI500 Credit Risk
Maturity analysis of overdue amounts in terms of bank policy
Amount 4 months overdue
Amount 4 to 6 months overdue
Amount > 6 months overdue

Quarter ended

348 677
54 016

294 661

64.55
9.5

55.05

19 163
13 918

- 

DI400 Capital Adequacy

28 February 2013ZAR ‘000

Total qualifying issued share capital and unimpaired reserve funds 
(Fixed and indefinite period shares)
Accumulated Reserves
Less: Impairments i.t.o. section 48(5) of the Act
NET QUALIFYING ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL AND 
UNIMPAIRED RESERVE FUNDS
The group has no Secondary (Tier 2) Capital in the absence of 
subordinated debt and unidentified loan impairments 
Required Qualifying Regulatory Capital - BASEL III
Required Qualifying Regulatory Capital - SARB
Surplus Qualifying Capital

ZAR

  421 841 976 
     

11 586 962 
     84 751 453
    348 677 485

    

55 307 427
  250 000 000 
  194 692 573

Capital Adequacy Ratio

 

57.0%

19.0%
9.5%

Primary (Tier 1) Capital

Economic Capital:

Economic capital is the amount of capital needed by the Group to cover losses incurred as a result of unexpected or 
extraordinary events. The responsibility for managing risk in the Group lies with the Risk committee. This committee meets 
monthly and its mandate is to provide oversight and advice in relation to Finbond’s risk management framework, current 
and potential future risk exposures of the Group and the Bank and future risk strategy, including determination of risk 
appetite and tolerance including the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process.
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Economic capital has been calculated for each of the following risk types:
• Operational risk, defined as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people or 
 systems, or from external events;
• Interest rate risk, resulting from changes of interest rates; 
• Credit risk, arising from lending activities; and
• Liquidity risk, resulting from the inability to trade an asset timeously to avoid losses.

Management has not quantified the economic capital for the following risk types either because it is not exposed to such 
risks or as the risk is not considered to be material to the bank:
• Market risk,
• Strategic risk, 
• Equity risk, and
• Business risk.

The economic capital has not been disaggregated into lines of business or operating units due to the simple structure 
of the Group and its lines of business. Economic capital for the group as a whole for each risk type is estimated using 
a Monte Carlo simulation model that parameterises identified risks in each of the risk types, using a one year window. 
The granularity of the model is as deemed appropriate by management. The simulation explicitly captures the risk of 
potentially severe events in the tail of the distribution by using suitably skewed loss distributions. Distributions have not 
been truncated as this may result in unwarranted reduction in the corresponding economic capital. For similar reasons it 
has been assumed that the major risk types are mutually independent.

The risk simulation parameters are based on historical data where available, external data, or estimates considered by 
management to be appropriately conservative. The dependence between identified risks is modelled using management 
estimates of inter-event correlations. The economic capital is evaluated at the 99.90% confidence level, based on                 
10 000 000 iterations of the Monte Carlo model.

Table 1: Economic Capital by Risk Type

Figure 1.1: Economic Capital by Risk Type

Credit risk, and specifically counterparty risk, constitutes the greatest risk to the group and correspondingly represents 
the greatest contribution to economic risk capital. Fraud, both internal and external to the bank, comprises the greatest 
contribution to operational risk. Funding Liquidity Risk, being the potential losses the bank will incur if unable to settle 
obligations timeously, is the predominant component of Liquidity risk.

Available financial resources (equity less goodwill) of R397 million cover the minimum economic capital requirement by 
a factor of 3.66.

Operational risk
Interest rate risk
Credit risk
Liquidity risk
Overall
Available financial resources
Capital coverage ratio

Proportion %

32.8
5.8

50.0
11.4

100.0

Economic Capital
R’000

R35 500
R6 300

R54 100
R12 300

R108 200
R396 519

3.66

Risk Type
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Finbond Board of Directors sets the Group’s overall 
policy, and provides guidance and input in areas 
relating to strategic direction, planning, acquisitions, 
performance measurement, resource allocation, key 
appointments, standards of conduct and communication 
with shareholders.

The board fully supports and complies with the principles 
of effective corporate governance, and the need for 
integrity and high ethical standards in the conduct of its 
business. The directors have implemented several key 
recommendations based on the principles outlined in the 
King Report III on Corporate Governance, namely:
- 

- 

- 

Finbond complies with King III and the Companies Act 71 
of 2008 in all respects.  

Role of the Board
The board is of the opinion that the corporate governance 
framework needs to be in line with the size of the Group, 
its complexity, its structure and the risks that have an 
influence on it, and should be a structure through which 
objectives are set and monitored. 

Dr. Willie van Aardt is the chief executive officer of the 
Group, and Dr. Malesela Motlatla is its independent non-
executive chairman. The remuneration, risk and audit 
committees are chaired by independent, non-executive 
directors, none of whom are the chairman of the Board 
of directors.

Code of Conduct
The directors acknowledge the importance of sound 
corporate governance and the guidelines set out in the 
Principles of Good Corporate Governance and the Code 
of Best Practice (the “Combined Code”). The directors 
therefore intend to embrace the Combined Code as far 
as is appropriate, with due regard to the size and nature 
of the various companies which make up the Group. 
The board will take whatever measures are necessary to 
comply with the Combined Code in every way practically 
possible.

All directors and employees are required to maintain 
the highest ethical standards in order to ensure that the 
Group’s business is conducted in a manner which is 
beyond reproach.

For the year under review, the board is satisfied that 
its decision-making capability and the accuracy of its 

financial results have been maintained at a high level 
at all times, with appropriate reliance being placed on 
management, internal as well as external audit, and the 
group audit committee to raise any issues of financial and 
risk concerns.

Composition of the Board
The board is of the view that the number of members 
should be large enough to accommodate the necessary 
skills, but small enough to promote cohesion and effective 
participation.

The Group therefore has three executive directors and 
six non-executive directors at present, five of which 
are independent. The board undertakes the role of a 
nominations committee and the selection and appointment 
of new directors is agreed by the board as a whole. 

The non-executive directors are fully independent of 
management, and free to make their own decisions 
and independent judgments. They enjoy no benefits 
for their services as directors other than their fees. The 
non-executive directors provide the board with valuable, 
independent judgment based on their diverse range of 
skills and commercial experience.

The non-executive directors are high-calibre professionals, 
and sufficient in number for their independent views to 
carry significant weight in the board’s deliberations and 
decisions, and the board retains full and effective control 
over the Group. 

Apart from quarterly meetings, additional board meetings 
are arranged whenever necessary to review strategy, 
planning, operations, financial performance, risk and 
capital expenditure, human resources and environmental 
management. 

The board is also responsible for monitoring the activities 
of the executive management, and is balanced in such a 
way that no individual or small group is able to dominate 
decision-making.

Internal Control
The Board of Directors is responsible for the Group’s 
system of internal control. The internal controls and 
systems are designed to provide reasonable assurance as 
to the integrity and reliability of the financial statements, 
and to adequately safeguard, verify and maintain 
accountability of the assets.

Board Committees
Both executive and independent non-executive directors 
are members of the various board committees, with 
independent non-executive directors being the sole 
members of the audit and remuneration committees. The 

The role of the Chair and the Chief Executive Officer 
are separated,
An independent, non-executive director serves as 
Chairman, and
The board is, as at year end, made up principally of 
non-executive directors.

4.1 | 4.2 
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various committees’ areas of responsibility, objectives, 
members and meeting frequency are set out in the 
Committee Charters. 

The following board committees were in operation at      
28 February 2013: 
•  Audit Committee, 
•  Remuneration Committee, 
•  Social and Ethics Committee, 
•  The Risk Committee, and
•  The Executive Committee.

Audit Committee [3.84(d)(g)]
The audit committee consists of the following members:
All Non-Executive (Independent)
Adv. JJ Noeth 
Mr. DC Pentz  - Resigned   7 March 2013
Mr. R Emslie - Appointed 7 March 2013
Mrs. RN Xaba (Chair) 
 
The audit committee meets at least semi-annually, and 
meetings are attended by the Designated Advisor and 
a representative of the external auditors. The Audit 
Committee is constituted as a committee of the board 
of directors of Finbond Group Limited and Finbond 
Mutual Bank (Finbond). The duties and responsibilities of 
the members of the Committee are in addition to those 
as members of the board. The role of the Committee 
is to provide independent assurance and assistance 
to the Board of Directors on control, governance and 
risk management. The Committee does not replace 
established management responsibilities and delegations.  
The Committee will provide the Board of Directors with 
prompt and constructive reports on its findings, especially 
when issues are identified that could present a material 
risk to Finbond Group Limited.

The audit committee has set out its role and responsibilities, 
and the meetings held during the period, in its report 
which is included in its own section of the integrated 
annual report on pages 52 to 53. 

Remuneration  Committee [3.84(d)]
The remuneration committee consists of the following 
members:
Non-executive (Independent)  
Adv. JJ Noeth (Chair)  
Dr. MDC Motlatla
Mrs. RN Xaba

The Remuneration Committee is constituted as a 
committee of the board of directors of Finbond Group 
Limited and Finbond Mutual Bank (Finbond). The duties 
and responsibilities of the members of the Committee 
are in addition to those as members of the board. The 
role of the Committee is to assist the board to ensure 
that: Finbond remunerates directors, executives and staff 
members fairly and responsibly; and the disclosure of 

director and remuneration is accurate, complete and 
transparent. The committee met on 29 April 2013, all the 
members were present, and Dr. van Aardt attended part 
of the meeting as an invitee.

Social and Ethics Committee
The social and ethics committee was constituted following 
the requirements of the new Companies Act, no. 71 of 
2008, and consists of the following members:
Non-executive (Independent) Executive
Adv. JJ Noeth (Chair)  Mrs. I. Wilken-Jonker
    Mr. GT Sayers

Corporate ethics receives attention from the highest 
level of management and is communicated to staff and 
made available on the intranet. The social and ethics 
committee’s function, with its strong community and 
stakeholder focus, makes this the Board’s best placed 
sub-committee to monitor the progress of the Group’s 
strategic Global Reporting Initiative project to include 
transparent reporting on the sustainability of the business.

The social and ethics Committee is constituted as a 
committee of the board of directors of Finbond Group 
Limited and Finbond Mutual Bank (Finbond). The duties 
and responsibilities of the members of the Committee are 
in addition to those as members of the board. The role 
of the Committee is to assist the board to ensure that: 
Finbond complies with Regulation 43 of the Companies 
Act no 71 of 2008.

The committee met on 20 February 2013 and discharged 
its responsibilities to the group as mandated by the Board 
of directors. All three members of the committee were 
present at this meeting.

The Risk Committee
Up until 17 April 2013, the risk committee was constituted 
as a committee of the Executive Committee, attended by 
the members of the Executive Committee monthly. From 
May 2013, the committee will be chaired by independent 
non-executive director, Mr. R Emslie and will function as a 
separate Board Committee.

The committee is responsible for providing oversight 
and advice in relation to Finbond’s risk management 
framework [including the significant policies, procedures, 
and practices employed] current and potential future risk 
exposures of the Group and the Bank and future risk 
strategy, including determination of risk appetite and 
tolerance.

The Executive Committee
The executive committee comprises the three executive 
directors as well as the Chief Compliance Officer, Chief 
Operations Officer and the Chief Information Officer.

The executive committee is responsible for the daily 
running of the Group, and on a monthly basis, reviews 
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current operations in detail, developing strategy and 
policy proposals for consideration by the board, and then 
implementing its directives. 

There are also a number of committees constituted as 
executive committees of which executive directors and 
senior management personnel are members thereof. The 
various committees’ areas of responsibility, objectives, 
members and meeting frequency are set out in the 
Committee Charters. The following executive committees 
were in operation at 28 February 2013: 
• The Asset and Liability Committee, 
• The Credit Committee, 
• The Operational Committee, 
• The Bank Information Technology Committee, and 
• The Finance Steering Committee.

The Asset and Liability Committee
The asset and liability committee is constituted as a 
committee of the Executive Committee. The committee 
recommends and monitors Finbond’s funding and 
liquidity policy and reviews the structure of our balance 
sheet and business strategies taking into consideration 
market conditions and maintains liquidity contingency 
plans. 

The committee meets monthly and is comprised of the 
Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, the 
Chief Operations Officer, Chief Risk Officer and the Chief 
Compliance Officer.

The Credit Committee
The credit committee is a sub-committee of the Executive 
Committee, established by resolution of the Executive 
Committee, to which the Executive Committee has 
delegated responsibility for exercising oversight of senior 
management’s identification and management of the 
Bank’s credit exposures and the Bank’s responses to 
trends affecting those exposures, and oversight of senior 
management’s actions to ensure the adequacy of the 
allowance for credit losses and credit-related policies.
The committee has three executive directors and the Chief 
Operations Officer as members and meets quarterly as a 
minimum, though more frequently if so required.

The Operational Committee
The committee is charged with the strategic management 
of the Group’s operations including collections and 
human capital development. The committee is constituted 
as a sub-committee of the Executive Committee, meeting 
quarterly. The members of the Operational Committee 
are the regional General Managers and Regional 
Managers of the operations, the Chief Executive Officer, 
the Chief Operating Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, 
the Chief Information Officer and the Head of Human 
Capital Development. 

Both the Head of Internal Audit and the Head of 
Compliance also have an open invitation to attend all 
OPCO meetings.

The Bank Information Technology Committee
The bank information technology committee is 
constituted as a committee of the Executive Committee. 
The Bank Information Technology Committee (BITCO) 
was established to, inter alia, manage, monitor, review, 
discuss and track the progress of the various Finbond 
Mutual Bank Information Technology development 
projects during 2013/2014.

The committee is currently meeting weekly and comprises 
the Chief Risk Officer, the Chief Information Officer and 
the National Information Technology Manager.

The Finance Steering Committee
The finance steering committee is a sub-committee of 
the Executive Committee, established by resolution of the 
Executive Committee, to which the Executive Committee 
has delegated responsibility for exercising oversight of 
senior management’s identification and management 
of the Bank’s financial and reporting exposures and the 
Bank’s responses to trends affecting those exposures.

The Committee meets at least monthly and comprises 
of, as a minimum, the Chief Financial Officer, the Group 
Financial Manager and the Financial Controllers.  

Internal Audit and Compliance
Finbond’s internal audit function reports directly to the 
Audit Committee. The primary objective of the internal 
audit function is to ensure that adequate measures and 
procedures are in place for adequate, effective, efficient 
and economic management. Internal audits are risk-
based and Internal Auditors submit assessments to the 
Audit Committee on the system of internal controls. Since 
the establishment of Finbond Mutual Bank, the Internal 
Audit function also fulfils the requirements of Regulation 
48 of the Banks Act as enforced by the South African 
Reserve Bank. The internal audit charter approved by 
the Audit Committee defines the purpose, authority and 
responsibility of the internal audit activity and is consistent 
with the standards of the Institute of Internal Auditors and 
Regulation 48 of the Banks Act.

In line with Regulation 49 of the Banks Act No 94 of 1990 
(the Bank’s Act) Finbond Mutual Bank has an independent 
compliance function as part of its risk management 
framework and corporate governance structure managing 
the Bank’s compliance risk.

The Finbond Mutual Bank Compliance Governance 
Structure is in line with the generally accepted compliance 
practice framework of the Compliance Institute of South 
Africa, which in turn incorporates sound practices 
recommended inter alia by the Basel Committee on 
Banking Supervision and the King III Report on Corporate 
Governance.

In establishing an effective compliance framework, the 
Finbond Group has a comprehensive set of policies, 
regularly updated in line with changes in legislation and 
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business governance requirements, with which all Group 
companies and employees are obliged to comply.  

Chief among operational risks arising from the intrinsic, 
cash nature of the personal loans business is the risk staff 
may succumb to the temptation to commit fraud and theft, 
i.e. corruption. The internal audit department is structured 
in such way as to enable the review of 100% of the Groups 
business units and therefore all 172 branches, as well as 
each of the Group’s support areas were analysed for risks 
related to corruption, inter alia, during the year ended 
28 February 2013. Finbond is intolerant of dishonest or 
unlawful behaviour, and this on-going review process 
resulted in two cases arising during the period where 
employees found guilty of corruption being summarily 
dismissed, and a further twelve individuals are under 
investigation for corruption, following their own voluntary 
resignation.

Due to the high-risk nature of the Group’s product 
offering, being unsecured loans to often un-banked 
individuals, non-adherence by sales employees to the 
Group’s credit policy is another crucial risk element 
measured closely by the Group’s compliance staff. The 

following table summarizes transgressions of the credit 
policy that took place during the period found by internal 
audit, which upon the completion of fair investigations 
resulted in five individuals being dismissed following their 
failure to comply with the Group’s credit policy, thereby 
enforcing this important internal control (‘Codix’ is the 
short name for the compulsory credit checking process to 
be completed in processing all loan applications):

Company Secretary 
All directors have access to the company secretary, who 
is responsible for ensuring that the board procedures are 
followed, and who plays an active role in the improvement 
and monitoring of corporate government processes.

The board has assessed the competence, qualifications 
and experience of the secretary, and satisfied itself thereto. 
In addition the board is satisfied that an arms length 
relationship is maintained with the company secretary.

The checklist confirming Finbond’s compliance with the 
principles of the King Code on Corporate Governance 
has been completed and is available on the company’s 
website, www.finbondlimited.co.za.

“The thing always happens that you really believe in; and the belief in a thing makes it happen.”
– Frank Loyd Wright –

CODIX COMPLIANCE COMPLIANCE

SUBTOTAL
 LOANS ACCEPTED DECLINED

NO/ INVALID 
CODIX % ACCEPTED % DECLINED

% NO/ INVALID
CODIX

21544
19039
6105

12479
20210
17084
11934
11123
9434
6019

17693
19331
4232

13193
2041
7680
7731
2678

15491
14514
4925

15538

254018

21052
18917
5979
12255
19982
16792
11800
10999
9311
5929
17493
13146
4166
12987
2004
7561
7619
2636
15345
14199
4884
15426

250482

58
17
20
75
49
121
32
19
17
22
28
28
12
18
6
22
20
9
19
262
5
20

879

434
105
106
149
179
171
102
105
106
68

172
157
54

188
31
97
92
33

127
53
36
92

2657

97.72%
99.36%
97.94%
98.20%
98.87%
98.29%
98.88%
98.89%
98.70%
98.50%
98.87%
98.61%
98.44%
98.44%
98.19%
98.45%
98.55%
98.43%
99.06%
97.83%
99.17%
99.28%

98.61%

0.27%
0.09%
0.33%
0.60%
0.24%
0.71%
0.27%
0.17%
0.18%
0.37%
0.16%
0.21%
0.28%
0.14%
0.29%
0.29%
0.26%
0.34%
0.12%
1.81%
0.10%
0.13%

0.35%

2.01%
0.55%
1.74%
1.19%
0.89%
1.00%
0.85%
0.94%
1.12%
1.13%
0.97%
0.81%
1.28%
1.42%
1.52%
1.26%
1.19%
1.23%
0.82%
0.37%
0.73%
0.59%

1.05%
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The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements of Finbond Group Limited and the separate financial statements of Finbond Mutual Bank, comprising the 
statements of financial position as at 28 February 2013 and the statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity 
and cash flows for the year then ended for Finbond Group Limited and Finbond Mutual Bank for the six months ended at 
28 February 2013, the notes to the financial statements which include a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory notes and the directors’ report, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the 
requirements of the Companies’ Act of South Africa, for Finbond Group Limited and in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards for Finbond Mutual Bank.

The directors are also responsible for such internal controls as the directors determine are necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, for maintaining 
adequate accounting records and an effective system of risk management as well as the preparation of the supplementary 
schedules included in these financial statements. 

The directors have made an assessment of the ability of the company and its subsidiaries to continue as going concerns 
and have no reason to believe that the businesses will not be going concerns in the year ahead.

The auditor is responsible for the reporting on whether the consolidated and separate financial statements are fairly 
presented in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES AND APPROVAL

Directors’ Responsibility Statement

“One way to keep momentum going is to have constantly greater goals.”
– Michael Korda –

3.7 
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These consolidated and separate annual financial statements have been audited in compliance with section 30 of the 
Act. These consolidated annual financial statements have been prepared under the supervision of Mr. GT Sayers CA(SA), 
Group Chief Financial Officer.

The consolidated and separate annual financial statements of Finbond Group Limited and the separate annual financial 
statements of Finbond Mutual Bank, as identified in the first paragraph, set out on pages 52 to 106, were approved by 
the Board of Directors on 17 May 2013, and were signed on its behalf by:

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Dr. Willie van Aardt
Chief Executive Officer

Dr. Malesela Motlatla
Chairman
  

17 May 2013

NOTICE IN TERMS OF SECTION 29 OF THE COMPANIES ACT OF SOUTH AFRICA, 
ACT 71 OF 2008, (“THE ACT”)

“I believe God is managing affairs and that He doesn’t need any advice from me. With God in charge, 
I believe everything will work out for the best in the end. So what is there to worry about.”

– Henry Ford –
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All members were required to act independently, as described in the Companies Act, the King III code of corporate 
governance and the JSE listings requirements.

The internal and external auditors, in their capacity as assurance providers to the Group also attended and reported to the 
meetings of the committee. The chief financial officer and chief compliance officer are permanent invitees. 

*At the meeting of the Audit Committee on 7 March 2013, Mr. Pentz resigned, and Mr. Emslie took up membership of the 
Committee following his appointment to the board on 7 March 2013.

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The audit committee (“the committee”) has pleasure in submitting its report, as required by section 94 of the Companies 
Act, Act 71 of 2008 (hereafter referred to as “the Companies Act”).    

The committee is a statutory committee appointed by the board of directors, in terms of section 94(2) of the Companies 
Act, Act 71 of 2008, and whose duties were delegated to it by the board during the financial year under review.

The committee acknowledges its responsibilities assigned by the board as well as its mandated tasks, which are outlined 
in the Audit Committee charter which has been set up in accordance with the King III guidelines on best practice corporate 
governance. The audit committee charter contains the terms of reference that govern the mandate and functional 
responsibilities of the committee, which are reviewed periodically in order to ensure alignment with the latest corporate 
governance guidelines and principles. The committee’s roles and responsibilities include the statutory duties as required 
by the Companies Act.

MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE AND ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS 

The committee consists of the non-executive directors listed in the table hereunder and meets at least twice per annum.  
Committee members were appointed at the annual general meeting in terms of the Companies Act.

During the period since 1 March 2012 to date, the following meetings were held:

NAME OF MEMBER NUMBER OF MEETINGS ATTENDED 24 MAY 2012 07 MAR 2013 14 MAY 2013

R. Xaba CA (SA) (Chair)
Adv. J. Noeth
Mr. D. Pentz*
Mr. R. Emslie*

3
3
2
1

Present
Present
Present
N/A

Present
Present
Present*
N/A

Present
Present
N/A
Present*

INTERNAL AUDIT

The committee fulfils an oversight function in respect of the Group’s system of internal financial control. The committee 
is also responsible for ensuring that the Group’s internal audit function remains independent and has the necessary 
resources, standing and authority within the organisation to enable it to discharge its duties. Furthermore, the committee 
oversees the co-operation between the internal and external auditors as assurance providers, as well as serving a link 
between the board of directors and these respective functions.

4.1
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ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The committee has discharged the functions outlined in its charter and ascribed to it in terms of the Companies Act as 
follows:

Reviewing the year-end financial statements, culminating in a recommendation to the board for approval. 
In the course of its review, the committee:    
• 
   
•     
•  
   
•  

   
•      
•  

  
•    
•  
    
•  
•      
•      
•  
    
•     
•  

•  

  
The committee considered the Group’s information pertaining to its non-financial performance as disclosed in the 
integrated report and has assessed its consistency with operational and other information known to committee members, 
and for consistency with the annual financial statements. The committee is satisfied that the sustainability information 
presented, is reliable and consistent with the financial results.    

EXPERTISE AND EXPERIENCE OF FINANCIAL OFFICER AND FUNCTION

As required by the JSE Listings requirement 3.84(h), as well as the recommended practice as per King III, the committee 
has satisfied itself that the chief financial officer has the appropriate expertise and experience. In addition the committee 
also considered and has satisfied itself of the appropriateness of the expertise and adequacy of resources of the finance 
function and the experience of the senior members thereof.

R Xaba
Chair: Audit Committee
  

7 May 2013

Took the necessary steps to ensure that the financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the requirements of the Companies Act;    
Considered and, where appropriate, made recommendations on internal financial controls;   
Ensured that a process is in place to be informed of any reportable irregularities (as per the Auditing Professions Act, 
2005) identified and reported by the external auditor;    
Received and dealt appropriately with any concerns or complaints, whether from within or outside the company, or 
on its own initiative, relating to the accounting practices and internal audit of the Group, the content of the financial 
statements, the internal financial controls of the company or any related matters. During the financial year under 
review, no such matters, concerns or complaints were raised.    
Reviewed the external audit reports of the Group’s annual financial statements;    
Nominated and verified the independence of the external auditors, KPMG Inc, as the auditors for the year under review, 
noting that Mr. Jan Vliegenthart (accredited as such and on the JSE List of Auditors and registered in accordance with 
the Auditing Professions Act, 2005) was appointed as designated auditor for the financial year;  
Determined and approved the audit fees and the terms of engagement of the external auditors;   
Determined, subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, the nature and extent of allowable non-audit services to 
the Group and approved the contract terms thereof;    
Pre-approved any proposed agreement with the external auditors for proposed non-audit services to the Group;
Confirmed and approved the internal audit charter and annual internal audit plan;    
Ensured that risk management procedures are adequate and applicable;    
Reviewed the internal audit reports and, where relevant, made recommendations to the board concerning the Group’s 
accounting policies, financial control, records and reporting;    
Evaluated the effectiveness of internal controls;    
Oversee the integrated reporting process. The committee at its meeting on 7 May 2013, recommended the integrated 
report for approval by the board of directors.
Set the policy for the use of the Auditors for non-audit services. Any engagement for non-audit services needs the 
approval of the committee. 

4.1



Finbond Group Limited & Finbond Mutual Bank Integrated Annual Report 201354

To the Shareholders of Finbond Group Limited and Finbond Mutual Bank
             
We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of Finbond Group Limited and the financial statements 
of Finbond Mutual Bank, which comprise the statements of financial position at 28 February 2013 and the statements 
of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the period then ended, and the notes to the financial 
statements which include a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 
60 to 106.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements of Finbond 
Group Limited in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 
of South Africa, and the financial statements of Finbond Mutual Bank in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entities’ preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entities’ internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 

Opinions 
In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and separate financial 
position of Finbond Group Limited at 28 February 2013, and its consolidated and separate financial performance and 
consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and the financial position of Finbond Mutual 
Bank at 28 February 2013 and its financial performance and cash flows for the period then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards.

Other Reports Required by the Companies Act 
As part of our audit of the financial statements for the year ended 28 February 2013, we have read the Directors’ Report, 
the Audit Committee’s Report and the Company Secretary’s Certificate for the purpose of identifying whether there are 
material inconsistencies between these reports and the audited financial statements. These reports are the responsibility 
of the respective preparers. Based on reading these reports we have not identified material inconsistencies between these 
reports and the audited financial statements. However, we have not audited these reports and accordingly do not express 
an opinion on these reports.

KPMG Inc.
Registered Auditor
Per J Vliegenthart
Chartered Accountant (SA)
Registered Auditor
Director
17 May 2013

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

KPMG Forum 
1226 Francis Baard Street
Hatfield
0083
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The directors present their annual report, which forms part of the audited annual financial statements of the Group, for 
the year ended 28 February 2013.

1. 

     
2.

        

3.

4.

5.     
        

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

Incorporation        
The Company was incorporated in the Republic of South Africa on 20 July 2001 and obtained its certificate to 
commence business on the same day.        
        
Review of activities and operations        
Nature of business        
The Group is primarily engaged in providing branded, solution based micro-finance products to the emerging 
market through low cost delivery platforms in South Africa. The Group commenced the taking of term deposits during 
the financial year following the receipt of a banking licence on 23 July 2012. The Group is also engaged in mortgage 
origination and property investment activities in South Africa.       
 
Review of operations and financial results        
The financial statements on pages 60 to 106 set out fully the financial positions, results of operations and cash flows 
of the Group and the company as well as Finbond Mutual Bank for the financial year ended 28 February 2013. Refer 
to note 37 for segmental information. 
       
The Group net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders for the reporting period amounts to R20 732 731 (2012: 
R13 552 177). The company’s net profit/(loss) for the reporting period amounts to a loss of R3 890 576 (2012: profit 
of R14 259 070).        
        
Going concern        
The annual financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis. This basis presumes that 
management neither intends to cease trading nor has reason to believe that the foreseeable future of the company 
is in doubt.        
        
Events after reporting date        
There are no events after reporting date of significance that require disclosure at this time.    
    
Directors’ interests and shareholding in the Group      
5.1. The company’s directors listed below held the following number of shares in Finbond Group Limited at year-end:

2013 Director
Dr. W van Aardt*
Mr. DC Pentz

-   
 213 703

Direct Indirect

 
270 240 732 

 -   
44.67%
0.04%

Beneficial
Percentage 

held

*Shareholding via Kings Reign Investments (Pty) Ltd, of which Dr. van Aardt was the founder, and of which Dr. van Aardt is a director and the van 
Aardt Family Trust is the ultimate beneficial shareholder with a 100% shareholding in Kings Reign Investments (Pty) Ltd. Dr. van Aardt is the settlor of 
the van Aardt Family Trust. No shares were issued to directors in the current reporting period, except those taken up in the rights issue that closed on 
9 March 2012 which was open to all shareholders. No non-beneficial interests existed.

2012 Director
Dr. W van Aardt*
Mrs. HJ Wilken-Jonker*
Mr. DC Pentz

 -   
 -   

 51 703 

 
 150 013 040 
 150 013 040 

 -   

39.21% *

0.01%

*Shareholding via Kings Reign Investments (Pty) Ltd, of which Dr. van Aardt was the founder, and of which both Dr. van Aardt and Mrs. Wilken-
Jonker are directors and the van Aardt Family Trust is the ultimate beneficial shareholder with a 100% shareholding in Kings Reign Investments (Pty) 
Ltd. Dr. van Aardt is the settlor of the van Aardt Family Trust. On 29 February 2012 Mrs. Wilken-Jonker retired from the Kings Reign (Pty) Ltd board. 
Subsequent to the February 2012 year end, Kings Reign Invetsments (Pty) Ltd acquired a further 120 209 692 shares in the Finbond Rights Offer 
that closed on 9 March 2012. Subsequent to the Finbond Rights Offer Kings Reign (Pty) Ltd held 270 240 732 or 44,67% of the shares in Finbond 
Group Limited.
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 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -
   
 -   

5.2. Directors’ remuneration for services as Director in respect of the financial year ended 28 February 2013 was as 
follows:

Executive  
Dr. W van Aardt  
Mrs. HJ Wilken-Jonker 
 
Mr. DC Pentz  
Mr. GT Sayers  
  
Non-executive  
Dr. MDC Motlatla  
Mr. DC Pentz  
Adv. N Melville  
Mrs. R Xaba  
Adv. JJ Noeth
   
Total  

Fees TotalBonuses
Fringe

BenefitsSalaries
2013
Director

  
4 688 487 
 1 757 336 

 330 107 
 1 584 188 

 259 428 
 62 581 
 51 383 

 122 971 
 155 529 

 
9 012 010 

 
1 243 717 

 465 548 
 -   

 413 250 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 2 122 515 

 
-   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -  
 
 -   

  
 3 444 770 
 1 291 788 
    330 107 
 1 170 938 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -

   
 6 237 603 

 
-   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 259 428 
 62 581 
 51 383 

 122 971 
 155 529 

 
651 892 

Executive  
Dr. W van Aardt
Mrs. HJ Wilken-Jonker
Mr. DC Pentz (until 30 June 2011)
Mr. GW Labuschagne
Mr. GT Sayers
Mr. A Mavrothalassitis

Non-executive  
Dr. MDC Motlatla
Mrs. R Xaba
Mr. DC Pentz 
Adv. JJ Noeth 

Total

Fees TotalBonuses
Fringe

BenefitsSalaries
2012
Director

  
4 425 705 
 1 641 069 

 115 442
 314 741
906 250

1 211 532

 197 835 
78 964 
73 472

 121 829
 

9 086 838

  
1 188 000 

 445 000 
 -   
 -
 -
-

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 1 633 000 

 
-   
 -   
 -   

18 000 
-
-

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -

   
 18 000 

  
3 237 705
1 196 069

115 442
296 741
906 250

1 211 532

-
-
-
-

6 963 738

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
-
-

 197 835 
78 964
 73 472
121 829

 
472 100

6. 

     

        

7.

8.

     
        

Share Capital       
2013        
There were no changes in the authorised share capital of the Company. The following changes took place in the issued 
share capital of the Company during the period under review.       
- 382 025 250 ordinary shares were in issue on 1 March 2012       
- 200 000 000 ordinary shares were issued by way of a rights issue on 12 March 2012    
- 23 000 000 ordinary shares were issued by the company on 21 December 2012      
          
2012        
There were no changes in the authorised or issued share capital of the Company.       
          
Shareholder spread and major shareholders        
Refer to shareholder analysis on page 107.        

Borrowings             
In terms of the articles of association of the Company, the Directors may exercise all the powers of the Company 
to borrow money, as they consider appropriate. During the year, all institutional funding raised by the directors in 
previous periods was settled early (prior to contracted settlement dates at no extra cost) with the sole exception of the 
Standard Chartered Bank facility, which in turn was settled early before the end of March 2013. All shareholders’ loans 
were also all repaid during the period.        
Refer to note 17 for further details.

Dividends
No dividends were declared or paid in respect of 2013 (2012: 0).       
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9.
     
        

10.

11.      

12. 

13.

Directors
The directors of the Company during the year, and to the date of issue of this report are as follows:   

Secretary
There was no change to the company secretary during the year. The secretary of the company is Ms. CD du Plessis of:

The board of directors has considered and is satisfied with the competence, qualifications and experience of the 
company secretary.

Investments in Subsidiaries 
Name of subsidiary      
Finbond Micro Finance (Pty) Limited, formerly known as Blue Chip Finance Western Cape (Pty) Limited (RSA)  
Bondmaster Group (Pty) Limited (RSA)      
Dimension Home Loans Group (Pty) Limited (RSA)      
Finbond Mortgage Origination (Pty) Ltd, formerly known as Independent Bond Originators (Pty) Limited (RSA)  
The Excel Group (Pty) Limited (RSA)       
Bondexcel (Pty) Ltd (RSA)      
Zevoli (Pty) Limited (RSA)       
ABC Cash Loans (Pty) Limited (Namibia)      
Greenflash Trading 220 (Pty) Limited (RSA)      
Mzanzi Finance (Pty) Limited (RSA)      
Guardrisk Insurance Company Ltd (Cell captive arrangement) (RSA)      
Blue Chip Finance Nr 1 (Pty) Limited (RSA)      
Finbond Mutual Bank      

Special Resolutions 
During the year ending 28 February 2013 the following special resolutions were made:     
Resolved that subject to compliance with the requirements of the JSE, the directors of the Company be authorised at 
their discretion to procure that the Company or subsidiaries of the Company acquire by purchase on the JSE ordinary 
shares issued by the Company.        
Resolved that the remuneration of the non-executive directors as set out in the previous annual report, to be paid by 
Finbond Mutual Bank, be fixed from 1 June 2012.        
Resolved that the inter-group loans of the Company, as set out in the previous Annual Report, be ratified for the period 
ended 28 February 2012.

Auditors
KPMG Inc. will continue in office in accordance with section 90(1) of the Companies Act of South Africa, No 71 of 
2008 (as amended).        

 

Appointed

Appointed

Dr. W van Aardt
Mrs. HJ Wilken
Mr. DC Pentz (Mr. Pentz served in both executive and non-executive 
capacities during the year)
Mr. GT Sayers
Dr. MDC Motlatla (Chairman) (Independent non-executive)
Adv. N Melville (Independent non-executive)
Adv. J Noeth (Independent non-executive)
Mrs. RN Xaba (Independent non-executive)
Mr. R Emslie (Independent non-executive)

ChangeFunction/Executive ResponsibilitiesName

  

19 October 2012

7 March 2013

Chief Executive Officer
Chief Compliance Officer

Chief Financial Officer

136A Burger Avenue
Lyttelton
0157

PO Box 14195
Lyttelton
0140

Business Address:

Postal Address:
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REMUNERATION REPORT

Remuneration philosophy        
Being a financial services organisation, the Finbond group is hugely dependent on its human resources apart from others 
for its success. Finbond recognises that its people are critical to enable it to meet its business goals in a dedicated and 
energetic manner. The Group has to ensure that its clients and suppliers enjoy a consistently high client service experience 
with the Group regardless of the level or channel that interaction takes place. The Board determines the broad principles 
for the Group’s remuneration philosophy, taking into consideration the Group’s strategy and objectives.  
 
In order to sustain this on a consistent basis, given the shortage of skills and more specifically in the financial services 
industry, the organisation continuously:        
•   Develops and retains talent that is currently employed in the Group;      
•   Attracts and retains the right people with the appropriate skills to meet the present and future demands; and 
•   Develops a high performance culture in an organisation which is focused on achieving results.    
            
Remuneration committee (Remco)        
Details of the Remco, its members and activities, are set out under the corporate governance statement. The committee 
assists the Board in formulating and monitoring the implementation of the Group’s remuneration policy.   
     
Executive directors’ remuneration        
Executive directors’ remuneration consists of:        
•  A guaranteed package component that includes a cash salary with appropriate travel allowances structured; 
• A cash incentive bonus where rewards are determined against achievement of individual performance criteria and 
annual financial targets; and        
Remco has the authority to approve guaranteed packages that will attract and retain the correct calibre of talent. 
Guaranteed packages are recommended by the Chief Executive Officer after taking into account individual experience, 
current performance and contribution. These are then benchmarked against the market on an annual basis.  
      
Executive directors’ remuneration for the year to 28 February 2013      
  

       
Service contracts        
Each of the executive directors and prescribed officers has a letter of appointment from the Company which are subject 
to a 30-day notice period. The executive directors and prescribed officers retire from their positions and from the Board 
at the age of 60.        
        
Share plans        
The Finbond Employee Incentive Share Scheme was terminated prior to the end of the 2012 financial period.   
             
Non-executive directors’ remuneration for the year to 28 February 2013    
Non-executive directors receive a fixed level of remuneration for their services based on their participation in Board 
meetings and on other committees. The non-executive directors do not participate in incentive bonus schemes, nor have 
they been granted share options. Their remuneration was approved at the previous Annual General Meeting of the 
Group.        
        

Dr. Willie van Aardt 
Mrs. Ina Wilken-Jonker 
Mr. Danie Pentz  
Mr. Gary Sayers

Total
RemunerationBonusSalaryFigures in Rand

  4 688 487 
 1 757 336 

330 107 
 1 584 188 

 1 243 717 
 465 548 

 -   
 413 250 

  3 444 770 
 1 291 788 
    330 107 
 1 170 938 

Dr. Malesela Motlatla
Mr. Danie Pentz
Mrs. Rosetta Xaba
Adv. Neville Melville
Adv. Jasper Noeth

Total
Remuneration

Committee 
fees

Directors’ 
feesFigures in Rand

   259 428 
 62 581 

 122 971 
 51 383 

 155 529 

  159 649 
 39 614 
 54 769 
 15 155 
 84 257 

  99 779 
 22 967 
 68 202 
 36 228 
 71 271 
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COMPANY SECRETARY’S CERTIFICATE

TO THE MEMBERS OF FINBOND GROUP LIMITED AND FINBOND MUTUAL BANK:

In my capacity as Company Secretary, I hereby certify that for the year 28 February 2013, the Company has filed all such 
returns and notices as are required by the Companies Act 71 of 2008 and that all such returns and notices appear to be 
true, correct and up to date.

Dora du Plessis
Company Secretary
  

17 May 2013

“The wise does at once what the fool does at last.”
– Baltasar Gracian  –
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 28 FEBRUARY 2013

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents                                               
Other financial assets                                                         
Loans and advances to customers
Other receivables                                              
Loans to group companies                                                 
Investments in subsidiaries                                                
Property, plant and equipment                                            
Investment property                                                               
Goodwill                                                                                   
Deferred tax

Total Assets

Equity and liabilities
Equity
Share capital and premium                                                                         
Reserves                                                                               
Accumulated profit/ (loss)

Equity attributable to owners 
of the Company
Non-controlling interest

Total equity

Liabilities
Trade and other payables                                                  
Deposits received from customers
Current tax payable                                                              
Finance lease obligation                                                   
Other financial liabilities                                                     
Loans from shareholders/
group companies                                           
Deferred tax                                                                           
                                                                 
Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

201 343  
 -   
 -

15 717 447
22 039 924

473 688 338
-
-
-

21 469 870

533 116 922 

 239 162 377 
 3 913 338 

 28 679 262

 271 754 977
 
 -

   
 271 754 977

 
5 047 469

     -
 -
 -

22 841 529 
233 472 946

-

 261 361 945
 

 533 116 922

Finbond Group Limited 

 
47 032 105

5 570
73 382 758
16 276 138 
37 292 799
51 815 164
12 562 923    

 229 620 000
 59 035 861 

- 
   

 527 023 318 

 201 775 944 
 3 913 339 

 32 569 837
 

 238 259 120
 
 -

   
 238 259 120 

10 999 960    
-
 -

 2 637 314
161 229 815
96 954 976

 16 942 133
 

 288 764 198 

 527 023 318 

  61 071 085 
5 570

122 436 094
3 591 022

155 852 593
- 

16 201 091
233 005 882  
61 262 303

- 
   

 653 425 640 

 457 781 488
(35 939 512)
 11 586 962

 
 433 428 938 

 -   

 433 428 938 

16 580 282 
164 037 998

4 820 108
 240 192 
635 201

-
 

33 682 921

 219 996 702 

 653 425 640 

Finbond Group Limited

2012201320122013NotesFigures in rand

Finbond Mutual
Consolidated Company

2013

Bank

 
63 595 201
25 693 757

122 434 015
9 126 997

- 
 - 

 16 201 091
233 005 882 
61 262 303 

   24 952 193
   

 556 271 439 

 239 162 377 
 4 221 575 

 62 373 552
 

 305 757 504
 

(824 052) 
 

304 933 452 

 
21 884 883

164 037 998
9 502 416 

240 192 
23 488 650

-
  

 32 183 849
  

251 337 987
 

 556 271 439

 
 53 232 659

8 607 373
89 548 617
10 009 544

 -
 - 

  19 058 249
 229 620 000

61 262 303 
5 783 928 

477 122 673 

 201 775 944 
 7 022 371 

 38 839 975
 

 247 638 290 

 (570 054) 
 

247 068 235 

 12 911 382
-

3 053 422 
2 702 079  

174 441 821
20 000 000

16 945 735

 230 054 438

 477 122 673 

14
10
12
13

9
8
6
5
7

11

15
16

19
20

18
17

9

11
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Interest income

Interest expense

Net interest income/margin

Fee income

Management fee income

Other microfinance income

Fair value adjustments 

Net commission expense

Net impairment charge on loans and advances

Operating expenses

Operating profit/(loss)

Dividends from subsidiaries

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries

Impairment of intercompany group loan

Profit/(Loss) before taxation

Taxation 

Profit/(Loss) for the period

Total comprehensive income/total 

comprehensive (loss) for the period

Owners of the company

Non controlling interest

Profit/(loss) for the period attributable to:

Owners of the company

Non controlling interest

Basic earnings/(loss) per share (cents) 

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (cents) 

Headline earnings/(loss) per share (cents)

Diluted headline earnings/(loss) per share (cents) 

21 008 686 

 (14 771 125) 

 6 237 561 

 40 858 675 

 4 688 794 

 15 263 408 

 -   

 (641 062) 

 (13 087 304)

 (69 983 529) 

 (16 663 455)

 8 050 476 

 -   

 -   

 (8 612 979) 

 4 722 403

 (3 890 576) 

 

(3 890 576)

 (3 890 576) 

 -   

 (3 890 576)

 -   

 38 971 793 

 (12 195 461) 

 26 776 332 

 78 319 506 

 -   

 7 776 506 

 22 431 842 

 (846 475) 

 (20 558 043)

 (100 747 145) 

 13 152 522 

 11 183 996 

 (284 335) 

 (706 338) 

 23 345 845 

 (9 086 775) 

 14 259 070 

 

14 259 070 

 14 259 070 

 -   

 14 259 070 

 -   

26 415 531 

 (3 794 642) 

 22 620 889 

 46 607 958 

 3 478 897 

 5 207 569 

 3 100 000 

 (1 298 467) 

 (5 054 634)

 (58 202 565) 

 16 459 647 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 16 459 647 

 (4 872 685) 

 11 586 962 

 

11 586 962 

 11 586 962 

 -   

 11 586 962 

 -   

 52 450 942 

(20 841 795) 

 31 609 147 

 94 019 282 

 -   

 62 051 268 

 3 077 499 

 (1 370 910) 

 (19 825 957)

 (139 845 637) 

 29 714 692 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 29 714 692 

 (9 235 908) 

20 478 784

 

20 478 784

 20 732 781

 (253 997) 

 20 732 781 

(253 997) 

 3.6 

 3.6 

 3.1 

 3.1 

 47 382 983 

 (16 801 690) 

 30 581 294 

 92 305 545 

 -   

 33 707 775 

 22 435 160 

 (39 127) 

 (23 719 091)

 (127 042 430) 

 28 229 125 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 28 229 125 

 (14 805 247) 

 13 423 878 

 

13 423 878 

 13 552 177 

 (128 298) 

 13 552 177 

 (128 298) 

3.5

3.5

(1.3)

(1.3)

21

22

23

24

29

25

26

27

28

8

30

31

38

38

38

38

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Finbond Group Limited

2012201320122013NotesFigures in rand

Finbond Mutual
Consolidated Company

2013

Bank 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
28 FEBRUARY 2013

Finbond Group Limited

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
28 FEBRUARY 2013

FOR THE SIX 
MONTH PERIOD ENDED 

28 FEBRUARY 2013
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CONSOLIDATED
Balance at 1 March 2011
Profit for the period
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive profit for the period
Contributions by and distributions to owners:
Share based payment transactions
Transfer to contingency reserve
Costs associated with Rights Issue
Total transactions with owners
Balance at 29 February 2012
Balance at 1 March 2012
Profit for the period
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive profit for the period
Contributions by and distributions to owners:
Rights issue
Transfer to contingency reserve
Costs associated with Rights Issue
Treasury shares sold
Share issue
Total transactions with owners
Balance at 28 February 2013
Note(s)

COMPANY
Balance at 1 March 2011
Profit for the period
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the period
Contributions by and distributions to owners:
Costs associated with Rights Issue
Share based payment transactions
Total transactions with owners
Balance at 29 February 2012
Profit/(loss) for the period
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period
Rights issue
Costs associated with Rights Issue
Share issue
Treasury shares sold
Total transactions with owners
Balance at 28 February 2013
Note(s)

FINBOND MUTUAL BANK
Balance at 1 September 2012
Profit for the period
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the period
Share issue
Commom control transaction reserve
Balance at 28 February 2013
Note(s)

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE SIX MONTH PERIOD ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 201

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2013

201 793 187 
 -   
 -   
 -   

  -   
 -   

 (17 243) 
 (17 243)

 201 775 944 
 201 775 944 

 -   
 -   
 -   

 20 000 000 
 -   

 (765 102) 
 8 951 540 
 9 199 995 

 37 386 433 
 239 162 377 

 15 

 201 793 187 
 -   
 -   
 -   

 (17 243) 
 -   

 (17 243)
 201 775 944 

 -   
 -   
 -   

 20 000 000 
 (765 102) 

 9 199 995 
8 951 540

 37 386 433 
 239 162 377 

 15 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 457 781 488
-

 457 781 488
 15 

Total Share
Capital

Treasury sharesShare 
Premium

Share
CapitalFigures in rand

 
 211 274 200 

 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 (17 243) 
 (17 243)

 211 256 957 
211 256 957

 -   
 -   
 -   

 19 999 800 
 -   

  (765 102) 
 -   

 9 199 972 
  28 434 670 

239 691 627 
15 

 211 274 200 
 -   
 -   
 -   

 (17 243) 
 -   

 (17 243)
 211 256 957

 -   
 -   
 -   

 19 999 800 
 (765 102) 

 9 199 972
- 

 28 434 670 
 239 691 627 

 15 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 457 781 488
-

 457 781 488
 15 

 
(9 481 395) 

 -   
 -   
 -   

  -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 (9 481 395)
 (9 481 395) 

 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   
 -   

 8 951 540 
 -   

  8 951 540 
 (529 855)

 15 

 (9 481 395) 
 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   
  -   
 -   

 (9 481 395) 
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -
-
-   

 8 951 540
 8 951 540 
 (529 855) 

 15 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -
-   

 -   
 15 

 382 
 -   
 -   
 -   

  -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 382 
 382 

 -   
 -   
 -   

 200 
 -   
 -   
 -   

 23 
 223 
 605 

 15 

 382 
 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   
 -      
 -   

 382 
 -   
 -   
 -   

 200 
 -   

 23 
-

 223 
 605 

 15 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -
-   

 -   
 15 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE SIX MONTH PERIOD ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 201

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2013

 
  7 439 436 

 -   
 -   
 -   

  (1 433 120) 
 1 016 055 

 -   
 (417 065) 

 7 022 371 
 7 022 371 

 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   
 (2 800 796)

 -   
 -   
 -   

 (2 800 796) 
 4 221 575 

 16 

 5 346 459 
 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   
    (1 433 120) 

 (1 433 120) 
 3 913 338

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -
-   

 -   
 3 913 338

 16 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -
-   

 (35 939 512)
 (35 939 512)   

 16 

Reserves

 (441 756) 
 (128 298) 

 -   
 (128 298)

  -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 (570 054) 
 (570 054)
 (253 997) 

 -   
 (253 997)

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
  -   

 (824 052) 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

  -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
  -   
 -   

 -
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -
-   

 -   

 
 235 094 721 

 13 423 878 
 -   

 13 423 878 

 (1 433 120) 
 -   

 (17 243)
 (1 450 363) 

 247 068 235 
 247 068 235 

 20 478 784
 -   

 20 478 784

 20 000 000 
 -   

 (765 102) 
 8 951 540 
 9 199 995 

  37 386 433 
 304 933 452

 225 450 413 
 14 259 070 

 -   
 14 259 070 

 (17 243) 
 (1 433 120)
  (1 450 363) 

 238 259 120 
 (3 890 576) 

 -   
 (3 890 576) 
 20 000 000 

 (765 102) 
 9 199 995
8 951 540 

  37 386 433 
 271 754 977

 -   
 11 586 962 

 -   
 11 586 962 

 457 781 488
(35 939 512)

 433 428 938 

Total
Equity

Non Controlling 
Interest

Total 
Attributable to 
Equity Holders 

of the Company
Accumulated 
Profit/(Loss)

 
 26 303 853
 13 552 177 

 13 552 177 

 -   
 (1 016 055) 

 -   
 (1 016 055) 
 38 839 975 

 38 839 975 
 20 732 781

-
 20 732 781

 -   
 2 800 796 

 -   
 -   
 -   

 2 800 796 
 62 373 552

 18 310 767 
 14 259 070 

 -   
 14 259 070 

 -   
  -   
 -   

 32 569 837 
 (3 890 576) 

 -   
 (3 890 576)

 -   
 -   
 -   
-

 -   
 28 679 262

 -
 11 586 962 

 -   
 11 586 962 

 -
-   

 11 586 962

 
   235 536 477 

 13 552 177 
 -   

 13 552 177 

 (1 433 120) 
 -   

 (17 243)
 (1 450 363) 

 247 638 290 
 247 638 290 

 20 732 781
 -   

 20 732 781

 20 000 000 
 -   

 (765 102) 
 8 951 540 
 9 199 995 

 37 386 433 
 305 757 504

 225 450 413 
 14 259 070 

 -   
 14 259 070

 
 (17 243) 

 (1 433 120)
 (1 450 363) 

 238 259 120 
 (3 890 576)

 -   
 (3 890 576) 
 20 000 000 

 (765 102) 
 9 199 995
8 951 540 

 37 386 433 
 271 754 977

 -
 11 586 962 

 -   
 11 586 962 

 457 781 488
(35 939 512)

 433 428 938
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Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts from customers

Cash paid to suppliers and employees

Cash generated by operating activities   

Increase in net loans and advances

Interest paid

Interest received on cash and cash equivalents

Taxation paid

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from 

operating activities

Cash flows to/from investing activities

Property, plant and equipment acquired   

Proceeds on disposals of property, plant and equipment

Dividends received

(Decrease)/increase in loans from group 

companies/shareholders

(Decrease)/increase in financial assets

Expenditure to maintain and expand 

operating capacity

Common control transaction

Expenditure for expansion

Net cash (to)/from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Shares issued

Finance lease payments

Funding/other financial liabilities raised

Funding/other financial liabilities (repaid)

Share premium expenses   

Net cash from/(to) financing activities

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period   

 77 690 251 

 (59 020 455) 

 18 669 796 

 (25 076 367)

 (17 199 960) 

 461 542 

 (82 583)

 (23 227 572) 

 (940 805) 

3 873 403   

8 050 476

 92 702 932

 

-

 103 686 006

 (23 179 214)

 (23 179 214) 

80 506 792

 18 151 535 

 (1 988 870)

 13 185 000 

 (132 692 545)

 (765 102) 

 (104 109 982)

 (46 830 762) 

 47 032 105 

 201 343 

 

 121 246 036 

 (91 093 704) 

 30 152 332 

 (26 020 549) 

 (13 941 086)

 727 057 

 -   

 (9 082 246) 

  (3 264 343)

 1 071 060 

 11 183 996 

 2 118 319

 

 -   

 11 109 031

 

 -   

 -   

 11 109 031 

 -      

 (1 852 957) 

 42 000 000 

 (25 418 360) 

 (17 244)

 14 711 439 

 16 738 224 

 30 293 880 

 47 032 105 

 238 678 523 

(41 619 772) 

197 058 751

 (34 521 113)

 (3 070 862) 

 471 320 

 -

 159 938 096

(1 626 414)

 -   

 -   

 (122 403 181)

 

-

 (124 029 595)

 

 25 030 990

 25 030 990

 (98 998 605) 

 -   

  (503 607)

 1 320 201

(685 000)

 -   

131 594

61 071 085 

 -   

 61 071 085 

 

 305 148 732 

(47 194 459)

257 954 273

(69 455 541) 

 (20 325 191)

 2 206 483 

 (6 970 681) 

 163 409 343

 (3 068 663) 

 3 136 871

 -

-

    

 (17 086 384)

 (17 018 176)

 

 -

-

 (17 018 176)

18 151 535 

(2 461 887) 

 13 185 000 

 (164 138 171) 

 (765 102)

 (136 028 625) 

10 362 542 

 53 232 659 

 63 595 201 

 

 143 238 735 

 (85 221 786) 

 58 016 949 

 (31 019 869) 

 (15 545 062)

 1 356 862 

 (6 396 638) 

 6 412 243 

 (3 450 801) 

 1 257 330 

 -   

 11 944 701

 

 (2 315 071) 

 7 436 158

 -

 -   

 7 436 158 

 -      

 (1 927 339) 

 42 000 000 

 (37 609 360) 

 (17 244)

 2 446 057 

 16 294 458 

 36 938 201 

 53 232 659 

32

33

6

6

34

15

18

17

17

15

14

14

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

Finbond Group Limited

2012201320122013NotesFigures in rand

Finbond Mutual
Consolidated Company

2013

Bank 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
28 FEBRUARY 2013

Finbond Group Limited

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
28 FEBRUARY 2013

FOR THE SIX 
MONTH PERIOD ENDED 

28 FEBRUARY 2013
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Finbond Group Limited “the company” is a listed entity and Finbond Mutual Bank “the bank” is a mutual bank domiciled 
in South Africa. The consolidated results for Finbond Group Limited and all its subsidiaries (including Finbond Mutual Bank) 
are referred to as “the Group” in this annual report.

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated and separate financial statements are 
set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. Accounting 
policies have been consistently applied through subsidiaries in the Group.

The Group’s consolidated and separate financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS)and the AC 500 series, as issued by the Accounting Practices Board, the JSE Listing Requirements 
and the requirements of the Companies Act 2008. The consolidated and separate financial statements have been prepared 
on the historical cost basis as modified by the revaluation of investment property and available for sale financial assets 
recognised at fair value. 

The functional currency of company and presentation currency of the Group and the separate company is South African 
Rand (ZAR). Amounts are presented rounded to the nearest rand.

Significant accounting estimates and judgements
In preparing the annual financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the amounts represented in the annual financial statements and related disclosures. Use of available information and 
the application of judgement is inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from these 
estimates which may be material to the annual financial statements. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on 
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which estimates are revised and in any 
future periods. Significant estimates and judgements include:

Impairment losses on loans and advances
Loans and advances are stated net of identified impairments and incurred but unidentified impairments. An impairment loss 
in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between it’s carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate.

Financial assets that are not individually impaired, are collectively assessed for impairment by grouping together items with 
similar risk characteristics.

The Group and separate company reviews its loan portfolios to assess impairment on a monthly basis. In determining 
whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the statement of comprehensive income, the Group makes judgements 
as to whether there are any observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash 
flows from a portfolio of loans (known as loss events), before the decrease can be identified with an individual loan in that 
portfolio. This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the payment status 
of borrowers in a group, a breach of contract such as a default or delinquency in payment for an individual borrower, or 
local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in that group. 

Management uses estimates based on industry trends as well as historical loss experience for assets with similar credit 
risk characteristics for both identified impairment as well as incurred but unidentified impairment. The methodology and 
assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any 
differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience. Judgemental and non judgemental inputs are required in 
estimating future cash flows.

In addition to impairment estimates for assets with recognised objective evidence of impairment, estimates are made for 
impairments associated with assets that are impaired but for which objective evidence of impairment is not yet available. 
Estimates are based primarily on industry trends for this class of impairment.

Impairment testing on goodwill and intangible assets
The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and individual assets have been determined based on the higher of 
value-in-use calculations and fair values, less costs to sell. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions. 
It is reasonably possible that the assumption may change which may impact estimations and may then require adjustment 
to the carrying value of goodwill and intangible assets.

The Group and separate company reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in circumstances 
suggest that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. In addition, goodwill is tested on an annual basis for impairment. 

1.

1.1.

3.8 | 3.11
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Assets are grouped at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of cash flows of other assets 
and liabilities. If there are indications that impairment may have occurred, estimates are prepared of expected future cash 
flows for each group of assets. The value in use is assessed by discounting estimated future cash flows to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects market assessments of the time value of money and the risk specific to the asset 
or Cash Generating Unit (“CGU”).

Expected future cash flows used to determine the value in use of goodwill and intangible assets are inherently uncertain and 
could materially change over time. They are significantly affected by a number of factors including production estimates, 
supply demand, together with economic factors such as interest rate fluctuations.

Also refer accounting policy note 1.5 below.

Amortisation of intangible assets
Management follow the guidance in IAS 38 in assessing the useful lives of their trademarks and brand names. This 
determination requires significant judgement. 

Also refer accounting policy notes 1.4 and 1.5 below.

Investment property
The directors draw attention to the risks associated with property investments. Although over the long term property is 
considered a low risk asset, investors must be aware that significant short and medium term risk factors are inherent in the 
asset class. Investments in property are relatively illiquid and usually more difficult to realise than listed equities or bonds and 
this restricts the Group’s ability to realise value in cash in the short term. The property valuations in this period have been 
prepared in a period of market uncertainty. The current turmoil in the world’s financial markets has resulted in commercial 
and residential properties selling in much reduced quantities with virtually little or no market activity in some areas. The lack 
of market activity and the resulting lack of market evidence means that it is generally not possible to value with as high a 
degree of certainty as would be the case in a more stable market with a good level of market evidence. The best evidence 
of fair value is current prices in an active market for similar property investments. In obtaining evidence to support fair value 
the Group has gone to great lengths and obtained and considered information from a variety of sources. For full detail refer 
to note 5.

Insurance claims provisions
Insurance risks are unpredictable and the company recognises that it is difficult to forecast with absolute precision future 
claims payable under existing insurance contracts.

The Group’s managing agent primarily manages insurance programs in cell structures and where information for a 
particular program is not available, they use industry data for determining the liability for claims incurred but not reported 
for the company’s cell (IBNR provision).

The Group’s managing agent uses industry data accumulated on the Alexander Forbes Risk and Insurance Services claim 
system (MCS) to develop an estimate of the incurred but not reported (IBNR) according to specific classifications. The claims 
have been classified in eight categories of risk as defined by the Short Term Insurance Act, 53 of 1998.

For the IBNR calculations, the Inflation Adjusted Chain Ladder or the Bornhuetter-Ferguson method is used. The Inflation 
Adjusted Chain Ladder method is used in order to deal with the past inflation. It is assumed that the claims inflation is at 
the same annual rate for all claims within particular calendar year of payment. The chain ladder technique is based on the 
assumption that payments from each underwriting year will develop in the same way. It is assumed that weighted average 
past inflation will be repeated in the future. The Bornhuetter-Ferguson method combines the estimated loss ratio with a 
projection method. The main concept behind this method is, whatever claims have already developed in relation to a given 
origin year, the future development pattern will follow that experience for other origin years. 

“Ten years of data was used to determine the IBNR for the liability classes of business. As the aforementioned methods use 
historical claims development information, they assume that the historical claims development patterns will occur again in 
the future. There are reasons why this may not be the case, which, insofar as they can be identified, have been allowed for 
by modifying the methods. Such items include:
- changes in processes that effect the development/recording of claims paid and incurred; 
- economic, legal, political and social trends; 
- changes in mix of business; and 
- random fluctuations, including the impact of large losses.”

Taxation
Judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes due to the complexity of legislation. There are many 
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. 
The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. 
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will 
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
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The Group and separate company recognises the net future tax benefit related to deferred income tax assets to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised. 
Assessing the recoverability of deferred income tax assets requires the Group to make significant estimates related to 
expectations of future taxable income. Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecast cash flows from operations 
and the application of existing tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future cash flows and taxable income differ 
significantly from estimates, the ability of the Group to realise the net deferred tax assets recorded at the reporting date 
could be impacted.

Investment property
Investment property is initially recognised at cost. Transaction costs are included in the initial measurement. Costs include 
costs incurred initially and costs incurred subsequently to add to, or to replace a part of, or service a property. 

Property interests held under operating leases are not classified and accounted for as investment property. Investment 
property comprises land and non-owner occupied buildings held to earn rentals and for capital appreciation.

Investment property is subsequently measured at fair value based on an independent valuation. A gain or loss arising from 
a change in fair value is included in net profit or loss for the period in which it arises.

Transfers to, or from, investment property are made when there is a change in use from investment property to owner-
occupied property. The investment property will be carried at fair value up to the date of change in use and derecognised. 
After derecognition the owner-occupied property will be recognised as property in accordance with IAS16 and carried at its 
fair value at the date of change in use.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is initially recognised at cost and is subsequently carried at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and any impairment losses.
Depreciation is provided on all property, plant and equipment to write down the cost, less residual value, on a straight-line 
basis over the estimated useful lives of the asset and is consistant with prior year, as follows:

Leasehold Property   6 years
Furniture and fixtures   6 years
Office equipment (including leased)  6 years
IT equipment    3 years
Computer Software   2 years
Leasehold Improvements   6 years
Motor Vehicles    5 years
Property      Property consists of land and buildings. Land is not depreciated. Buildings 
     are not depreciated as residual value approximates the useful life.

The residual value and the useful life of each asset is reviewed annually and adjusted if appropriate.

Each component part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost 
of the item is depreciated separately. Subsequent expenditure is included in the assets carrying amount or are recognised 
as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Group and the cost 
of the item can be measured reliably. Repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of comprehensive income in 
the period in which the expense is incurred. The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in profit or loss unless it 
is included in the carrying amount of another asset.

The Group reviews and tests the carrying value of property, plant and equipment when events or changes in circumstances 
suggest that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Assets are grouped at the lowest level for which identifiable cash 
flows are largely independent of cash flows of other assets and liabilities. If there are indications that impairment may have 
occurred, estimates are prepared of expected future cash flows for each group of assets.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in profit or loss 
when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the recognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item.

Goodwill
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s interest 
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. For business combinations prior to 28 
February 2010 transaction costs related to the acquisition were capitalised to the cost of the business combination, while for 
business combinations after 1 March 2010 all transaction costs are expensed.

Subsequently goodwill is carried at cost less any accumulated impairment. Testing for impairment is performed annually by 
an independent valuator.

The gain on a bargain purchase price is immediately recognised in profit or loss.

1.2.

1.3.
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Contingent consideration before 28 February 2010 was recognised as soon as payment became probable and the amount 
could be measured reliably. The price was subsequently adjusted against goodwill as the estimate of the amount payable 
was revised. Any shares issued subsequent to the date of acquisition in settlement of such contingent consideration was 
recorded at the share price on the date that the shares were issued, with a resultant adjustment to goodwill and the share 
reserve within equity.

Subsequent to 1 March 2010, goodwill is no longer adjusted for the changes in facts and circumstances related to contingent 
consideration. Contingent consideration is recognised at fair value on date of acquisition, with any subsequent changes 
recognised in profit or loss.

Contingent consideration that is settled through the issue of shares is classified as equity and recorded within a separate 
share reserve in the statement of changes in equity. 

Internally generated goodwill is not recognised as an asset.

Intangible assets
Separately acquired trademarks and brand names are shown at historical cost. Trademarks and brand names acquired in a 
business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Trademarks and brand names have a finite useful 
life of 5 years, which is unchanged from prior years and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is 
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of trademarks and brand names over their estimated useful 
lives. The useful lives are reassessed on an annual basis. Internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer 
lists and items similar in substance are not recognised as intangible assets.

Basis of consolidation and business combinations

Group annual financial statements
“Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. 
The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when 
assessing whether the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is 
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.”

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of an 
acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at 
the date of exchange. Costs directly attributable to the acquisition were capitalised to the cost of the acquisition prior to 28 
February 2010, but are expensed for business combinations from 1 March 2010. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, 
irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share 
of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net 
assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the statement of comprehensive income.

“Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.”

Also refer to Goodwill, note 1.4 above.

A joint venture is an entity over which the Group has joint control. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of 
control over an entity, and exists only when the strategic financial and operating decisions relating to the activity require the 
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. If the Group’s share of losses of a joint venture exceeds its interest in the 
joint venture, the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using 
the proportionate consolidation method.

A business combination involving entities or businesses under common control is a business combination in which all 
of the combining entities or businesses are ultimately controlled by the same party or parties both before and after the 
combination, and control is not transitory. Common control transactions are accounted for using book value accounting, 
whereby all assets acquired and all liabilities assumed are recognised at their carrying amount in the financial statements 
of the parent, as at the acquisition date. Any excess or premium paid for the acquisition of the net assets of the business 
acquired shall be recognised directly in equity.

Company annual financial statements
In the Company’s separate annual financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment.

The cost of an investment in a subsidiary is the aggregate of:
•  The fair value, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by 
    the Company; plus

1.5.
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•  Any costs directly attributable to the purchase of the subsidiary.

An adjustment to the cost of a business combination contingent on future events is included in the cost of the combination if 
the adjustment is probable and can be measured reliably.

Determination and presentation of operating segments
The Group determines and presents operating segments based on the information that internally is provided to the CEO, 
who is the Group’s chief operating decision maker, as per IFRS 8 Operating Segments.

Segment results that are reported to the CEO include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be 
allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly insignificant corporate assets, unallocated head office 
expenses, and income tax assets and liabilities, which are reported as reconciling.

On a primary basis, the Group is organised into four major operating divisions, namely; microfinance, mortgage origination, 
property investment and deposit taking. These divisions are the basis on which the Group reports its primary segment 
information for internal purposes. The Group operates in one principal geographical area of the world, namely South Africa.

Financial instruments

Initial recognition
The Group and separate company classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a 
financial asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s statement of financial position and the separate 
company’s statement of financial position when the Group and/or separate company becomes party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset 
have expired or where the Group and/or separate company has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

Fair value determination
The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. If the market for a financial asset is not active (and 
for unlisted securities) the Group and separate company establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These include 
the use of recent arm’s length transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash 
flow analysis, and option pricing models making maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as possible on entity-
specific inputs.

The Group and separate company classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance 
of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:
•  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1);
•  Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (ie as 
    prices) or indirectly (ie derived from prices) (Level 2); and
•  Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety is determined on the 
basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. For this purpose, the significance 
of an input is assessed against the fair value measurement in its entirety. If a fair value measurement uses observable inputs 
that require significant adjustment based on unobservable inputs, that measurement is a Level 3 measurement. Assessing 
the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgement, considering factors 
specific to the asset or liability.

Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest 
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
(including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and 
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those financial assets designated as at 
fair value through profit or loss.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its 
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Compound instruments
The component parts of compound instruments issued by the Group are classified separately as financial liabilities and 
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability 
component is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for similar non-convertible instrument.

1.7.
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This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis using the effective interest method until extinguished upon 
conversion or at the instrument’s maturity date. The equity component is determined by deducting the amount of the liability 
component from the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. This is recognised and included in equity, net of 
income tax effects, and is not subsequently remeasured.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified as either held for trading, financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, or other 
financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are classified as at fair value through profit or loss where the financial 
liability is either held for trading or it is designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:
•  it has been incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing in the near future; or
•  it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Group manages together and has a recent actual 
    pattern of short-term profit-taking; or
•  it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading may be designated as at fair value through profit or loss 
upon initial recognition if:
•  such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise 
    arise; or
•  the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its 
    performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s documented risk management or 
    investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or
•  it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition 
    and Measurement permits the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at fair value through profit 
    or loss.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in 
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial liability.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire.

Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities, including borrowings and redeemable preference shares, are initially measured at fair value, net 
of transaction costs.

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest 
expense recognised on an effective yield basis. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost 
of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. 

Loans to/(from) group companies
These include loans to/ (from) holding companies, fellow subsidiaries, subsidiaries and joint ventures and are recognised 
initially at fair value plus direct transaction costs.

Subsequently these loans are measured as loans and receivables at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method 
less any impairment loss recognised to reflect irrecoverable amounts.

On loans receivable an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that it is impaired. 
The impairment is measured as the difference between the investment’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.

Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods when an increase in the investment’s recoverable amount can be 
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction that the carrying 
amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed shall not exceed what the amortised cost would have been 
had the impairment not been recognised.
Loans and advances and other receivables
Loans and advances and other receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value, plus directly attributable 
transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Appropriate 
allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the 
asset is impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as the difference between the assets carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.

Trade and other payables
Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, less directly attributable transaction costs, and are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, current bank accounts, demand deposits and other short-term highly 
liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes 
in value. Cash and cash equivalents are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Bank overdrafts and borrowings
Bank overdrafts and borrowings are initially measured at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs, and are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. Any difference between the proceeds (net 
of transaction costs) and the settlement or redemption of borrowings is recognised over the term of the borrowings in 
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs.

Other financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale and that are 
not classified in any of the categories below.

Investments are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis where the purchase or sale of an investment is under 
a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market concerned. These 
investments are measured initially and subsequently at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are 
recognised directly in equity until the security is disposed of or is determined to be impaired at which time the cumulative 
gain or loss previously recognised in equity is included in the profit or loss for the period.

Impairment  losses  recognised  in  profit  or  loss  for  equity  investments  classified  as  available-for-sale  are  not  
subsequently reversed through profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss for debt instruments classified as 
available-for- sale are subsequently reversed if an increase in the fair value of the instrument can be objectively related to 
an event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value, less directly attributable transaction costs, and are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Appropriate allowances for estimated 
irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. The 
allowance recognised is measured as the difference between the assets carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.

Held to maturity financial assets
If the Group has the positive intent and ability to hold debt securities to maturity, then such financial assets are classified as 
held-to-maturity. These financial assets are initially measured at fair value plus direct transaction costs.

Held to maturity investments are recorded at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment, with 
revenue recognised on an effective yield basis.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Mandatorily redeemable preference shares are classified as liabilities (also refer 
note 15).

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, 
from the proceeds.

Where any Group company purchases the Company’s equity share capital (treasury shares), the consideration paid, including 
any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable to the Company’s 
equity holders until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration 
received, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the related income tax effects, is included in equity 
attributable to the Company’s equity holders.

Taxation
Current tax assets and liabilities
Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid in 
respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset. Dividend 
withholding tax on companies is calculated in terms of the applicable law and disclosed as part of the tax expense on the 
statement of comprehensive income.

Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered 
from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting 
date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities
A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences using the liability method based on the expected 

1.9.

1.10.



Finbond Group Limited & Finbond Mutual Bank Integrated Annual Report 201372

manner of recovery, i.e. sale or use at an effective rate of 18.67% or 28% respectively (2012: 18.67% or 28%), except to the 
extent that the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a 
business combination and at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences using the liability method based on the expected 
manner of recovery, i.e. sale or use at an effective rate of 18.67% or 28% respectively (2012: 18.67% or 28%), to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised. A 
deferred tax asset is not recognised when it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction by which, 
at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for the carry forward of unused tax losses and unused STC credits to the extent that it 
is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses and unused STC credits can be 
utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is 
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
reporting date.

Tax expenses
Current taxation is the expected tax payable/receivable on the income tax income/loss for the period. Current tax consists of 
both income tax on profit/loss and dividend withholding taxes, payable on net dividends declared.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited directly to equity or other comprehensive income if the tax relates 
to items that are credited or charged in the same or a different period, directly to equity or other comprehensive income .

Expected manner of realisation for deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided for on the fair value adjustments of investment properties based on the expected manner of 
recovery, i.e. sale or use. This manner of recovery affects the rate used to determine the deferred tax liability. 
Refer note 11 - Deferred tax.

Leases
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership to the 
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Finance leases – lessee
Finance leases are recognised as assets in the statement of financial position at amounts equal to the lower of the fair value 
of the leased property and the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is 
included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

The discount rate used in calculating the present value of the minimum lease payments is the interest rate implicit in the 
lease.

The lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and reduction of the outstanding liability.  The finance 
charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability.

Operating leases – lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The asset recognised as part of the finance lease is accounted for in accordance to the policies applicable to property, plant 
and equipment.

Operating leases – lessor
Operating lease revenues are recognised as an income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits
The costs of short-term employee benefits are recognised in the period in which the service is rendered and are not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense and associated liability as the employees render 
services that increase their entitlement or in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a constructive obligation to make such 
payments as a result of past performance.

1.11.

1.12.



Finbond Group Limited & Finbond Mutual Bank Integrated Annual Report 2013 73

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents the amounts receivable for 
goods and services provided in the normal course of business net of trade discounts and volume rebates, and value added 
tax, and in the case off commission, net of related commission expenses.

Revenue is derived substantially from the business of banking and related activities and comprises net interest income and 
non-interest revenue.

Interest income and expenses are recognised in profit and loss for all interest bearing instruments on an accrual basis using 
the effective interest rate method.

Service fees included in the price of the product are recognised as revenue over the period during which the service is 
performed.

Initiation fees, the portion of the loan origination fees that relate to the creation of the financial asset, are deferred and 
recognised, in profit or loss, using the effective interest rate method as per IAS18.

Commission revenue is recognised at the later of transfer at the deeds office and formal grant date from the bank.

Rental revenue is recognised on a straight line basis over the term of the lease contract.

Operating profit is defined as the residual profit or loss from all operations before accounting for tax, dividends and non-
trading items and has been consistently applied in annual financial statements.

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs/interest expense is recognised for all instruments measured at amortised cost, in profit or loss, using the 
effective interest rate method.

Share based compensation
“The Group operates an equity-settled share-based compensation plan under which the entity receives services from 
employees as consideration for equity instruments (options) of the Group. The fair value of the employee services received 
in exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as an expense. The total amount to be expensed is determined by 
reference to the fair value of the options granted, excluding the impact of any non-market service and performance vesting 
conditions (for example, profitability, sales growth targets and remaining an employee of the entity over a specified time 
period). Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to 
vest. The total amount expensed is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified 
vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At each reporting date, the entity revises its estimates of the number of options that are 
expected to vest based on the non-marketing vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, 
if any, in the statement of comprehensive income, with a corresponding adjustment to equity. The proceeds received net of 
any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share premium when the options 
are exercised.”

Accounting for Cell Captive Arrangement
Consolidation
The cell captive arrangement with Guardrisk Insurance Company Limited  (“Guardrisk”) is deemed to meet the definition 
of a Special Purpose Entity (“SPE”) in terms of SIC 12 (AC412) Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities mainly as a result 
of the company’s right (as preference share holder) in the cell to obtain the majority of the future economic benefits and 
carries the risk of insurance losses and variable cash flows. The business of the cell is therefore consolidated in the Group 
by consolidating the underwriting and investment results of insurance contract underwritten in the cell arrangement with 
Guardrisk. 
The cell captive arrangement with Guardrisk has been created through a preference shareholders’ agreement. The 
Company, as the cell’s shareholder, is allocated the economic benefits from the underwriting and investment activities in the 
cell. Conversely, the Company, as the cell’s owner, is accountable for any losses to the extent that the cell has funds available 
of offset against the losses. Future profits that arise in the cell or recapitalisation by the cell owner (that is the obligation of 
the company as the cell’s owner) will be utilised to offset losses in excess of the funds available.

This cell arrangement enables the Group to provide the opportunity to its own client base to purchase branded life insurance 
products where an existing life insurance policy cannot be ceded to the company as security for the amount borrowed.

This cell arrangement further enables the Group to purchase a cell in the registered insurance company (Guardrisk) which 
undertakes the professional insurance and financial management of the cell, including underwriting, reinsurance, claims 
management, actuarial and statistical analyses and investment and accounting services.

1.13.

1.14.

1.15.

1.16.

1.17.
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Insurance premium revenue 
Premiums are recognised as revenue as and when the cash premium is received and is shown as part of “other micro 
finance income”.

Premiums are shown before deduction of commission and are gross of any taxes or duties levied on premiums. 

Insurance claims incurred
Claims are charged to income as incurred based on the estimated liability for compensation owed to contract holders. They 
arise from events that have occurred up to the reporting date even if they have not yet been reported to the company. The 
company does not discount its liabilities for unpaid claims. Liabilities for unpaid claims are estimated using the input of 
assessments for individual cases reported to the company or its agent and statistical analyses for the claims incurred but not 
reported, and an estimate of the expected ultimate cost of more complex claims that may be affected by external factors 
(such as court decisions).

Common control reserve 
The common control reserve comprises of the difference of value in shares issued by Finbond Mutual Bank and the net asset  
value of assets and liabilities transfered from Finbond Group Limited to Finbond Mutual Bank as part of a common control 
transaction.

1.18.
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Standards effective in the reporting period, applied by the Group from 1 March 2012    
             
The following interpretations have been applied by the Group and Company from 1 March 2012:    
 IFRS 9 Financial instruments (2010) and IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (2009).

Standards not yet effective in the reporting period, early adopted by the Group and Company from                   
1 March 2012      

No statements not yet effective in the reporting period, were early adopted during the financial year ending 28 February 
2013.

Standards not yet effective in the reporting period, and not early adopted by the Group and Company in 
the current reporting period

The following standards and amendments to existing standards have been published and are mandatory for accounting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 or later periods, but the Group has not early adopted them. Management 
have assessed these standards and determined that the following standards to have a possible impact on the Group and 
Company:

2. 

3.

4.

2.3 | 3.8 

Improvements to IFRSs 2012 - Amendments to IFRS 13: Fair value measurement (effective 1 January 2013). IFRS 
13 provides a single source of guidance on how fair value is measured, and replaces the fair value measurement 
guidance that is currently dispersed throughout IFRS. Subject to limited exceptions, IFRS 13 is applied when fair 
value measurements or disclosures are required or permitted by other IFRSs. The Group is currently reviewing 
its methodologies for determining fair value. Although many of the IFRS 13 disclosure requirements regarding 
financial assets and financial liabilities are already required, the adoption of IFRS 13 will require the Group to 
provide additional disclosures. These include fair value hierarchy disclosures for non-financial assets/liabilities 
and disclosures on fair value measurements that are categorised in Level 3. IFRS 13 is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2013 with early adoption permitted.

Improvements to IFRSs 2012 - Amendments to IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements - Presentation of items 
of Other Comprehensive Income (effective 1 July 2012)

Improvements to IFRSs 2012 - Amendments to IAS 12: Income taxes - Recovery of underlying assets (effective         
1 January 2012)

Improvements to IFRSs 2012 - Amendments to IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment (effective 1 January 2013)

Improvements to IFRSs 2012 - Amendments to IAS 19: Employee Benefits - Defined benefit plans (effective                 
1 January 2013) IAS 19 (2011) changes the definition of short-term and other long-term employee benefits to 
clarify the distinction between the two. For defined benefit plans, removal of the accounting policy choice for 
recognition of actuarial gains and losses is not expected to have any impact on the Group. IAS 19 (2011) is 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 with early adoption permitted.

Improvements to IFRSs 2012 - Amendments to IAS 27: Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements                            
(1 January 2014)

Improvements to IFRSs 2012 - Amendments to IAS 28: Investments in Associates (effective 1 January 2013)

Improvements to IFRSs 2012 - Amendments to IAS 32: Financial Instruments: Presentation - Gross amounts subject 
to rights of set-off (effective 1 January 2013)
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5. 

5.1.

5.2.

5.3.

Investment  property  
Cost  
Revaluation  
Carrying value  
  
Reconciliation of investment property  
Opening Balance  
Additions  
Disposal  
Additions resulting from capitalised expenditure  
Transfer to property, plant and equipment  
Fair value adjustments  
Total  
    
Carrying value of assets pledged as security  
Erf 128 Waterkloof Ridge  
The property is subject to a mortgage bond with 
ABSA Bank. Terms and conditions in note 17.  
Dullstroom Country Estate  
Portions 15,17,19,22,25,27,29,33,35,37,41,45,
49,51 of Farm Morgenzon 122 J.T.  
Portions 28,36,40,66 of Farm Kareekraal 135 J.T.  
Portions 16,18,20,21,24,26,28,30,32,34,38,39,
44,46,48,50,52 of Farm Morgenzon 122 J.T.  
Erf 7/315 and 8/315 Hatfield, Pretoria   

Details of property  
Erf 128 Waterkloof Ridge  
Purchase price  
Adjustment to fair value  
Capitalised expenditure  
 
Dullstroom Country Estate  
Portions 15,16,17,18,19,20,21,22,24,25,26,27,
28,29,30,32,33,34,35,37,38,39,41,44,45,46,48,
49,50,51,52 of Farm Morgenzon 122 J.T.  
Purchase price  
Portions 28,36,40,66 of Farm Kareekraal 135 J.T.  
Purchase price  
Adjustment to fair value  
Capitalised expenditure  
   
Portion 10,11 and remaining extent of 
Portion 6 of Farm Zwartkoppies 316 J.T.  
Purchase price  
Adjustment to fair value  
Capitalised expenditure  
   
Erf 7/315 and 8/315 Hatfield, Pretoria  
Purchase Price  
Adjustment to fair value  
Capitalised expenditure  

 -   
 -   
 -   

 229 620 000 
 -   

 (229 620 000) 
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

-

-

-
 -   

 -   

 -   

 -
-
-
-

 -   

-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-

Finbond Group Limited 

 
 42 592 696 

 187 027 305 
 229 620 000 

 207 000 000 
 -   

 188 158 
 -   

 22 431 842 
 229 620 000 

 3 900 000 

 16 560 000 
 

4 320 000 
 20 340 000 

 24 000 000 

 69 120 000 

 1 636 796 
 2 187 671 

 75 533 
 3 900 000 

 16 820 000 

 1 471 992 
 22 767 515 

 160 493 
 41 220 000 

 16 723 826 
 143 583 461 

 192 713 
 160 500 000 

 5 511 343 
 18 488 657 

 24 000 000 

 43 066 736 
 189 939 146 
233 005 882 

-
 229 620 000 

-
 285 882 

 -   
 3 100 000 

 233 005 882 

 3 900 000 

 16 560 000 
 

4 320 000 
 20 340 000 

 25 707 571 

 70 827 571 

 1 636 796 
 2 187 671 

 75 533 
 3 900 000 

 16 820 000 

 1 471 992 
 22 686 512 

 241 496 
 41 220 000 

 16 723 826 
 144 976 305 

 478 180 
 162 178 311 

 5 511 343 
 20 088 657 

 107 571 
 25 707 571 

Finbond Group Limited

2012201320122013Figures in rand

Finbond Mutual
Consolidated Company

2013

Bank

 43 066 736 
 189 939 146 
 233 005 882 

 229 620 000 
 -   
-

 285 882 
 -   

 3 100 000 
 233 005 882 

3 900 000 

 16 560 000 
 

4 320 000 
 20 340 000 

 25 707 571 

 70 827 571 

1 636 796 
 2 187 671 

 75 533 
 3 900 000 

 16 820 000 

 1 471 992 
 22 686 512 

 241 496 
41 220 000 

 16 723 826 
 144 976 305 

 478 180 
 162 178 311 

 5 511 343 
 20 088 657 

 107 571 
 25 707 571 

 
42 592 696 

 187 027 305 
 229 620 000 

 207 000 000 
 -   

 188 158 
 -   

 22 431 842 
 229 620 000 

 3 900 000 

 16 560 000 
 

4 320 000 
 20 340 000 

 24 000 000 

 69 120 000 

 1 636 796 
 2 187 671 

 75 533 
 3 900 000 

 16 820 000 

 1 471 992 
 22 767 515 

 160 493 
 41 220 000 

 16 723 826 
 143 583 461 

 192 713 
 160 500 000 

 5 511 343 
 18 488 657 

-
 24 000 000 
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5.4. Details of valuation
       
Erf 128 Waterkloof Ridge 
      
The valuation performed by independent valuator, Mr. R.S. Monteiro (Dip. Comp. Prog.) of Quality Valuations t/a Q-Val 
using the market value, ABSA house price indices and SAPTG reports as the method of valuation on 29 February 2012 was 
updated in the current year by way of an opinion obtained from Mr. Monteiro confirming the valuation as unchanged as 
at 28 February 2013. Q-Val is not connected to the company and have recent experience in location and category of the 
investment properties being valued.       
        
 Sustainable net annual income   -         
 Direct operating expenses    59 783       
        
Dullstroom Country Estate       
Valuations were performed by independent valuators, Mr. O Bolweg (B. Comm. CIEA. Dip. Insol.Law N.Dip.Prop.Val) and 
Mr. R.S. Monteiro (Dip. Comp. Prog.) of Quality Valuations t/a Q-Val using the market value as the method of valuation 
on 28 February 2013. The comparable sales method of valuation entails identification, analysis and application of recent 
comparable sales involving physically and legally similar properties in the general proximity of the subject property. Q-Val 
is not connected to the company and have recent experience in location and category of the investment properties being 
valued.        
        
 Sustainable net annual income   -         
 Direct operating expenses    740 688       
        
Portion 10,11 and remaining extent of Portion 6 of Farm Zwartkoppies 316 J.T.      
  
“A valuation was performed by an independent valuator, Mr. TE Schoeman (Dip.Prop.Val) using the Residual Land Valuation 
method. The Residual Land Valuation method entails preparing an income and expenditure statement based on comparable sales 
of proclaimed land and estimates of all envisaged expenditure with net receipts discounted to the date of valuation at a suitable 
discount rate. This valuation put the property value at R154,000,000 on the Residual Land Valuation method.  Mr. TE Schoeman 
is not connected to the company and have recent experience in location and category of the investment properties being valued.  
 
In addition, a second valuation was obtained by an independent valuator, Mr A.D. Visser (Professional Associated Valuer) of 
Val-Co Property Valuers using the Residual Land Valuation method. The Residual Land Valuation method entails preparing an 
income and expenditure statement based on comparable sales of proclaimed land and estimates of all envisaged expenditure 
with net receipts discounted to the date of valuation at a suitable discount rate. This valuation put the property value at R170 
000 000 on the Residual Land Valuation method. Val-Co is not connected to the company and have recent experience in 
location and category of the investment properties being valued.“      
 
Having obtained the abovementioned two valuations in keeping with the Company’s accounting policy on investment 
properties, management is of the opinion that the median between these two valuations represents the most accurate 
valuation to be disclosed in the financial statements at 28 February 2013.      
 
“On 9 June 2008 the Mpumalanga Development Tribunal in terms of the Development Facilitation Act 67 of 1995 
approved the establishment of a land development area on portion 11, the remaining extent of portion 6 (a portion of 
portion 1) and portion 10 of the farm Zwartkoppies 316 J.T. Mpumalanga (the “”DFA Approval””) which approval included 
the development of the following: 
 
  -    932 residential stands; 
  -    61 special residential stands (2 dwellings per stand (i.e. 122 units)); 
  -    20 residential (maximum of 10 units per stand(i.e. 200 units)); 
  -    3 stands for golf course and ancillary land uses; 
  -    1 clubhouse stand; 
  -    1 stand for hotel purposes; 
  -    1 stand for a sports centre; 
  -    1 stand for access control; 
  -    2 stands for an equestrian and dairy centre; and 
  -    12 private open space stands. 
 
Prior to the DFA Approval, on 17 October 2006 the Mpumalanga Provincial Government’s Department of Agriculture and 
Land Administration Environmental Management: Nkangala Region, granted authorisation to undertake a listed activity in 
terms of section 22 of the Environment Conservation Act 73 of 1989 for the change of land use from agriculture to 6 star 
boutique hotel, golf estate, polo estate, fly fishing estate and a diary estate on the subject property.”   
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Principal assumptions used in the valuation of the property:  

- Discount rate used in discounting the cash flows for the Residual Land valuation method   30% 
- Expected period of completion and cash flows       5 years 
- Gross sales based on an weighted average selling price per developed stand of R750 000 (median)  R711 million 
- Development costs (median)         R348 million 
        
Changes in above assumptions will have the following impact on the fair value:      
 
- 5% change in discount rate         R24 million 
- 1 year delay in the period of cash flows (discounted at reduced discount rate of 25%)   (R34 million) 
- 10% change in development costs        R24 million 
- 10% change in average selling price per developed stand      R61 million 
  
 Sustainable net annual income   -         
 Direct operating expenses    -         
        
Erf 7/315 and 8/315 Hatfield Pretoria       

Valuations were performed by independent valuators, Mr O Bolweg (B. Comm. CIEA. Dip. Insol.Law N.Dip.Prop.Val) and 
Mr R.S. Monteiro (Dip. Comp. Prog.) of Quality Valuations t/a Q-Val using the market value as the method of valuation 
on 28 February 2013. The comparable sales method of valuation entails identification, analysis and application of recent 
comparable sales involving physically and legally similar properties in the general proximity of the subject property. Q-Val 
is not connected to the company and have recent experience in location and category of the investment properties being 
valued.        
        
 Sustainable net annual income   -         
 Direct operating expenses    87 051       
        
Directors note       

The directors again draw attention to the risks associated with property investments. Although over the long term property is 
considered a low risk asset, investors must be aware that significant short and medium term risk factors are inherent in the 
asset class. Investments in property are relatively illiquid and usually more difficult to realise than listed equities or bonds and 
this restricts the Group’s ability to realise value in cash in the short term. The property valuations in this period have been 
prepared in a period of market uncertainty. The current turmoil in the world’s financial markets has resulted in commercial 
and residential properties selling in much reduced quantities with virtually little or no market activity in some areas. While 
management believes that sector performance is cyclical, the current lack of market activity and the resulting lack of market 
evidence means that it is generally not possible to value with as high a degree of certainty as would be the case in a more 
stable market with a good level of market evidence. The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an active market for 
similar property investments. In obtaining evidence to support fair value the Group has gone to great lengths and obtained 
and considered information from a variety of sources.       
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6. Property, Plant 
and Equipment   
Consolidated
Property
Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles
Office equipment
IT equipment
Computer software
Leasehold improvements
Office equipment - leased
Assets not yet operational

Total

Company
Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles
Office equipment
IT equipment
Computer software
Leasehold improvements
Office equipment - leased
Assets not yet operational

Total

Finbond Mutual Bank
Property
Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles
Office equipment
IT equipment
Computer software
Leasehold improvements
Office equipment - leased
Assets not yet operational

Total

 

5 300 000 
 4 646 867 
 4 912 656 
 2 574 182 
 4 469 461 
 1 100 350 
 9 101 902 
 1 597 880 

 708 459 
 

34 411 757 

 4 274 191 
 4 529 516 
 2 046 347 
 3 486 174 
 1 094 493 
 8 036 112
 1 453 904 

 704 577 
 

25 625 314 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

   
-

 -   
(3 055 926)
(2 563 794)
(1 676 751)
(3 597 999)

(969 546)
(2 899 217)

(590 275)
 -

   
(15 353 508)

 (2 787 865) 
 (2 361 904)
 (1 215 109) 
 (2 661 408)

 (967 919) 
 (2 542 409)

 (525 777) 
 -

   
 (13 062 391) 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -

   
 -   

 5 300 000 
 1 590 941 
 2 348 862 

 897 431 
 871 462 
 130 804 

 6 202 685 
 1 007 605 

 708 459
 

 19 058 249 

 1 486 326 
 2 167 612 

 831 238 
 824 767 
 126 574 

 5 493 703 
 928 127 
 704 577 

 
12 562 923 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -

   
 -   

Accumulated
DepreciationCost

Carrying
Value

Accumulated 
DepreciationFigures in rand

2013
Carrying

Value

-   
 (138 322)
  (57 394) 
 (501 289)
 (160 210) 
 (24 596)

 (498 692) 
 (29 451)

 -
   

 (1 409 954) 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -

   
 -   

 -   
 (138 322)
 (57 394) 

 (501 289)
 (160 210) 
 (24 596)

 (498 692) 
 (29 451)

 -
   

 (1 409 954) 

 
5 300 000 
 1 564 698 

 395 862 
 969 075 
 926 399 
 168 345 

 5 843 007 
 323 973 
 709 732

 
 16 201 091 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -

   
 -   

 5 300 000 
 1 564 698 

 395 862 
 969 075 
 926 399 
 168 345 

 5 843 007 
 323 973 
 709 732

 
 16 201 091 

Cost

5 300 000 
 1 703 020 

 453 256 
 1 470 364 
 1 086 609 

 192 941 
 6 341 699 

 353 424 
 709 732 

 
17 611 045 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -

   
 -   

 5 300 000 
 1 703 020 

 453 256 
 1 470 364 
 1 086 609 

 192 941 
 6 341 699 

 353 424 
 709 732 

 17 611 045 

2012

Property
Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles
Office equipment
IT equipment
Computer software
Leasehold improvements
Office equipment - leased
Assets not yet operational

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -

   
 -   

-   
(335 442)
(351 367)
(388 611)
(500 426)
(86 371)

(1 239 263)
(210 874)

 -
   

(3 112 354) 

 5 300 000 
 1 564 698 

 395 862 
 969 075 
 926 399 
 168 345 

 5 843 007 
 323 973 
 709 732 

 16 201 091 

DepreciationReallocationDisposalsAdditionsFigures in rand Total

 -   
 373 113 
 62 749 

 498 021 
 561 641 
 124 351 

 1 161 658 
 -   

 1 273
 

 2 782 806

 -   
(63 914)

(1 664 382)
(37 766)
(6 278)
 (439) 

 (282 074)
 (472 757) 

 -
 

 (2 527 610)

Opening Net
Book Value

5 300 000 
 1 590 941 
 2 348 862 

 897 431 
 871 462 
 130 804 

 6 202 686
 1 007 604 

 708 459
 

 19 058 249 

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – Consolidated 2013
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Property
Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles
Office equipment
IT equipment
Computer software
Leasehold improvements
Office equipment - leased
Assets not yet operational

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 (821 289)
 

 (821 289)

 -   
(780 396)

(1 036 050)
(377 323)
(759 174)
(326 998)

(1 558 248)
(199 529)

 -
   

 (5 037 717) 

  5 300 000 
 1 590 941 
 2 348 862 

 897 431 
 871 462 
 130 804 

 6 202 685 
 1 007 605 

 708 459
 

 19 058 249 

DepreciationReallocationDisposalsAdditionsFigures in rand Total

 -   
 230 258 

 -   
 177 838 
 559 392 
 144 396 
 968 051 

-
 1 370 866

 
 3 450 801 

 -   
 (23 543) 

 (420 569)
 (35 756) 
 (21 016)

 (1 543) 
 (523 887)

(47 996)   
-

 (1 074 310)

Opening Net
Book Value

 5 300 000 
 2 164 622 
 3 805 481 
 1 132 672 
 1 092 260 

 314 948 
 7 316 769 
 1 255 130 

 158 882
 

 22 540 764 

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – Consolidated 2012

Furniture & fixtures
Motor vehicles
Office Equipment
IT equipment
Computer software
Leasehold improvements
Office Equipment - Leased
Assets not yet operational

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -

   
 -   

 (183 132) 
 (272 863)
 (209 925) 
 (319 314)
 (60 544) 

 (668 099)
 (14 607) 

 -
   

(1 728 484)

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -

   
 -   

DepreciationReallocationDisposalsAdditionsFigures in rand Total

 107 389 
 59 764 
 86 361 

 155 275 
 12 146 

 356 832 
 42 217 
 13 250 

833 234 

 (1 410 583) 
 (1 954 513)

 (707 674) 
 (660 727)
 (78 176) 

 (5 182 436) 
 (955 737)
 (717 827)

 
(11 667 673)

Opening Net
Book Value

 1 486 326 
 2 167 612 

 831 238 
 824 766
 126 574 

 5 493 703 
 928 127 
 704 577

 
12 562 923 

Reconciliation of property plant and equipment – Company 2013

Furniture & fixtures
Motor vehicles
Office Equipment
IT equipment
Computer software
Leasehold improvements
Office Equipment - Leased
Assets not yet operational

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 (821 289)
 

 (821 289) 

 (678 569) 
 (957 299)
 (307 906) 
 (713 279)
  (326 504) 

 (1 368 266)
 (199 529) 

 -
   

 (4 551 352) 

 1 486 326 
 2 167 612 

 831 237
 824 766
 126 574 

 5 493 703 
 928 128
 704 577

 
 12 562 923 

DepreciationReallocationDisposalsAdditionsFigures in rand Total

 216 087 
 -   

 108 792 
 515 333 
 140 167 
 913 098 

 -   
 1 370 866 

 3 264 343 

 (8 725) 
 (393 569)

 (3 603) 
 (12 309)

 -   
 (430 649) 

 (863)
 -   

 (849 718)

Opening Net
Book Value

1 957 533 
3 518 480 
1 033 952 
1 035 023 

312 911 
6 379 520 
1 128 520 

155 000
 

15 520 939 

Reconciliation of property plant and equipment – Company 2012

Property
Furniture & fixtures
Motor vehicles
Office Equipment
IT equipment
Computer software
Leasehold improvements
Office Equipment - Leased
Assets not yet operational

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -

   
 -   

  -   
 (138 322) 
 (57 394)

 (501 289) 
 (160 210)
 (24 596) 

 (498 692)
 (29 451) 

 -
   

 (1 409 954) 

 5 300 000 
 1 564 698 

 395 862 
 969 075 
 926 399 
 168 345 

 5 843 007 
 323 973 
 709 732

 
 16 201 091 

DepreciationReallocationDisposalsAdditionsFigures in rand Total

 5 300 000 
 1 703 020 

 453 256 
 1 470 364 
 1 086 609 

 192 941 
 6 341 699 

 353 424 
 709 732

 
 17 611 045 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -

   
 -   

Opening Net
Book Value

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -

   
 -   

Reconciliation of property plant and equipment – Finbond Mutual Bank 2013
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Carrying value of assets pledged as security:  
Motor vehicles  
Outstanding finance lease payments are secured 
by motor vehicles. Refer to note 18.  
Property: Lacfin House, Erf 798  
The property serves as security for an overdraft 
facility with ABSA Bank Limited. 
Terms and conditions in note 14.  
Leasehold office equipment  
Outstanding finance lease payments are secured 
by leasehold office equipment. Refer to note 18.  

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 
2 076 899 

 -   

 928 127 

3 005 026 

72 687 

 5 300 000 

 167 505 

5 540 192 

  72 687 

 5 300 000 

 323 973 

5 696 660 

 
2 076 899 

 5 300 000 

 1 007 604 

8 384 503 

7. 

Finbond Group Limited Finbond Group Limited

2012201320122013Figures in rand

Finbond Mutual
Consolidated Company

2013

Bank

Goodwill
 
Consolidated
Goodwill

Company
Goodwill

Finbond Mutual Bank
Goodwill

 

109 084 268

59 035 861

-

(47 821 965)

-

-

61 262 303

59 035 861

-

Accumulated
Impairment

Cost/
Valuation

Carrying
Value

Accumulated 
ImpairmentFigures in rand

2013
Carrying

Value

(47 821 965)

-

-

 
61 262 303

-

61 262 303

Cost/
Valuation

109 084 268

-

61 262 303

2012

Refer note 9 and 34 for details relating to common control transaction.      
      
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities identified to date acquired in a 
business combination. Goodwill is, from date of acquisition, allocated to each of the cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating 
units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the business combination. The following cash-generating units are identified: 
Finbond Group Limited, Blue Chip Finance Nr 1 (Pty) Ltd, Finbond Mutual Bank.      
      
On 1 September 2012 Blue Chip Finance Nr 1 (Pty) Ltd’s branches were divisionalised into Finbond Group Limited. Furthermore, on                         
1 September 2012 Finbond Mutual Bank was established. All the branches were transferred from Finbond Group Limited to Finbond Mutual 
Bank. Goodwill was therefore transferred to Finbond Mutual Bank as the cash generating units are now situated within the bank.  
    

Goodwill
 
Consolidated
Goodwill

Company
Goodwill

Finbond Mutual Bank
Goodwill

 

-

(59 035 861)

61 262 303

-

-

-

61 262 303

-

61 262 303

Impairment
Aquisition/
(Disposal)

Opening 
Balance Total

 
61 262 303

59 035 861

-

Reconciliation of Goodwill 2013

Figures in rand
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Cost/Valuation
Acquisition
Disposal

Carrying value

-
61 262 303

-

61 262 303

159 480
-

(159 480)

-

61 262 303
63 329 266

(63 329 266)

61 262 303

59 035 861
2 066 963

(61 102 824)

-

2 066 962
-

(2 066 962)

-

Finbond 
Group 
Limited

Figures in rand
Cash generating 
units

Finbond 
Mutual
Bank

Company

Consolidated

Blue Chip 
Finance Nr 1 

(Pty) Ltd Other
Group
Total

Finbond 
Mutual
Bank

Finbond Mutual Bank

-
61 262 303

-

61 262 303

Goodwill is allocated to individual cash-generating units, with impairment testing being performed annually, by comparing the net carrying 
value of the cash-generating units to the estimated ‘value in use’. The value in use is determined by discounting estimated future cash 
flows of each cash-generating unit using the discounted cash flow methodology/income method.     
 
Management regards the useful lives of cash-generating units to be indefinite and no impairments have resulted from impairment testing 
in the reporting period.      
      
The Group and Company determines the recoverable amount, being the higher of the fair value less cost to sell and the value in use, 
of individual cash-generating units by discounting the expected future cash flows of each of the identified cash-generating units. The 
recoverable amount is then compared to the carrying value of the respective cash-generating unit and an impairment loss is raised if 
required.      
      
The calculation uses cash flow projections from business plans for the forthcoming 5 years, which are then extrapolated for further years. 
Extrapolation is achieved using a long-term growth rate, that varies as follows:

Micro finance lending growth rate 4.5%

Figures in rand
Cash generating 
units

Finbond 
Mutual
Bank

The risk-adjusted discount rate is based on the cost of equity and was calculated using the Capital Asset Pricing Model (CAPM):  
 

Micro finance cost of equity 16.96%

Figures in rand
Cash generating 
units

Finbond 
Mutual
Bank

Consolidated
Goodwill

Company
Goodwill

-

-

-

-

61 262 303

59 035 861

Impairment
Aquisition/
(Disposal)

Opening 
Balance Total

 
61 262 303

59 035 861

Reconciliation of Goodwill 2012

Cost/Valuation
Disposal

Carrying value

159 480
-

159 480

61 262 303
-

61 262 303

59 035 861
-

59 035 861

2 066 962
-

2 066 962

Finbond 
Group 
Limited

Figures in rand
Cash generating 
units

Company

Consolidated

Blue Chip 
Finance Nr 1 

(Pty) Ltd Other
Group
Total

Finbond 
Mutual
Bank

Finbond Mutual Bank

-
-

-
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8. Investments in subsidiaries  

Finbond Micro Finance (Pty) Limited, 
formerly known as Blue Chip Finance 
Western Cape (Pty) Limited

Bondmaster Group (Pty) Limited

Dimension Home Loans Group 
(Pty) Limited

Finbond Mortgage Origination 
(Pty) Limited (previously known as 
Independent Bond Originators (Pty) 
Limited)

The Excel Group (Pty) Limited

Zevoli (Pty) Limited

ABC Cash Loans (Pty) Limited 
(Namibia)

Guardrisk Insurance Company Ltd 
(Cell captive arrangement)

Shanike Investments No 155 (Pty) Ltd

Finbond Mutual Bank

 

13 547 345
 

16 204 367
 

5 196 962
 
 

10 851 157
 

4 162 231
 

100 

 -

 
1 734 200

 
118 802

 -

51 815 164

-

 

-
 
-
 
 
-
 

-
 
-

 -

 
-

 
-

 -

-

-

 

-
 
-
 
 
-
 

-
 
-

 -

 
-

 
-

 -

-

% Holding
2013

Carrying 
Amount 2012

Carrying
Amount 2013

% Holding
2012Figures in rand

Carrying
Amount 2013

100 

 

100 
 

100
 
 

100 
 

100 
 

100 

 51 

 
100 

 
100 

 - 

13 547 345
 

13 481 723
 

2 722 644
 
 

16 048 119
 

4 162 231
 

100 

 -

 
1 884 200 

 
-

 421 841 976

473 688 338

% Holding
2013

100 

 

100 
 

100
 
 

100 
 

100 
 

100 

 51 

 
100 

 
100 

100 

Finbond Group Limited Finbond Mutual Bank
Company

The carrying amounts of subsidiaries are carried at cost, net of impairment losses.       
      
 The Bondmaster Group holds 100% of Mzanzi Finance (Pty) Limited and Greenflash Trading 220 (Pty) Limited as subsidiaries. 
 The Excel Group (Pty) Limited holds 100% of BondExcel (Pty) Limited as a subsidiary.     
 Zevoli (Pty) Ltd holds 100% of Blue Chip Finance 1 (Pty) Limited as a subsidiary.      
      
Shanike Investments No 155 (Pty) Ltd is a Special Purpose Vehicle created during the prior year for funding received from ABSA Capital: 
Credit Linked Notes (refer to note 17), however the before mentioned facility were settled during the current year, resulting in the Shanike 
investment not recognised as an investment in the current period.      
      
Finbond Mutual Bank was established on 1 September 2012. Finbond Group Limited’s assets were transferred to Finbond Mutual Bank 
through a Asset-for-Share transaction, refer to note 34 for detail on the transaction. Finbond acquired 100% of Finbond Mutual Bank’s 
shares.
           
ABC Cash Loans (Pty) Limited (Namibia) consists of only one branch, which was closed during the prior year. Therefore the investment in 
ABC Cash Loans (Pty) Ltd was impaired in the prior year.      
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Finbond Micro Finance (Pty) Limited, formerly known as Blue Chip 
Finance Western Cape (Pty) Limited  
Bondmaster Group (Pty) Limited   
Dimension Home Loans Group (Pty) Limited  
Finbond Mortgage Origination (Pty) Limited (previously known as 
Independent Bond Originators (Pty) Limited)  
The Excel Group (Pty) Limited  
Zevoli (Pty) Limited    
Guardrisk Insurance Company Ltd (Cell captive arrangement) 
Shanicke Investments No 155 (Pty) Ltd  
Finbond Mutual Bank  

 -
   
 -   
 -   
 -

   
 -   
 -   

 150 000 
 (118 802) 

 421 841 976 
 

421 873 174 

-
 
-
 - 
 - 

 - 
- 
 - 
 - 
-

 - 

 13 547 345 
 

16 204 367 
 5 196 962 

 10 851 157 

 4 162 231 
 100 

 1 884 200 
 -   

 421 841 976
 

473 688 338 

Impairments
Purchases/
(Disposal)

Opening 
Balance Total

 13 547 345 
 

16 204 367 
 5 196 962 

 10 851 157 

 4 162 231 
 100 

 1 734 200 
 118 802 

-

 51 815 164 

Reconciliation of investments in subsidiaries – Company 2013

Figures in rand

Refer to note 34 for details relating to business combinations.     

Finbond Micro Finance (Pty) Limited, formerly known as Blue Chip 
Finance Western Cape (Pty) Limited  
Bondmaster Group (Pty) Limited   
Dimension Home Loans Group (Pty) Limited  
Finbond Mortgage Origination (Pty) Limited (previously known as 
Independent Bond Originators (Pty) Limited)  
The Excel Group (Pty) Limited  
Zevoli (Pty) Limited   
ABC Cash Loans (Pty) Limited (Namibia)  
Guardrisk Insurance Company Ltd (Cell captive arrangement) 
Shanicke Investments No 155 (Pty) Ltd  

 -
   
 -   
 -   
 -

   
 -   
 -   
 -
-   

  118 802 
  

118 802

-
 
-
 - 
 - 

 - 
- 

 (284 335)   
 - 
 - 

 (284 335)   
 

 13 547 345 
 

16 204 367 
 5 196 962 

 10 851 157 

 4 162 231 
 100 

 -   
 1 734 200

118 802
  

51 815 164

Impairments
Purchases/
(Disposal)

Opening 
Balance Total

 13 547 345 
 

16 204 367 
 5 196 962 

 10 851 157 

 4 162 231 
 100  

 284 335
 1 734 200 

 -

 51 980 697

Reconciliation of investments in subsidiaries – Company 2012

Figures in rand
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Loans to/(from) group companies
 
Subsidiaries  
Bondmaster Group (Pty) Limited 
Blue Chip Finance Western Cape (Pty) Limited
Blue Chip Finance 1 (Pty) Limited 
Zevoli (Pty) Limited  
The loans are unsecured, interest free and have no 
fixed terms of repayment.   
ABC Cash Loans (Pty) Limited (Namibia) 
ABC Cash Loans (Pty) Limited (Namibia) consists 
of only one branch, which were closed during the 
current year. Therefore the intercompany group loan 
of ABC Cash Loans (Pty) Ltd was impaired in the 
current year.  
Mzanzi Finance (Pty) Limited  
Finbond Mortgage Origination (Pty) Limited
Greenflash Trading 220 (Pty) Limited 
Finbond Group Limited  
Finbond Mutual Bank  
The loans are unsecured, interest free and have no 
fixed terms of repayment.   
  
Shareholder loans  
Kings Reign Investments (Pty) Ltd (formerly 
Moneyline 2027 (Pty) Limited) 
The loan is subordinated, unsecured, with no fixed 
repayment terms and bears interest at 18% (2012: 
18%). Interest rates are based on market related 
subordinated, unsecured facilities. During the current 
period the shareholder issued a loan to Finbond 
Mutual Bank amounting to R5 000 000, the loan 
was settled on 28 February 2013. The prior period’s 
loan amounting to R12 000 000 was settled through 
allocation of its rights under the rights offer which 
closed on 9 March 2012 on the Johannesburg Stock 
Exchange. 
 
Net 1 Finance Holdings  
The loan is unsecured, with no fixed repayment terms 
and bears interest at 18% (2012: 18%). Interest 
rates are based on market related subordinated, 
unsecured facilities. During the current period the 
shareholder issued a loan to Finbond Mutual Bank 
amounting to R7 500 000, the loan was settled on 28 
February 2013. The prior period’s loan amounting 
to R8 000 000 was settled through allocation of 
its rights under the rights offer which closed on 9 
March 2012 on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange. 
 
Mr. F. Manuel  
The loan was unsecured, with no fixed repayment 
terms and bore interest at 18%. During the current 
period the shareholder issued a loan to Finbond 
Mutual Bank amounting to R685 000, the loan was 
settled on 28 February 2013.  
Total  

Loans to Group Companies  
Loans from Group Companies/Shareholders 
 

 

 (29 620 161)
 (25 869 101)   

 21 864 162
 -   

 -   

 175 761
 (19 077 188)
 (3 053 904)

-
 (155 852 593)

(211 433 024)

-

-

-

-

22 039 923
(233 472 946)

(211 433 024)

 

(29 620 161)   
(25 869 101) 

 4 742 064
 32 374 974

 -   

 175 761
 (18 411 811)

 (3 053 904)
-
 -   

(39 662 179)

(12 000 000)

 (8 000 000) 

-

(20 000 000)

37 292 799
(96 954 976)

(59 662 177)

 

 -
 -
 -
 -   

 -   

 -
 -
 -

 155 852 593
-

155 852 593

-

-

-

-

155 852 593
-

155 852 593

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   

 -   
 -   
 -   
-
 -   

-

 -   

 -   
 

-

-

-
-

-

 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   

 -   
 -   
 -   
-
 -   

-

(12 000 000)

 (8 000 000) 

-

(20 000 000)

-
(20 000 000)

(20 000 000)

9. 

Finbond Group Limited Finbond Group Limited

2012201320122013Figures in rand

Finbond Mutual
Consolidated Company

2013

Bank

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value as indicate above. Carrying amount approximates fair value.
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10. 

11.

Other financial assets
 
Available for sale  
Listed: PSG   
Fair value hierarchy: Level 1 (2012: Level 1).

Loans and receivables 
Insurance money market investments 
Fair value hierarchy: Level 2 (2012: Level 2). 
 
The Group’s money market investments form part 
of Guardrisk’s unitised portfolio. The unitised 
portfolio consists mainly of NCD’s, fixed deposits, 
promissory notes, floating rate notes and asset 
backed commercial paper. The investments are 
invested with various financial institutions; the most 
significant being the big four SA banks, SARB and 
Eskom. The average maturity of the investments are 
66 days (2012: 169 days) and average interest rate 
is 6.08% (2012: 7.19%). Funds are available on 
demand. 
 

Total other financial assets  

 -

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 

5 570
 

 5 570 

 -   

 -   

 5 570 

 

5 570 

 5 570 

 -   

 -   

5 570 

 

5 570

 5 570 

 25 688 187 

 25 688 187 

25 693 757 

 

5 570

 5 570 

 8 601 803 

 8 601 803 

8 607 373 

Finbond Group Limited Finbond Group Limited

2012201320122013Figures in rand

Finbond Mutual
Consolidated Company

2013

Bank

The carrying value of the financial assets were determined as follows:
 Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost.
 The Group has not reclassified any financial assets from cost or amortised cost to fair value or from fair value to cost or amortised 
 cost during the current or prior year.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value as indicate above. Fair value approximates carrying value.

Deferred Taxation
 
Deferred tax  
Property, plant and equipment  
Investment properties  
Leave pay provision   
Bonus provision

Prepayments and deferred charges 
Straight lining of leases  
Tax losses available for set-off against future 
taxable income  
  
Reconciliation of deferred tax  
At the beginning of the year  
Property, plant and equipment  
Investment properties  
Provision for impairment  
Leave pay provision   
Bonus provision  
Share options  
Straight lining of leases  
(Increase)/decrease in tax losses available for set 
off against future taxable income 

Prepayments and deferred charges 

Common control transaction  
Rate change  
  

Deferred tax asset  
Deferred tax liability  

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -

 -   
 -

(21 469 870)   
 

(21 469 870)
 

 16 942 133
-
 -
 -   
 -
-
 -
 -   

 (4 804 987)

 
 -   

 (33 607 016)   
 -

 (21 469 870)

(21 469 870)
-

(21 469 870)

 

 -   
 35 086 669 

 (173 494) 
 (777 624)

 -   
 (255 586) 

 (16 937 831)

 16 942 133 

 7 855 358 
 -   

 3 166 800 
 (9 211) 

 (385 837)
 59 535 
 56 056 

 (2 572 236) 
 -   

 -
   
 -   

 8 771 669 

 16 942 133

-
16 942 133
16 942 133 

 

 
6 314

 35 629 669 
(196 573) 

 (1 761 408)

19 768 
(14 849) 

 -   

 33 682 921 

 722 282
 6 314

578 088
 -   

 (2 617) 
 (1 233 081)

 -
   (14 849)

 -
   

19 768
   

 33 607 016
-

33 682 921

-
33 682 921
33 682 921 

 

6 314
 35 629 669 

 (196 573) 
 (1 761 408)

19 768
 (14 849) 

 (26 451 263)

 7 231 656

 11 161 807 
 (426 325)

543 000
 -   

 (2 618) 
 (983 784)

 -   
 512 958 

 (3 593 148)
 

19 768

 -   
 -

7 231 656

 (24 952 193)
32 183 849
7 231 656

 

 432 639 
 35 086 669 

 (193 955) 
 (777 624)

 -   
 (527 807) 

 (22 858 115)

 11 161 807 

 3 224 855 
 -   

 3 166 800 
 (4 504) 

 (385 837)
 59 535 

 (49 237) 
 (3 621 474)

 -
   

 -
   
 -   

 8 771 669
 

 11 161 807 

 (5 783 928)
 16 945 735 
 11 161 807 
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Recognition of deferred tax assets      
The Group discloses the amount of a deferred tax asset and the nature of the evidence supporting its recognition when:  
•    The utilisation of the deferred tax asset is dependent on future taxable profits in excess of the profits arising from the reversal of existing 
      taxable temporary differences; and      
•    The entity has suffered a loss in either the current or preceding period in the tax jurisdiction to which the deferred tax asset relates.  
          
Use and sales rate      
The deferred tax rate applied to the fair value adjustments of investment properties and property, plant and equipment (consisting solely of 
property above, refer to note 6 for further detail) is the capital gains tax rate of 18.6% (2012: 18.6%).     
       
All other deferred tax assets have been raised at 28% (2012: 28%).      
      
No movement in deferred taxation is taken to the statement of changes in shareholders equity for the current or prior reporting period. 
           
Capital Gains Tax (CGT) losses calculated and available for set-off against future capital taxable income at reporting date totalled                   
R9 471 055 (2012: R9 471 055).      
      
Secondary Taxation on Companies (STC) credits calculated and available for set-off at reporting date totalled R29 115 189 (2012:              
R29 115 189).      

12. Loans and other advances

Maturity analysis of loans and advances 
Demand to one month  
Two to six months  
Seven months to one year  
More than one year  
Maximum exposure to credit risk/Gross loans and 
advances   
Deferred future income  
Loans and advances before impairment  
Allowance for impairment to loans and advances 
 
Net loans and advances (*)  
  
Movement of allowance for impairment 
Opening balance  
Opening balance through common control 
transactions 
Opening balance through common control 
transactions  
Insurance adjustment  
Increase/(decrease) in provision
  
Closing balance  
  
Impairment of due and past due loans and 
advances on a net basis  
Not past due  
    Loans and advances before impairment  
    Impaired  
Past due  
    Loans and advances before impairment 
    Impaired

Gross loans and advances are secured as follows 
(refer note 17)  
Exposure to credit risk/Gross loans and advances  
    Standard Chartered Bank  
    Investec Bank (also refer note 13)  
    Unsecured and available  
  
 

 
 30 397 841 
 70 255 506 

 101 306 
 -   

 100 754 653 
 

(18 409 065) 
 82 345 588 
 (8 962 830)

 
 73 382 758 

 8 679 422 
 -

   
 -

   
 (589 092) 
 872 500

 
 8 962 830 

 54 643 191 
 54 862 423 

 (219 232)
 18 739 567 
 27 483 165 
 (8 743 598) 

 73 382 758 

 100 754 653 
 100 754 653 

 -   
 -   

 

 32 069 011 
 119 109 812 

 2 432 651
 11 001 

 153 622 475 
 

(17 886 497) 
 135 735 978 
 (13 299 884) 

 
122 436 094 

 -   
 11 780 732

 
 -

   
 -   

 1 519 152 
 

13 299 884 

 105 124 806
 105 481 155

 (356 349) 
 17 311 288 
30 254 756 

(12 943 468)
 

 122 436 094 

 153 622 475
34 571 740

 -   
 119 050 731

 

 33 186 519 
 130 479 939 

 2 783 065 
 9 471 

 166 458 994 
 

(30 725 095)
 135 733 899 
 (13 299 884) 

 
122 434 015 

 10 793 946 
 -

   
 -

   
 -   

 2 505 937
 

 13 299 883 

 102 981 162 
 103 337 511 

 (356 349)
 19 452 853 
 32 396 320 

 (12 943 468) 

 122 434 015 

 166 458 994 
 34 571 740

 -   
 131 887 254 

 

 35 887 121 
 86 642 698 

 101 306 
 -   

 122 631 125 
 

(22 288 563) 
 100 342 562 
 (10 793 945) 

 89 548 617 

 10 704 418 
 -

   
 -

   
 (958 025) 

 1 047 552
 

 10 793 946 

 65 857 455 
66 121 438 

 (263 984) 
 23 691 162 
 34 221 124 

 (10 529 962) 

 89 548 617 

 122 631 125 
 104 000 000 

 2 098 836 
 16 532 289 

Finbond Group Limited Finbond Group Limited

2012201320122013Figures in rand

Finbond Mutual
Consolidated Company

2013

Bank

 
 1 117 508 

 11 370 126 
 350 415 

 590 
 12 838 639 

 (12 838 639) 
 -
 -

 - 

 8 962 830 
 -

   
 (9 811 131)

 
 -   

 848 301
 
 - 

 -
 - 
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 -

 12 838 639 
 -   
 -   

 12 838 639 
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13.

14.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the gross portfolio as indicated above as loans and advances are unsecured. 
Included in loans and advances is related accrued interest receivable of R6 878 780 (2012: R4 779 875).   

Past due loans and advances are delinquent by one day, to date of charge-off/write-off to legal. All loans have been appropriately 
provisioned, including not past due loans, in terms of Group provisioning policy.      
      
Deferred future income consists of interest and fees, deferred and earned over the period of the loan using the effective interest rate 
method.      
      
The creation and release of provision for impaired loans and advances have been included in the impairment line in profit and loss. 
Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off when there is no expectation of recovering additional cash in terms of 
Group write-off policy. The Group considers the following write-off indicators/triggers of the borrower:     
 Unemployed;      
 Uncontactable;      
 Administration/Debt review;      
 Deceased; or      
 Any part of the loan over 150 days and no payment within 90 days.      
      
Included in loans and advances past due are financial assets that would otherwise be written off to legal, but have been renegotiated. 
Management do not consider the effect of past due renegotiated loans to be material in terms value or disclosure. Renegotiated loans and 
advances are strictly monitored to the extent that three missed payment in terms of the renegotiated terms will automatically lead to write-
off.      
      
Loans and advances are valued at amortised cost using the effective interest method.       
      
*Current year movement in net loans and advances amounts to a R32 885 399 increase (2012: R6 172 285 decline).   
   

Other receivables are available as security in terms of the Investec Preference Share structure. Refer note 17.    
  
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value as indicate above. Fair value approximates carrying value. 
     
Included in sundry receivables of the separate company are related party transactions between Finbond Group Limited and Blue Chip 
Finance Nr 1 (Pty) Ltd, relating insurance premiums written, refer to the related party note nr 35.     
 

Other receivables
   
Rental deposits
Prepayments
Commissions receivable
Sundry receivables

-
 249 161 

 -   
 15 468 286 

 
15 717 447 

596 123 
 2 663 755 

 -   
 13 016 260

 
16 276 138

 

463 761 
 1 056 363 

 -   
 2 070 898

 
3 591 022 

 
667 140 
 944 250 

 2 896 732 
 4 618 875

 
 9 126 997 

859 001 
 2 716 786 
 2 808 452 
 3 625 305

 
 10 009 544 

Finbond Group Limited Finbond Group Limited

2012201320122013Figures in rand

Finbond Mutual
Consolidated Company

2013

Bank

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash on hand
Bank balances
Short-term deposits

 - 
 201 343 

 -
   

 201 343 

 3 109 035
 43 922 310 

 760
 

 47 032 105 

 

 3 605 824 
 57 464 501 

 760

61 071 085 

 
 3 605 824 

 59 788 616 
 200 761 

 63 595 201 

 3 709 788 
 49 322 111 

 200 760 

 53 232 659 

The rate of interest earned on cash varies between 2.3% and 4.75% (2012: 2.3% and 5.8%).      
Bank balances to the value of R5 500 000 (2012: R5 500 000 - security) are reserved for the Standard Chartered Bank term facility (refer 
note 17).   
   
An undrawn overdraft facility of R1 128 298 (2012: R0) is available on Standard Chartered bank balances.   
 
An undrawn overdraft facility of R13 364 799 (2012: R14 000 000) is available on ABSA bank balances, secured by investment property 
with a book value of R20 340 000 (2012: R20 340 000). Refer note 5. 
     
An overdraft facility of R3 000 000 (2012: R1 568 755) is available on ABSA bank balances, secured by property, plant and equipment with 
a book value of R5 300 000 (2012: R5 300 000). Refer note 6.      
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15.

16.

Share capital and premium

Authorised 
1 000 000 000 ordinary shares of 
0.0001 cent each  
  
394 974 750 (2012: 617 974 750) unissued 
ordinary shares are under the control of the 
directors in terms of a resolution of members 
passed at the last annual general meeting.  
This authority remains in force until the next 
annual general meeting.  
  
Issued 
 
605 025250 (2012: 382 025 250) ordinary 
shares of 0.0001 cent  
Share premium
Stated capital
  
Total issued share capital and premium

 
 1 000 

 382 

 201 775 562 
-

 201 775 944 

 

   

 457 781 488

-
 457 781 488

 457 781 488

 
 1 000 

605 

 239 161 772 
-

 239 162 377 

 

 1 000 

 382 

 201 775 562 
-

 201 775 944 

Finbond Group Limited Finbond Group Limited

2012201320122013Figures in rand

Finbond Mutual
Consolidated Company

2013

Bank

1 000 

 605 

 239 161 772 
-

 239 162 377 

No ordinary shares were cancelled in the current or prior year.
      

At 1 March 2011
 
Mar 2011 - Feb 2012: Costs associated with 
Rights Issue

At 29 February 2012

Treasury shares sold
Rights issue
Costs associated with Share Issue
Share issue

At 28 February 2013

 211 274 200
 

 (17 243)

 
 211 256 957

 
 -   

 19 999 800 
 (765 102) 
 9 199 972

 
 239 691 627 

 (9 481 395) 

 -   

 (9 481 395)

 8 951 540 
-
-
-

 (529 855) 

201 793 187
 

 (17 243)

 
 201 775 944 

 
8 951 540 

 20 000 000 
 (765 102) 
 9 199 995 

 
239 162 377

Treasury
Shares

Share
Premium

Ordinary
Shares Total

 382
 
 -

   
 382

 
 -   

 200 
 -   

 23
 

 605 

Figures in rand
Number of

Shares

 382 025 250 
 
-   

 382 025 250 

 -   
 200 000 000 

 -   
 23 000 000 

 605 025 250 

Reserves

Non distributable reserves
Equity settled share option reserve
Broad based employee share scheme. 
Refer to note 40 for further detail.

Contingency Reserve
Contingency reserve in terms of the Guardrisk 
Insurance cell captive arrangement.

Common control transaction reserve

 
3 913 339 
 3 913 339 

 -   

-

 3 913 339 

 
 (35 939 512)   

 -   

 -   

 (35 939 512)

(35 939 512)   

 4 221 575 
 3 913 339 

 308 236

- 

 4 221 575 

 
 7 022 371 
 3 913 339 

 3 109 032 

-

 7 022 371 

Finbond Group Limited Finbond Group Limited

2012201320122013Figures in rand

Finbond Mutual
Consolidated Company

2013

Bank

3 913 338 
 3 913 338 

 -   

-

 3 913 338 
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17. Other financial liabilities 
Held at amortised cost 
ABSA Bank Limited: mortgage bond  
The bond is payable over 20 years at a rate of prime less 1,7% per annum. Secured by investment property 

with a book value of R3 900 000 (2012: R3 900 000). Refer to note 5. Carrying value approximates fair 

value.  
ABSA Bank Limited: Demand/overdraft facility 
The facility bears interest at prime (2012: prime), is repayable on demand and is secured by property, 

plant and equipment with a book value of R5 300 000 (2012: R5 300 000). Refer to note 6. Carrying value 

approximates fair value. 
Standard Chartered Bank (SCB)  
Two separate agreements comprise two loan facilities: A term facility amounting to R12 735 635 

(refinanced in July 2010) is secured by loans and advances at 1.6 times cover (2012: R55 838 366). The 

loan bears interest at 3 month JIBAR plus 300bps and is repayable as follows: Interest only for the first 

6 months, thereafter R5 500 000 quarterly in arrears for two and a half years (10 quarters). A demand/

overdraft facility:R8 871 702 (2012: R9 884 335) [limit R10 000 000 (2012: R10 000 000)]  is secured by 

loans and advances at 1.6 times cover (2012: 1.6 times cover). The facility bears interest at prime plus 2% 

per annum and is repayable on demand. Bank balances to the value of R5 500 000 are reserved for the 

term facility. The Group has complied with all contractual financial covenants required by SCB. Subsequent 

to year end this facility was settled entirely. Refer to note 12 and 14 for further detail in terms of security. 

Also refer note 36 for full maturity analysis. Carrying value approximates fair value. 

FMO (Nederlandse Financierings-Maatschappij 
Voor Ontwikkelingslanden)  
The agreement comprises two loan facilities and are Euro denominated loans of €2 500 000 (facility 

1 - senior) and €5 000 000 (facility 2 - unsecured mezzanine) which are converted to ZAR on the date 

of release of funds by the Reserve Bank and repayable in rand, hence no forex exposure to Finbond.  

Of the two facilities the following was utilised at year-end: €1 875 000 (facility 1) and 

€3 750 000 (facility 2) converted at spot on date of release. Interest is capitalised to the 

loan balance at a rate of 6 month JIBAR plus 6% (facility 1) and plus 2% (facility 2), and 

is payable on 15 April and 15 October of every year. The loans are repayable as follows:  

Facility 1; One-sixth on 15 April 2011 and thereafter one sixth every six months, 

Facility 2; The full loan is repayable on 31 December 2012. This maturity date was amended 

during the year by mutual agreement between the contracted parties, which included the 

elimination of the originally contracted Gross Profit Related Fee (which had been payable by 

15 October 2013 prior to the amendment simultaneously with the final capital and interest 

instalment). This fee was eliminated in the amendment, but would be reinstated in the event 

that full settlement is not effected by the amended maturity date of 31 December 2012. 

Facility 1 is secured by investment properties with a book value of R24 000 000, as well as a surety bond 

granted by Konings Genade Beleggings (Pty) Ltd (a related party to the Group) to the value of R4 000 000. 

A market related security fee will become payable to Konings Genade Beleggings (Pty) Ltd from 1 March 

2011. The Group has complied with all contractual financial covenants required by FMO. Refer to note 5 

for further detail in terms of property security. Also refer to note 36 for full maturity analysis. Carrying value 

approximates fair value.  

Investec Bank: Preference shares  
The preference shares are secured by an unlimited guarantee [disclosed as partly loans and advances 

and partly other receivables, at 1 times cover] (2012: unchanged). Refer note 12 and 13. Shares 

are redeemable in three equal annual instalments of R12 166 667 each from 31 January 2011 to                      

31 January 2013. Dividends are payable six monthly at 80% of prime bank overdraft rate. Carrying value 

approximates fair value. 

ABSA Capital: Credit Linked Note  
The credit linked note (CLN) is backed by a BB- rated, secured loan (rating supplied by Global Credit 

Ratings), and is secured by microloans ceded to the lender through a ring fenced Trust at 1.4 times cover. 

The Trust provides further comfort to the lender in the form of a back up servicer (Mettle Financial Services) 

appointed to collect the ceded microloans on the lenders behalf in the event of default. Interest, payable 

quarterly, is calculated at JIBAR + 9.5 basis points per annum (2012: n/a). The term of the loan is two 

years, maturing on 15 December 2013. However this facility was settled early during the current financial 

period. 

Other  
The loan is unsecured , interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment. Carrying value approximates fair 

value.  

Nedbank Limited: mortgage bond  
The bond is repayable over 12 months at a rate of prime less 0.35% per annum. Secured by investment 

property with a book value of R16 000 000. Refer to note 5. Carrying value approximates fair value. 

 

 1 290 291 

 4 260 038 

 47 520 021 

 64 942 781 

 -   

 40 000 000 

 -   

 3 216 684 

 161 229 815 

 -   

 635 201 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

-

 635 201 

 1 234 191 

 635 201 

 21 607 339

 -   

 -   

 -   

 11 919 

 -   

 23 488 650 

 1 290 291 

 5 351 745 

 47 520 021 

 64 942 781 

 12 108 380 

 40 000 000 

 11 919 

 3 216 684 

 174 441 821 

Finbond Group Limited Finbond Group Limited

2012201320122013Figures in rand

Finbond Mutual
Consolidated Company

2013

Bank

1 234 191 

 -   

 21 607 338 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 22 841 529 
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The average lease term is three to five years and the average effective borrowing rate is 7.06% (2012: 7.06%). No breaches or defaults of 
loan terms of payments have taken place in either the current or prior year.      
Interest rates are linked to prime at the contract date. All leases have fixed repayments and no arrangements have been entered into for 
contingent rent.      
The Group’s obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessor’s charge over the leased assets. Refer note 6.

Finbond Group Limited Finbond Group Limited

2012201320122013Figures in rand

Finbond Mutual
Consolidated Company

2013

Bank

Finance lease obligation

Minimum lease payments due
– within one year
– in second to fifth year inclusive

less: future finance charges

Present value of minimum lease payments

Present value of minimum lease payments due
– within one year
– in second to fifth year inclusive

 
 1 772 907 
 1 278 213 
 3 051 120 
 (413 806)

 
 2 637 314 

 1 505 799 
 1 131 515

 
 2 637 314 

 

 205 579 
 129 682 
 335 261 
 (95 069)

 
 240 192 

 134 817 
 105 375

 
 240 192 

 
 205 579 
 129 682 
 335 261 
 (95 069) 

 
240 192 

 134 817 
 105 375

 
 240 192 

 

 1 841 937 
 1 278 448 
 3 120 385 
 (418 306) 

 2 702 079 

 1 570 328 
 1 131 751

 
 2 702 079 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -

   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   

Trade and other payables
 
Trade payables
Value Added Taxation (VAT)
Accruals
IBNR provision
Sundry payables

Fair value approximates carrying amount.

 
 3 268 042 

 487 663 
 2 396 905 

 -   
 4 847 350

 
 10 999 960 

 
 1 384 840 
 1 121 212 
 5 144 181 

 -   
 8 930 049

 
 16 580 282 

 
 4 873 756 

 537 986 
 4 017 218 

 83 106 
 12 372 817

 
 21 884 883

 3 188 021 
 687 973 

 6 351 228  
83 106 

 2 601 055
 

 12 911 382 

 3 707 296 
 179 083 

 1 152 894 
 -   

 8 196
 

 5 047 469 

Deposits received from customers 

Fixed Term Deposit Shares
Indefinite Period Shares
Fixed Period Shares
Unallocated deposits

 
 -
-
-
-

-

 
152 874 975 

 4 560 000 
 5 780 000 

 823 023 

 164 037 998 

 
 152 874 975 

 4 560 000 
 5 780 000 

 823 023 

 164 037 998 

 -
-
-
-

-

 -
-
-
-

-

18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

Interest Income
 
Loans and advances 
Cash and cash equivalents 

 
 38 244 736 

 727 057 
 

38 971 793 

 
 25 944 211 

 471 320 

 26 415 531 

 
 50 244 459 

2 206 483 

 52 450 942

 46 026 121 
 1 356 862 

 
47 382 983 

 20 547 144 
461 542

 
 21 008 686 

Interest Expense

Bank overdraft 
Liabilities held at amortised cost 
Lease assets 
Interest Expense: Fixed Term Deposit Liabilities 
Dividend Expense: Indefinite Period Shares 
Dividend Expense: Fixed Period Shares 
Other payables 

 
  1 618 327 
 10 192 263 

 384 871 
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 12 195 461 

 
  367 626 

 1 038 887 
 52 441 

 2 171 538 
 59 376 

 104 774
 -

   
 3 794 642 

 
  1 745 403 
 16 609 723 

 155 117 
 2 171 538 

 59 376 
 104 774 
 (4 136)

 
 20 841 795 

 1 718 456 
 14 675 360 

 403 738 
 -   
 -   
 -   

 4 136
 

 16 801 690 

  1 186 489 
 13 486 375 

 98 261 
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -

   
 14 771 125 

Deposit products are classified as follows:
        Class shares  Effective interest rate
Fixed Term Deposits       “C”-class shares  8.75 – 10%
Indefinite Period Shares      “D”-class shares  9.5%
Fixed Period Shares       “B”-class shares  10.75%
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23.

24.

25.

26.

27.

Finbond Group Limited Finbond Group Limited

2012201320122013Figures in rand

Finbond Mutual
Consolidated Company

2013

Bank

Fee income
 
Initiation fees
Service fees

 
 40 303 089 
 38 016 417

 
 78 319 506 

 
 24 025 752 
 22 582 206

 
 46 607 958 

 
 48 023 174 
 45 996 108

 
 94 019 282 

 
 47 640 172 
 44 665 373

 
 92 305 545 

 20 654 319 
 20 204 356

 
 40 858 675 

Other Micro finance income
 
Insurance premium revenue
Net Legal Subscriptions Received
Prepaid airtime and electricity
Rental income
Sundry income

 
  4 955 802 
 1 940 948 

 67 870 
 530 952 
 280 934

 
 7 776 506 

 
 89 

 4 268 326 
 17 277 

 754 386 
 167 491 

 
5 207 569 

 
  51 804 914 

 8 370 956 
 43 312

 900 463 
 931 623

 
 62 051 268 

 
 30 217 170 

 2 113 629 
 93 987

 819 035 
 463 954

 
 33 707 775 

 9 454 299 
 3 426 189 

 21 010 
 2 207 064 

154 846
 

 15 263 408 

Net commission expense
 
Commission received
Commission paid

 
  1 579 

 (848 054)
 

 (846 475) 

 
 489 

 (1 298 956)
 

 (1 298 467) 

 
  1 162 236 

 (2 533 146)
 

 (1 370 910)

 
  1 202 597 
 (1 241 724) 

 
(39 127)

 789 
 (641 851)

 
 (641 062) 

Net impairment charge on loans & advances
 
Movement in impairment provision
Physical bad debts written off
Bad debts recovered

Net impairment charge

 
 872 500 

 29 253 315 
 (9 567 772)

 
 20 558 043 

 
 1 519 152 

 12 433 134 
(8 897 652)

 
 5 054 634 

 
 2 705 937

 33 864 205 
 (16 744 185)

 
 19 825 957 

 
 1 047 552 

 36 144 602 
 (13 473 063)

 
 23 719 091 

  1 048 302 
 18 105 424 
 (6 066 422)

 
 13 087 304 

Operating profit/(loss)
 
Operating profit for the year is stated after accounting 
for the following, inter-alia:  
Operating lease rentals -  
 Premises  
 Equipment  
Foreign exchange gains or losses  
Auditors remuneration -  
 Audit fees  
 Other services  
Directors emoluments (included in employee costs below): 
 Executive  
  Salaries  
  Fringe benefits  
  Bonuses  
  Fees  
 Non-executive  
  Fees  
Employee costs  
Consultancy fees relating to non-employees: 
 Secretarial  
 Technical  
(Profit)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 
Insurance claims incurred  
Property Investment expenses  
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment  

 

   19 838 464 
 19 528 679 

 309 785 
 -   

 1 628 942 
 1 561 480 

 67 462

 8 614 738 
 6 963 738 

 18 000 
 1 633 000 

 -   
 472 100 
 472 100 

 47 057 115 
 551 309 

 11 522 
 539 787 

 (221 342) 
 -   
 -   

 4 551 352 

 

 11 541 742 
 11 014 575 

 527 167 
 -   

 995 059 
 882 268 
 112 791 

 3 296 576 
 3 296 576 

 -   
 -   
 -   

 269 788 
 269 788 

 32 200 611 
 496 042 

 7 857 
 488 185 

 (333 412) 
 -   
 -   

 1 409 954 

 

   22 856 147 
 21 990 320 

 865 827 
 -   

 1 883 157 
 1 701 024 

 182 133 

 8 360 118 
 6 237 603 

 -   
 2 122 515 

 -   
 651 892
 651 892 

 57 068 091 
 982 913 
 28 228 

 954 685 
 (609 286) 
 1 506 280 

 -   
 3 112 354 

 

  23 204 508 
 22 815 368 

 389 140  
-   

 1 628 942 
 1 561 480 

 67 462
 

8 614 738 
 6 963 738 

 18 000 
 1 633 000 

 -   
 472 100 
 472 100 

 53 062 671 
 596 372 

 15 872 
 580 500 

 (183 020) 
 770 282 

 -   
 5 037 717 

  9 780 810 
 9 476 265 

 304 545 
 -   

 888 098 
 818 756 
 69 342 

 5 063 541 
 2 941 026 

 -   
 2 122 515 

 -   
 382 104 
 382 104 

 22 136 527 
 473 848 
 19 509 

 454 339 
 (1 842 629) 

 -   
 -   

 1 728 484 

For more detail pertaining to the directors emoluments, refer to the remuneration report.
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28.

29.

30.

31.

Finbond Group Limited Finbond Group Limited

2012201320122013Figures in rand

Finbond Mutual
Consolidated Company

2013

Bank

Dividends from subsidiaries
 
Subsidiaries - Local 11 183 996

11 183 996

 
-

-

-

-

 
-

-

8 050 476

8 050 476

Fair value adjustments
 
Investment property 
Money market mark to market 
(also refer to note 10) 

 22 431 842 
 -

   
 22 431 842 

 
 3 100 000 

 -

   
 3 100 000 

 3 100 000 
 (22 501)

 
 3 077 499 

 
 22 431 842 

 3 318

 
 22 435 160 

 -   
 -   

 -   

Impairment of group loans
 
Impairment of ABC Cash Loans (Pty) Limited 
(Namibia)

 (706 338)

 
 (706 338)

 
- 

 -

   
 -

 - 
 -

 
 -

 
 -
 -

 
 - 

 -   
 -   

 -   

ABC Cash Loans (Pty) Limited (Namibia) consists of only one branch, which were closed during the prior year. Therefore the intercompany 
group loan of ABC Cash Loans (Pty) Ltd was impaired in the prior year.      

Taxation
 
Current tax 
SA normal company tax - current 
SA normal company tax - prior period 
Secondary tax on companies 
 
Deferred tax 
SA normal company tax - current 
SA normal company tax - prior period 
Tax rate change 
 
 
Reconciliation of the tax expense  
Reconciliation between accounting profit and 
taxation expense 
Accounting (loss)/profit before taxation 
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 28% (2012: 28%) 
Tax effect of adjustments on taxable income 
Non-deductible expenses 
Secondary Tax on Companies 
Non-taxable income 
Tax rate adjustment 

  -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 9 086 775 
 314 933 

 8 771 842 

 9 086 775 

 23 345 845 
 6 536 837 

 (3 090 385) 
 -   

 (3 131 519)
 8 771 842 

 9 086 775 

 
  4 796 780 
 4 796 780 

 -   
 -   

 75 905 
 75 905 

 -   

 4 872 685 

 16 459 647 
 4 608 701 

 392 068
 -   

(128 084)
-

 4 872 685

 13 419 674
13 337 090

 -   
 82 584

 (4 183 766) 
 (4 183 766) 

 -   

 9 235 908 

 29 714 692 
 8 320 114 

 172 300
 82 583
743 494

 -   
   

 9 235 908

 
 6 870 029
 5 751 629 

 -   
 1 118 400 

 7 935 218 
 (836 624) 

 8 771 842 

 14 805 247 

 28 229 125 
 7 904 155 

 (2 989 150)
 1 118 400 

 -   
 8 771 842 

   
 14 805 247 

 82 583 
 -   
 -   

 82 583 

 (4 804 986)
 (4 804 986) 

 -   

 (4 722 403)

 (8 612 979) 
 (2 411 634) 

67 392
82 583

-
 (2 460 744)

 (4 722 403) 

If total reserves as at reporting date R62 335 912 (2012: R38 839 975) were to be declared as dividends, the dividend withholding tax 
impact at a rate of 10% (2012: 10%) would be R6 233 591 (2012: R3 883 998).      
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32.

33.

34.

Finbond Group Limited Finbond Group Limited

2012201320122013Figures in rand

Finbond Mutual
Consolidated Company

2013

Bank

Cash generated from operations
 
Profit/(loss) before taxation 
Adjustments for: 
Depreciation and amortisation 
(Profit)/loss on sale of assets 
Dividends received 
Interest received on cash and cash equivalents 
Finance costs (including accrued interest) 
Interest accrued (non cash items) 
Fair value adjustments 
Other non cash items 
Movement in impairment charge and bad debts 
written off 
Share option costs 
Impairment of investments in subsidiaries 
 
Changes in working capital: 
Trade and other receivables 
Trade and other payables 

23 345 845 

 4 551 352 
 (221 342) 

 (11 183 996)
 (727 057) 

 12 195 461 
 1 745 625 

 (22 431 842) 
 477 758 

 30 125 815
 

 (1 433 120) 
 284 335 

 (3 823 348)
 (2 753 155)

 
 30 152 332 

 16 459 647 

 1 409 954 
(333 412) 

 -   
 (471 320)
 3 794 642 
 (723 780) 

 (3 100 000) 
 (258 297)

 13 952 287
 
 -   
 -   

 (2 350 977) 
168 680 007

197 058 751

 29 714 692 

3 112 354 
(609 286) 

 -   
 (2 206 483) 
 20 841 795 

 (516 604) 
 (3 077 499)

 231 116
 36 570 142

 
 -   
 -   

 882 547 
173 011 499

 
 257 954 273

 28 229 125 

 5 037 717 
 (183 020) 

 -   
 (1 356 862)
 16 801 690 
 (1 120 771) 

 (22 435 160)
 229 404 

 37 192 155
 

 (1 433 120) 
 -   

 (340 296)
 (2 603 916)

 
 58 016 949 

 (8 612 979) 

1 728 484
  (1 974 287)
 (8 050 476) 

 (461 542)
 14 771 125 
 2 428 835

 -   
-

 19 153 725
 
 -   
 -   

 (5 374 103) 
5 061 014

 
 18 669 796

Tax paid
 
Balance at the beginning of the period 
Business combinations 
Current tax for the period recognised in 
profit and loss 
Deferred tax 
Balance at the end of the period*

 -   
-

 (9 086 775)
 

 9 086 775
 -   
 
-   

 -
(23 328)   

  (4 872 685)
 

 75 905 
 4 820 108

 
 -

  (3 053 422)
- 

   (8 982 318)
 

 (2 427 477)
 7 492 536

 
 (6 970 681) 

  (2 580 031) 
-

 (14 805 247)
 

 7 935 218 
 3 053 422 

 (6 396 638) 

 -
-   

 3 168 927
 

 (3 251 510) 
 -

   
 (82 583)

*Taxation at the end of the period is payable within 12 months. 

Common control transaction

Finbond applied to the South African Reserve Bank on 11 November 2010 to establish and register a Mutual Bank in terms of the Mutual 
Banks Act 124 of 1993 in order to provide clients with the full range of low cost banking services. Finbond received formal consent from the 
Registrar of Banks on 21 May 2012, in terms of section 11(1) and section 13(1) of the Mutual Banks Act to establish and register a mutual 
bank namely Finbond Mutual Bank in the Republic of South Africa.        
     
The fundamental “Mutual Bank” principle is that a “Mutual Bank” is owned by its depositors and the “Mutual Bank” is managed for the 
benefit of its depositors.        
       
Finbond Group Limited was Finbond Mutual Bank’s first depositor, capitalising the Bank with the required regulatory capital, as imposed by 
the Registrar of Banks, through the acquisition of permanent Class A shares. As owner of the Class A Shares within Finbond Mutual Bank 
Finbond Group Limited is  entitled to 51% of the total member votes of the Bank and the other depositors that owns Class B, C and D Shares 
in Finbond Mutual Bank will have 49% of the total member votes of the Bank. All depositors are shareholders in the Bank and entitled to 
vote at general meetings and appoint directors.

Finbond Group Limited as the sole owner of the A Class shares is the only shareholder entitled to participate in the profits of the Bank.  
     
In order to give effect to the above mentioned transaction, the following took place. On 1 September 2012, Blue Chip Finance Nr1 (Pty) 
Ltd’s assets and liabilities were divisionalised into Finbond Group Limited. Subsequent to Blue Chip Finance Nr 1 (Pty) Ltd’s divisionalisation, 
Finbond Group Limited disposed of agreed upon assets and liabilities through a asset-for-share transaction to Finbond Mutual Bank.  
         
IFRS 3 (Business Combinations) was not applied, as this common control transaction is specifically excluded from the scope of this Standard. 
The net assets of R421 841 974 were transferred to Finbond Mutual Bank at carrying value as at the date of acquisition.   
    

2.9
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-   
-
 -   
 -   
-
 -

   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -

 -   

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -
-   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
-
-
-
-

35.

Disposal/acquisition of subsidiaries
 
Fair value of assets disposed/acquired  
Property, plant and equipment    
Investment property   
Other financial assets    
Loans and advances   
Other receivables
Goodwill   
Cash & cash equivalents
Deferred tax    
Other financial liabilities    
Current tax payable    
Trade and other payables    
At acquisition/disposal fair value of net assets  
Sale/purchase price    
Received/(paid) in cash    
Shares issued - Class A shares within Finbond Mutual Bank
Common control reserve
Financed through long term intergroup loan 
Cash (disposed)/acquired   
Net cash flow on sale/acquisition of subsidiaries 
Group - Consolidated   
Company - Finbond Group Limited

     

   
Fair value of assets disposed/acquired  
Property, plant and equipment    
Investment property   
Other financial assets    
Loans and advances   
Other receivables 
Goodwill  
Cash & cash equivalents 
Deferred tax   
Other financial liabilities    
Current tax payable    
Trade and other payables    
At acquisition/disposal fair value of net assets  
Sale/purchase price    
Received/ (paid) in cash    
Shares issued - Class A shares within Finbond Mutual Bank 
Financed through long term intergroup loan 
Cash (disposed)/acquired   
Net cash flow on sale/acquisition of subsidiaries 
Group - Consolidated   
Company - Finbond Mutual Bank   

 15 984 631 
229 727 571 

 5 570
 101 867 268 

39 407 079
61 262 303 
 25 030 990

(33 465 080)
 (5 000 000)

 (23 328)
 (12 955 028) 
 421 841 976 
 421 841 976 

 -   
 457 781 488
 (35 939 512)

 -   
 (25 030 990) 
 (25 030 990)

 -   
 (25 030 990) 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -
-   
 -
-   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
-
-

 
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -

   -
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
-
-

 -   

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -
-   
-
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
-
-
-

 6 216 074 
 -   
 -

 16 495 445 
 9 205

964 000
 1 851 776

 -
 (25 619 334) 

 -   
 (1 020 130) 
(1 102 964) 

 -   
 -   
 -
-   

 (1 102 964)
 (1 851 776) 
 (1 851 776)

 -   
 (1 851 776)

15 984 631 
229 727 571 

 5 570
101 867 268 
39 407 079
61 262 303
 25 030 990

(33 465 080) 
 (5 000 000) 

 (23 328)
 (12 955 028) 
421 841 976 
457 781 488 

 -   
 457 781 488 

 -   
 25 030 990 
25 030 990

 -
 25 030 990 

Finbond Group Limited Company

2012201320122013Figures in rand
Disposals Acquisitions

Related parties

Disclosable relationships
Shareholder with significant interest:   Kings Reign Investments (Pty) Ltd      
      Konings Genade Beleggings (Pty) Ltd

Subsidiaries and joint ventures:   Refer to note 9

Members of key management and directors:  Dr.   W van Aardt
      Mrs. HJ Wilken-Jonker
      Mr.   DC Pentz
      Mr.   GT Sayers
      Dr.   MDC Motlala
      Adv. J Noeth
      Mrs. RN Xaba
      Adv. NJ Melville
      Mr.   R Emslie

Finbond Mutual Bank

2012201320122013

Figures in rand Disposals Acquisitions
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36.

36.1

Finbond Group Limited Finbond Group Limited

2012201320122013Figures in rand

Finbond Mutual
Consolidated Company

2013

Bank

Related party balances   
Loans to/(from) Group Companies  
Refer note 9.
Insurance Premiums Loan Account  
 
Compensation to directors and 
other key management   
Refer note 27.    
Related party transactions    
Commissions   
Commission received from Guardrisk Insurance 
Company Ltd - Cell number 187 & 125   
   
Binder fees   
Binder fees received from Guardrisk Insurance 
Company Ltd - Cell number 187 & 125   
   
Interest on loans   
Blue Chip Finance Nr 1 (Pty) Ltd 
ABC Cash Loans (Pty) Limited (Namibia)   
   
Security Fees and Levies   
Konings genade   
   
Dividends   
Dividends received from Guardrisk Insurance 
Company Ltd - Cell number 187 & 125  
 

11 804 731

4 955 802

 -

2 303 579
15 511

 -

 11 183 996

54 448

-

 3 854 008

 -   
-

 -

 -

-

10 083 579 

 -   

 -   
-

 -   

 -   

8 337

-

 -

 -   
-

-

 -

12 175 611

9 309 178

 5 039 138

 -   
-

 791 700   

 8 050 476

Financial instruments

The Group and Company (the “Group”) are exposed to the following material risks, the management of which is detailed below.  
             
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including fair value interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk 
and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.        
        
The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse 
effects on the Group’s financial performance. Risk management is carried out by a central risk department, headed up by the Chief Risk 
Officer (CRO), under policies approved by the Board of Directors. The CRO identifies, evaluates and economically hedges financial 
risks (through the use of such tools as a risk barometer) in close co-operation with the Group’s operating units. The Group views risk 
management as a measure of ensuring a responsible return on shareholders’ equity. Ultimately, the board remains responsible for risk 
management. The Group is managed through a system of internal controls functioning uniformly throughout the entity so that an awareness 
of risk pervades every aspect of business and is seen as the responsibility of each employee of the Group. The Board of Directors provides 
written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as interest rate risk, credit risk and 
investment of excess liquidity.        

Sensitivity analysis        
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rate instruments at the reporting date. A 50 basis 
point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s 
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.       
 
If interest rates had been on average 50 basis points higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s:  
 •   profit for the year ended 28 February 2013 would decrease/increase by R596 607 (2012: R676 105).   
     
This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable rate funding and cash and cash equivalents. Loans 
and advances exposure to interest rate risk is considered relatively insignificant based on the Group’s product mix. Loan products are 
predominantly subject to fixed yields (discretionary - also refer 36.2.2 below) based on the Group’s target product mix, as prescribed by the 
National Credit Act (NCA). The Group’s sensitivity to interest rates remains relatively unchanged during the current period due to a declining 
interest rate trend, which is expected to continue in the short term due to market forces, offset by an increased exposure to floating rate 
financial instruments, as illustrated below.        
        
Significant exposures to interest risk is set out below:        
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36.2

36.2.1

36.2.2

Floating

Finbond 
Mutual Bank

CompanyConsolidated
Figures in rand

Class of Financial instrument: carrying value
 
2013
Cash and cash equivalents
Other financial assets
Loans and advances
Loans to/(from) group companies and shareholders
Other financial liabilities
Finance lease obligation
Deposits received from clients

Net exposure

2012
Cash and cash equivalents
Other financial assets
Loans and advances
Loans to/(from) group companies and shareholders
Other financial liabilities
Finance lease obligation

Net exposure

 

63 595 201 
 25 693 757 
 2 277 088 

 - 
 (23 488 650)

 (240 192) 
 (164 037 998)

 
 (96 200 794) 

 53 232 659 
 8 607 373 

 82 893 
 (20 000 000) 

 (174 441 820)
 (2 702 079)

 
 (135 220 974)

 
 201 343 

 -   
 -   
 -   

 (22 841 529) 
 -   
 -

   
 (22 640 186)

  47 032 105 
 5 570 

 82 796 
 (12 000 000) 

 (161 229 815)
 (2 637 314)

 
 (128 746 658)

  61 071 085 
 5 570 

 -   
 -   

 (635 201) 
 (240 192)

 (164 037 998) 

 (103 836 736)

 - 
- 
- 

 - 
 -
 -
 
 -

Financial risk management

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that Finbond is unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due and to replace funds when they are 
withdrawn, the consequence of which may be the failure to meet obligations to repay depositors and fulfil commitments to lend.  
           
Liquidity management is a priority of the Group. The Group ensures that it has adequate liquid assets at all times in order to maintain its 
current ratio requirements. The short term nature of the loan book versus the long term sources of Deposits received from clients, greatly 
reduces the liquidity risk of the Group. Refer to note 18, as well as 36.3 for a maturity analysis of significant financial liabilities.  
             
The Group is holding additional liquidity and has therefore been able to maintain funding at normal market rates. Liquidity risk is managed 
using a multifaceted approach, including:        
- daily cash management procedures;        
- cash flow forecasts are prepared and adequate utilised borrowing facilities are monitored;     
- group bank accounts are set up with sweeping facilities based on a predetermined maintain balances, per branch, to optimise cash 
  utilisation;       
- prudential limits to restrict concentration of cash flows by maturity or client;        
- maintaining a stable deposit base;        
- maintaining a large amount of surplus liquid assets determined by the board of directors, in compliance with SARB requirement.  
             
Liquidity determines the day to day viability of the Group and remains one of the principal considerations of asset/liability management. The 
Group has a detailed Asset and Liability Management Policy which sets out the policies and procedures that are in place and applied within 
the bank’s Asset and Liability management process. The authority and responsibility for liability and interest rate risk management rests with 
the bank’s board of directors. Liquidity is managed strictly by the Group and involves prudently managing assets and liabilities, both as to 
cash flow and concentration, to ensure that cash inflows have an appropriate relationship to approaching cash outflows. 

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the potential impact on earnings or the value of the Group’s holdings of financial instruments and on future cash flow of 
financial instruments due to changes in the interest rate.        
        
The Group operates in a fixed and discretionary interest rate industry for most products. Discretionary rate items are those where the rates 
are not necessarily linked to a market interest rate but rather where management can, at their discretion, increase or decrease the rate as 
deemed appropriate, in line with NCA requirements.        
        
Call deposits in which surplus undeployed funds are placed, bank balances, as well as sources of funding vary with prime and JIBAR. As 
discussed above loans and advances and deposits received from customers have fixed and discretionary interest rates in line with NCA 
requirements. The Group policy is to manage interest rate risk so that fluctuations in variable rates do not have a material impact on profit/
(loss). Refer also to sensitivity analysis above.        
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36.2.3

36.2.4

36.2.5

36.2.6

Credit risk
Credit risk is the banks most material risk and can be defined as the risk of loss arising from the failure of a client or counterparty to fulfil its 
financial and/or contractual obligations to the Bank. The credit risk that the Bank faces arises mainly from consumer loans and advances. 
             
Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits and cash equivalents R63 595 201 (2012: R53 232 659) and net loans and advances            
R122 434 015 (2012: R89 548 617). Loans and advances are stated net of impairment allowances on the face of the statement of financial 
position. The Group only deposits cash with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter-party. 
       
Loans and advances comprise a widespread demographic and economic customer base. Management evaluate credit risk relating to 
customers on an on-going basis.
 
The Group structures the levels of credit risks it undertakes, placing limits on the amounts of risk accepted in relation to one borrower, or a 
group of borrowers based on credit vetting and affordability upfront, as prescribed by the NCR.
  
Active pay date management compliments the above and ensures maximum pro-active efficiencies on borrower repayments and collections. 
 
Daily monitoring of recoverability and collectability at branch, area, region, as well as from Group level is practiced. Collections strategies 
for groups of borrowers by demographic and economic customer base ensures effective and efficient collections efforts. A combination of 
insourced and outsourced collections strategies are followed.
 
The Group makes allowance for impairment against non-performing accounts, where recoverability is doubtful.     
            
Refer to note 12 for additional disclosure relating to loans and advances.      
 
Capital management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to 
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, and to provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing products 
and services commensurately with the level of risk.        
        
The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk and to cater for unexpected losses. The Group manages the capital structure 
and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets and market 
conditions.        
        
The Bank has complied with all external imposed capital requirements.       
 
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to 
shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets to reduce debt.        

Operational risk
Operational risk arises from the potential that inadequate management, information systems, operational problems, breaches of internal 
controls, fraud or unforeseen catastrophes will result in unexpected losses.      
        
The Group operates within a risk management framework approved by the board of directors. This framework demarcates risk limits, 
delegations and levels of authority, which are incorporated in comprehensive operational procedures.     
       
The internal audit department perform an independent, objective assurance designed to add value and improve the Group’s operations. 
Internal audit assists the bank in accomplishing its objectives by employing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluating and improving 
the effectiveness of the risk management, control and governance processes.       
 
Foreign exchange/currency risk
The Group is currently not exposed to currency risk as all lending operations are based locally or in common monetary areas. All funding 
is local. Also refer note 17.         
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Financial liabilities

Maturity analysis

36.3

Contractual undiscounted liabilities

Consolidated - 2013
Other financial liabilities

Loans from group companies

Deposits received

Trade and other payables

Total contractual liabilities

Consolidated – 2012

Other financial liabilities

Loans from group companies

Trade and other payables

Total contractual liabilities

Company – 2013
Other financial liabilities

Loans from group companies

Trade and other payables

Total contractual liabilities

Company – 2012

Other financial liabilities

Loans from group companies

Trade and other payables

Total contractual liabilities

Finbond Mutual Bank – 2013
Other financial liabilities

Loans from group companies

Deposits received

Trade and other payables

Total contractual liabilities

 
 -
-   

 (98 478 205) 
 -   

 (98 478 205)

 (59 871 043) 

 -   

 -   

 (59 871 043) 

 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   

 (59 609 539)

 -   

 -   

 (59 609 539) 

 -   
 -   

 (98 478 205) 
 -   

 (98 478 205) 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -

   
 -   

 (960 822)

 -   

 -   

 (960 822) 

 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   

 (1 011 049)

 -   

 -   

 (1 011 049) 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   

 (23 488 650) 
 -   

(164 037 998)
 (21 884 852)

 (209 411 500) 

 (174 441 821)

 (20 000 000) 

 (12 911 381)

 (207 353 202) 

 (22 841 529) 
 (233 472 946)

 (5 047 469) 

 (261 361 944)

 (161 229 815) 

 (96 954 976)

 (10 999 960) 

 (269 184 751)

 (635 201) 
 -   

 (164 037 998)
 (16 580 282) 

 (181 253 481)

Payable after 
5 years

Payable in 
1-5 years

Payable in 
less than 1 

year

Total
Carrying 

Value

 (23 488 650) 
 -   

 (65 559 793)
 (21 884 852)

 
(110 933 295) 

(113 609 956) 

 (20 000 000) 

 (12 911 381)

 

(146 521 337) 

 (22 841 529) 
(233 472 946) 

 (5 047 469)
 

(261 361 944) 

(100 609 227) 

 (96 954 976) 

 (10 999 960)

(208 564 163) 

 (635 201) 
 -   

 (65 559 793)
 (16 580 282) 

 (82 775 276)

Figures in rand
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Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities

Consolidated - 2013
Other financial assets

Loans and advances

Other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Total financial assets

Other financial liabilities

Loans to/(from) group companies

Deposits received

Trade and other payables

Total financial liabilities

Consolidated – 2012

Other financial assets

Loans and advances

Other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Total financial assets

Other financial liabilities

Loans from group companies

Trade and other payables

Total financial liabilities

 5 570 
 -   
 -   
 -

   
 5 570 

 -   
 -   
-
 -   

 -   

 5 570 

 -   

 -   

 -

   

 5 570

 

 -   

 -   

 -

   

 -   

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -

   
 -   

 -   
 -   
-

 (21 884 852)

 (21 884 852) 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 (12 911 381)

 

(12 911 381) 

 25 693 757 
 122 434 015 

 9 126 997  
63 595 201 

 
220 849 970 

 
(23 488 650) 

 -   
-

 (21 884 852)
 

(45 373 502) 

 8 607 373 

 89 548 617 

 10 009 544 

 53 232 659 

 

161 398 193

(174 441 821) 

 (20 000 000) 

 (12 911 381)

(207 353 202) 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   

 (23 488 650) 
 -   
-
 -   

 (23 488 650)

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

(174 441 821) 

 (20 000 000) 

 -   

(194 441 821) 

  25 688 187 
 122 434 015 

 9 126 997 
 63 595 201

 
 220 844 400

 
 -   
 -   
-
 -   

 -   

 8 601 803 

 89 548 617 

 10 009 544 

 53 232 659

 

 161 392 623

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

36.4

Other 
liabilities

Available 
for sale

Held to 
maturity TotalFigures in rand

Loans and 
receivables
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Company - 2013
Loans to group companies

Other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Total financial assets

Loans from group companies

Other financial liabilities

Trade and other payables

Total financial liabilities

Company – 2012

Loans to group companies

Loans and advances

Trade and other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Total financial assets

Loans from group companies

Other financial liabilities

Trade and other payables

Total financial liabilities

Finbond Mutual Bank - 2013
Loans to group companies

Loans and advances

Other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Total financial assets

Loans from group companies

Other financial liabilities

Deposits received

Trade and other payables

Total financial liabilities

 -   
  -   
 -

   
 -

   
 -   
 -   
 -

   
 -   

 
-   

 -   

 -   

 -

   

 -

   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -

-   
 -   
 -   
 -

   
 -

   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   
   

 -   
 -   
 -

   
 -

   
 -   
 -   

 (5 047 469)
 

 (5 047 469)

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -

   

 -

   

 -   

 -   

 (10 998 960)

 

 (10 998 960)

-   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   

 -   
 -   
 -   

 (16 580 282) 

 (16 580 282)

  22 039 924 
 15 717 447 

 201 343
 

 37 958 714 

(233 472 946) 
 (22 841 529) 
 (5 047 469)

 
(261 361 944) 

 37 292 799 

 73 382 758 

 16 276 139 

 47 032 105

 

 173 983 801

 

 (96 954 976) 

 (161 229 815)

 (10 999 960)

 

 (269 184 751)

155 852 593 
 122 436 094 

 3 591 023 
 61 071 085

 
 342 950 795

 
 -   

 (635 201) 
(164 037 998)
 (16 580 282)

 
(181 253 481)

 -   
 -   
 -

   
 -

   
 -   

 (22 841 529)
 -

   
 (22 841 529) 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 47 032 105

 

 47 032 105

 

 (20 000 000) 

 (161 229 815)

 -

   

 (181 229 815) 

-   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   

 -   
 (635 201) 

 -   
 -   

 (635 201)

   22 039 924 
  15 717 447 

201 343
 

 37 958 714
 

(233 472 946) 
 -   
 -

   
(233 472 946) 

 37 292 799 

 73 382 758 

 16 276 139 

 -   

 126 951 696 

 (76 954 976) 

 -   

 -   

 (76 954 976)

155 852 593 
 122 436 094 

 3 591 023 
 61 071 085 

 342 950 795 

 -   
 -   

(164 037 998) 
 -   

(164 037 998) 

Other 
liabilities

Available 
for sale

Held to 
maturity TotalFigures in rand

Loans and 
receivables

All financial instruments’ carrying values approximate fair value as at 28 February 2013.
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Income, expenses, gains and losses resulting from financial assets and liabilities36.5

Consolidated - 2013
Interest income

Interest expense

Fee income

Impairment losses

Consolidated – 2012

Interest income

Interest expense

Fee income

Impairment losses

Company – 2013
Interest income

Interest expense

Fee income

Impairment losses

Company – 2012

Interest income

Interest expense

Fee income

Impairment losses

Finbond Mutual Bank – 2013
Interest income

Interest expense

Fee income

Impairment losses

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

  52 450 941    
 (20 841 795) 

 94 019 282
 (19 825 957) 

 47 382 983 

 (16 801 690)

 92 305 545 

 (23 719 091) 

 21 008 686 
 (14 771 125)

 40 858 675 
 (13 087 304) 

 38 971 793 

 (12 195 461)

 78 319 506 

 (20 558 043) 

 26 415 531 
 (3 794 642)
 46 607 958 
 (5 054 634)

 -   
 (20 841 795) 

 -   
 -   

 -   

 (16 801 690) 

 -   

 -   

 -   
 (14 771 125) 

 -   
 -   

 -   

 (12 195 461)

 -   

 -   

 -   
 (3 794 642) 

 -   
 -   

   52 450 941 
 -   

 94 019 282 
 (19 825 957) 

 47 382 983

 -   

 92 305 545 

 (23 719 091) 

 21 008 686 
 -   

 40 858 675 
 (13 087 304) 

 38 971 793 

 -   

 78 319 506 

 (20 558 043) 

 26 415 531 
 -   

 46 607 958 
 (5 054 634) 

Other 
liabilities

Available 
for sale

Held to 
maturity TotalFigures in rand

Loans and 
receivables
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Segment reporting

Business segments

37.

Consolidated - 2013
Interest revenue

Interest expense

Net interest revenue

Fee income

Net commission income

Other microfinance income

Fair value adjustment

Net impairment charge 

on loans and advances

Depreciation

Operating expenses

Operating (loss)/profit

Net impairment charge 

on intangibles

Loss on sale of subsidiary

Gain on a bargain purchase

(Loss)/profit before taxation

Taxation

(Loss)/profit  for  the  year

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent

Minority interest

Segment assets

Investment property

Loans and advances

received from customers

Cash & cash equivalents

Segment liabilities

Deposits received from customers

 28 716 
 -   

 28 716 
 -   

 639 974 
 -   
 -   
 -

   
 -   

 (6 106) 
 662 584 

 -
   
 -   
 -   

 662 584 
 (182 414) 

 480 170 
2%

 480 170 
-

 3 741 606 
 -   
 -

   
 919 380 

 (184 919) 
 -   

 656 123 
 (6 457 300) 
 (5 801 177)

 -   
 1 279 

 -   
 -   
 -

   
 -   

 416 909 
 (5 382 989) 

 -   

 -   
 -   

 (5 382 989) 
 -   

 (5 382 989)
(26%)

 (5 234 145) 
-

 11 780 053 
 -   
 -   

 10 637 065 

 22 242 539 
 -   

   52 450 941 
 (20 841 795) 

 31 609 147 
 94 019 282 
 (1 370 910) 
 62 051 268 
 3 077 499 

 (19 825 957)
 

 (3 112 354)
(136 733 282) 

 29 714 693
 -

   
 - 
 -   

 29 714 693
 (9 235 909)
 20 478 784

100%

 20 732 781 
(253 997) 

 556 271 439 
233 005 882 
 122 434 015 

 63 595 201 

251 337 986
 164 037 998

 -   
 (336 323) 
 (336 323)

 -   
 -   
 -   

 3 100 000 
 -   

 -   
 (1 407 776) 

 1 355 901 
 -   

 -   
 -   

 1 355 901 
 -   

 1 355 901 
7%

 1 355 901 
-

 233 005 882 
 233 005 882 

 -   

 -   

 1 234 191 
 -   

   51 724 698 
 (11 712 485) 

 40 012 213 
 94 019 282 
 (2 012 163)
 62 051 268 

 (22 501) 
 (19 825 957)

 (3 112 354) 
(139 587 225) 

 31 522 563 
 -   

 -   
 -   

 31 522 563 
 (9 053 495) 
 22 469 068

110%

 16 058 235 
 (253 997) 

 286 931 169
 -   

 122 434 015 

 32 426 027 

59 693 034
 -   

Reconciling
Mortgage 

Origination
Property

Investment ConsolidatedFigures in rand
Micro

Finance

   41 404 
 (2 335 687) 
 (2 294 283) 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   
 3 850 916 
 1 556 633 

 -   

 -   
 -   

 1 556 633 
 -   

 1 556 633 
7%

 8 072 619 
 -   

 20 812 729 
 -   
 -   

 19 612 729 

 168 353 141 
 164 037 998 

Deposits 
Received

3.6 | FS 7 
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Business segments

Consolidated - 2012
Interest revenue

Interest expense

Net interest revenue

Fee income

Net commission income

Other microfinance income

Fair value adjustment

Net impairment charge 

on loans and advances

Depreciation

Operating expenses

Operating (loss)/profit

Net impairment charge 

on intangibles

Loss on sale of subsidiary

Gain on a bargain purchase

(Loss)/profit before taxation

Taxation

(Loss)/profit  for  the  year

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent

Minority interest

Segment assets

Investment property

Loans and advances

received from customers

Cash & cash equivalents

Segment liabilities

 88 813 

 -   

 88 813 

 -   

 886 456 

 -   

 -   

 -   

-

 (457 499) 

 517 770 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 517 770 

 (171 950) 

 345 820 

3%

 345 820 

 -   

 3 651 882 

 -   

 -   

 908 269 

 (225 939) 

  462 910 

 (1 508 139) 

 (1 045 229)

 -   

 (26 174) 

 13 524 318 

 3 318 

 -   

-

 4 578 330 

 17 034 564 

 -   

 -   

-

 17 034 563 

 (7 862 200) 

 9 172 363 

68%

 9 172 364 

 -   

 39 204 117 

 -   

 -   

 27 064 141 

 20 363 556 

    47 382 983 

 (16 801 690) 

 30 581 293 

 92 305 545 

 (39 127) 

 33 707 775 

 22 435 160 

 (23 719 091)

 

 (5 037 717)

 (122 004 713) 

 28 229 125 

 -   

 -

   

 -   

 28 229 125 

 (14 805 247) 

 13 423 878 

100%

 13 552 177 

 (128 298) 

 471 338 744 

 229 620 000 

 89 548 616

 

 53 232 659 

 224 270 510 

 -   

 (375 847) 

 (375 847)

 -   

 -   

 -   

 22 431 842 

 -   

-

 (855 224) 

 21 200 771 

 -   

 -

   

 -   

 21 200 771 

 -   

 21 200 771 

158%

 21 200 771 

 -   

 229 620 000 

 229 620 000 

 -

   

 -   

 -   

   46 831 260 

 (14 917 704) 

 31 913 556 

 92 305 545 

 (899 409) 

 20 183 457 

 -   

 (23 719 091)

 

 (5 037 717)

 (125 270 320) 

 (10 523 979)

 -

   

 -   

 -   

 (10 523 979) 

 (6 771 097)

 (17 295 076) 

(129%)

 (17 166 778)

 (128 298) 

 198 862 745 

 -   

 89 548 616

 

 25 260 249 

 204 132 893 

Reconciling
Mortgage 

Origination
Property

Investment ConsolidatedFigures in rand
Micro

Finance

   -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -

   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

-

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

Deposits 
Received

The Group is primarily a financial services provider with significant business interests in the microfinance environment. The Group is 
organised into four major operating divisions, namely: microfinance, property investment, mortgage origination and deposit taking. These 
divisions are the basis on which the Group reports its segment information for internal purposes. The Group’s operating divisions operate in 
one principal geographical segment/area of the world, namely South Africa. The reconciling column relates to other operations that make 
up less than 10% of the total Group turnover.
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Earnings per share attributable to ordinary shareholders
Basic earnings per share
        
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Group by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share 

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to take into account 
the any potentially dilutive ordinary shares. For 2013 and 2012 potentially dilutive ordinary shares consist of share options. In terms of the 
share options, a calculation was performed to determine the number of shares that could have been acquired at fair value (determined 
as the average annual market share price of the Company’s shares) based on the monetary value of the subscription rights attached to 
outstanding options. The number of shares calculated was compared with the number of shares that would have been issued assuming the 
exercise of the share options. The difference would be added to the denominator as an issue of ordinary shares for no consideration, but 
had an anti-dilutive effect, therefore no adjustment to the dilutive calculation. 

Headline earnings/(loss) per share attributable to ordinary shareholders is determined as follows:
       

20122013

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 382 025 250581 504 702

38.
38.1

38.2

38.3

39.

20122013

Weighted average number of diluted ordinary shares outstanding 382 025 250581 504 702

20122013

Net profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent

Adjusted for:

Profit/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment

Revaluation of investment properties

Fair value adjustment of investment properties included in basic earnings

Tax effect on re-measurement of items of a capital nature included in earnings in the current period

Headline profit/(loss)

Headline earnings/(loss) per share (cents)

Diluted headline earnings/(loss) per share (cents)

Commitments and contingent liabilities

Operating lease commitments

At reporting date the Group had commitments for operating leases over premises and equipment which fall due as follows:

The Group and its directors are not aware of the existence of any possible contingencies at date of signature of these annual financial 
statements. No capital commitments, either contracted or not contracted for, have been approved by the board as at year-end.  
    

 13 552 177 

 (131 774) 

 (18 223 117)

 (22 435 160) 

 4 212 043 

 (4 802 714) 

 (1.3) 

 (1.3)

 20 732 781 

 (438 686) 
 (2 521 333)
 (3 100 000) 

 578 667 

 17 772 765 
 3.1
 3.1 

Figures in rand

Finbond Group Limited Finbond Group Limited

2012201320122013Figures in rand

Finbond Mutual
Consolidated Company

2013

Bank

Within one year
In the second to fifth year
After five years

 12 138 122 
 11 210 593 

 -
   

 23 348 715 

 14 882 630 
 15 878 840 

 -
   

 30 761 470 

 15 122 351 
 16 056 147 

 -
   

 31 178 498 

 14 321 854 
 12 254 548 

 -   

 26 576 402 

 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   
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Share based compensation

The share incentive scheme was authorised and adopted by the board of directors. Shares were held by the Group on behalf of participants 
to save the holding expenses of a broker account. The share incentive scheme provided that options, with exercise dates between one and 
five years, expiring on the fifth anniversary of date of acceptance, should be allocated at market value, as determined by the weighted 
average price per share over a period of 30 days trading on the JSE Limited prior to the date of allocation.     
          
The Group offered share options in Finbond to all members of staff who were able to make significant contributions to the achievement of 
the entities objectives. Options were conditional on the employee completing the vesting period applicable to each group of options issued 
to that employee. On 24 November 2011, beneficiaries’ entitlements under the scheme were converted from share entitlements to cash 
entitlements, in agreement with the beneficiaries. At 29 February 2012, the Scheme was terminated after the Group’s share price declined 
further. 

      

Dividend per share

No dividends were declared or paid in respect of the period ending 28 February 2013 or 29 February 2012.

Intangible assets

Acquired trademarks and brand names are allocated to individual cash-generating units. Impairment testing is performed annually by 
comparing the net carrying value of the cash-generating units to the estimated ‘value in use’. The value in use is determined by carrying 
value of the cash-generating units to the estimated ‘value in use’. The value in use is determined by discounting estimated future cash flows 
of each cash-generating unit using the discounted cash flow methodology/income method. Management regards the useful lives of all 
cash-generating units to be 5 years, due to the following factors that were considered:
• 
•
•
•

•
•

•
•

Management have decided to impair intangibles on the statement of financial position in the current year. These intangibles related to the 
brand names and trademarks are associated with Blue Chip Finance Nr 1 (Pty) Ltd and Bondexcel (Pty) Ltd, which have been discontinued 
and no longer provide future benefits, as both brands are effectively being marketed and traded under the Finbond brand name.

40.

41.

42.

20122013Figures in rand

Consolidated

Options issued to employees
Balance at the beginning of the year
Options granted
Options expired
Options exercised

Balance at the end of the year

 
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -

   
 -   

 
55 053 977 

 -   
 (55 053 977) 

 -   

 -   

Group
Trademarks and brand names

 
101 002 097 (101 002 097) -

Accumulated
amortisation 

and 
impairment

Cost/
Valuation

Carrying
Value

Accumulated 
amortisation 

and 
impairmentFigures in rand

2013
Carrying

Value

(101 002 097) -

Cost/
Valuation

101 002 097

2012

Group
Trademarks and brand names

 
- - -

ImpairmentAmortisationOpening BalanceFigures in rand
Reconciliation of intangible assets – 2013

Total

-

the expected usage of the asset by the entity and whether the asset could be managed efficiently by another management team;
product life cyclesand public information on estimates of useful lives of similar assets used in a similar way;
technical, technological, commercial or other types of obsolescence;
the stability of the industry in which the asset operates and changes in the market demand for the products or services output from the 
assets;
expected actions by competitors or potential competitors;
the maintenance expenditure level required to obtain expected future economic benefits and the entity’s ability and intention to reach 
such a level;
period of control over the asset and legal or similar limits on the use of the asset, such as the expiry dates of related leases; and
whether the useful life of the asset is dependent on the useful life of other assets of the entity.
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% of total 
shareholders

Number of 
shareholders

94.7

0.3
0.3
0.2
0.2
4.1
0.2

100.0

 536

2
2
1
1

23
1
 

566

MAJOR INDIVIDUAL HOLDINGS

According to the register of shareholders at 28 February 2013, the following shareholders held beneficial interests resulting 
in control of 1% or more of the issued ordinary share capital of the company:

% of total 
issued shares

Number of 
shares held

Kings Reign Investments (Pty) Ltd 
Net 1 Finance Holdings   
Pershing LLC   
Coetser M   
IBL Private Placements   
Forecast Investments (Pty) Ltd   
Midbrooklane (Pty) Ltd   
Gillham TRC   
GFS Holdings Limited   
   
Shareholder spread   
   
Public shareholders   
Non-public shareholders   
  Directors   
  Associates of directors   
  Subsidiaries   
  Shareholders with more than 10% share   
  Employees of the group   
  Finbond Group Limited   
   
Total shareholders   

 44.7  
25.9 
 7.7 
 2.5 
 2.4 
 1.6 
 1.5 
 1.2 
 1.0 

 270 240 732  
156 788 712 
 46 693 581 
 15 108 102 
 14 570 100 

 9 400 000 
 8 935 115 
 7 010 000 
 5 794 277 

% of total 
issued shares

Number of 
shares held

28.9

44.7
0.0
0.0

25.9
0.3
0.2

100

175 057 857

270 240 732
8 700

18 000
156 788 712

2 028 000
883 249

 
605 025 250
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SHAREHOLDERS’ DAIRY

Annual general meeting       Friday, June 28, 2013
       
Interim statement for the six months ending 31 August 2013  Friday, November 1, 2013

“You will never “find” time for anything. If you want time, you must make it.”
– Charles Bruxton –
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NOTICE TO SHAREHOLDERS OF FINBOND GROUP LIMITED

Notice is hereby given that the annual general meeting of members of Finbond Group Limited (“the Company”) will be held in the 
Jakaranda Ballroom, Sheraton Hotel, 643 cnr of Church and Wessels Street, Pretoria on Friday, 28 June 2013 at 10:00 for the 
following purposes:

1. To receive and consider the consolidated audited annual financial statements of the Company, for the year ended 28 February 2013, 
    including the Directors’ report, the report of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration report and the report of the external auditors 
    thereon.
2. To consider and, if deemed fit, to pass with or without modification, the following resolutions:

Ordinary resolution number 1
It is hereby resolved that the directors be and are hereby authorised to allot and issue, at their discretion, the unissued share capital of 
the company and/or grant options to subscribe for unissued shares, for such purposes and on such terms and conditions as they may 
determine, provided that such transaction(s) has/have been approved by the JSE Limited as and when required, and are subject to the 
JSE Listings Requirements and the Companies Act and shareholders hereby waive any pre-emptive rights thereto.

Ordinary resolution number 2 to be passed by 75% of the voting shareholders present
Resolved that, subject to meeting the relevant JSE listings requirements and no less than 75% of shareholders  (excluding the Designated 
Advisor and controlling shareholder) present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote at the Annual General Meeting at which this 
ordinary resolution is to be considered, voting in favour thereof, the directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised, by way 
of general authority, to issue all or any of the authorised but unissued shares in the capital of the Company for cash as they in their 
discretion deem fit, subject to the following limitations:
(a) The securities must be of a class already in issue,
(b) The securities must be issued to public shareholders and not to related parties,
(c) The general issue of shares for cash in the aggregate in any one financial year may not exceed 50% of the Company’s issued share 
     capital of that class,
(d) The maximum discount at which the securities may be issued is 10% of the weighted average traded price of those securities over 
     the 30 business days prior to the date that the price of the issue is determined or agreed by the directors of the Company, and
(e) That a press announcement giving full details, including the impact on net asset value and earnings per share will be published 
     at the time of any issue representing on a cumulative basis within one year, 5% or more of the number of shares of that class in 
     issue prior to the issues.

Ordinary resolution number 3
Resolved to reappoint KPMG Inc. as auditors of the Company, and Mr. J Vliegenthart as the individual, designated auditor of the 
Company, for the 2013/2014 financial year, until the next annual general meeting.

Ordinary resolutions numbers 4 through 13: director appointment and re-election

Ordinary resolution number 4: Resolved to ratify the appointment of Mr. R Emslie to the Board of directors in the capacity of 
independent, non-executive director;

Ordinary resolution number 5: Resolved to ratify the appointment of Adv. N Melville to the Board of directors in the capacity of 
independent, non-executive director;

Ordinary resolution number 6: Resolved to re-elect Dr. M Motlatla to the Board of directors in the capacity of independent, non-
executive director who, in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, may be required to retire by rotation but offered 
himself for re-election;

Ordinary resolution number 7: Resolved to re-elect Adv. J Noeth to the Board of directors in the capacity of independent, non-
executive director who, in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, may be required to retire by rotation but offered 
himself for re-election;

Ordinary resolution number 8: Resolved to re-elect Mrs. R Xaba to the Board of directors in the capacity of independent, non-
executive director who, in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, may be required to retire by rotation but offered 
herself for re-election;

Ordinary resolution number 9: Resolved to re-elect Mr. DC Pentz to the Board of directors in the capacity of executive director 
who, in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, may be required to retire by rotation but offered himself for re-election;

Ordinary resolution number 10: Resolved to re-elect Mrs. H Wilken-Jonker to the Board of directors in the capacity of non-
executive director who, in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, may be required to retire by rotation but offered 
herself for re-election;

Ordinary resolution number 11: Resolved to ratify the appointment of Mr. R Emslie to the audit committee;
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Ordinary resolution number 12: Resolved to re-elect Adv. J Noeth to the audit committee;

Ordinary resolution number 13: Resolved to re-elect Mrs. R Xaba to the audit committee.

Special resolution number 1
Resolved that the remuneration of the non-executive directors as set out on pages 56 and 58 of the annual report of which 
this notice forms part, to be paid by Finbond Mutual Bank, be fixed from 1 June 2013 as follows:
 -  R19 264 for each attendance of a Board meeting (Chairman),
   -  R16 064 for each attendance of a Board meeting (other members),
   -   R15 360 for each attendance of a Board committee meeting (Chairman), including meetings of the remuneration, 
    social and ethics, and audit committees
 -  R12 801 for each attendance of a Board committee meeting (other members), including meetings of the 
    remuneration, social and ethics, risk and audit committees
 -  R8 960 retainer per month (Chairman), and
   -  R6 400 retainer per month (other members).

It is hereby noted that executive directors are contracted as employees of the Company and are not remunerated separately 
for attending meetings in their capacities as directors. They are elected as directors for as long as they continue to serve 
in their executive capacity, or until they resign such directorships.

Special resolution number 2
Resolved that the inter-group loans of the Company as set out on page 85 of the annual report of which this notice forms 
part, be ratified for the period ended 28 February 2013 as follows:

Special resolution number 3
Resolved that subject to compliance with the requirements of the JSE, the directors of the Company be and are hereby 
authorised at their discretion to procure that the Company or subsidiaries of the Company acquire by purchasing ordinary 
shares issued by the Company provided that:
(i)  the number of ordinary shares acquired in any one financial year, 
(ii)  shall not exceed 20% of the ordinary shares in issue at the date on which this resolution is passed,
(iii)  this authority shall lapse on the earlier of the date of the next annual general meeting of the Company or the date 
 15 months after the date on which this resolution is passed,

28-Feb-13Figures in rand

Loans  to  (from)  group  companies
Subsidiaries

Bondmaster Group (Pty) Limited
The loan is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment. 
Blue Chip Finance Western Cape (Pty) Limited
The loan is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment. 
Blue Chip Finance 1 (Pty) Limited
The loan is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment.  
Finbond Mutual Bank
The loan is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment. 
Mzanzi Finance (Pty) Limited
The loan is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment. 
Finbond Mortgage Origination (Pty) Limited
The loan is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment. 
Greenflash Trading 220 (Pty) Limited
The loan is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment. 

(29 620 161)
 

(25 869 101)
 

   21 864 162
 

(155 852 593)
 

        175 761 
 

(19 077 188)
 

(3 053 904)

 
(211 433 024)
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(iv)  the price paid per ordinary share may not be greater than 10% above the weighted average of the market value 
 of the ordinary shares for the five business days immediately preceding the date on which a purchase is made,
(v)  the number of shares purchased by subsidiaries of the Company shall not exceed 10% in the aggregate of the 
 number of issued shares in the Company at the relevant times,
(vi)  the repurchase will not be effected during a prohibited period unless the Company has announced a repurchase 
 programme, and
(vii)  an announcement giving full details, including the impact on the net asset value per share, will be published at 
 the time the Company has cumulatively repurchased 3% of the class of share in issue and for each 3% in 
 aggregate thereafter.
  
The reason for this special resolution is to authorise the directors, if they deem it appropriate in the interests of the 
Company, to procure that the company or subsidiaries of the Company acquire or purchase ordinary shares issued by the 
Company subject to the restrictions contained in the above resolution.

The effect of this special resolution will be to authorise the directors of the Company to procure that the Company or 
subsidiaries of the Company acquire or purchase shares issued by the Company on the JSE. Such purchases:
(i)  may not in any financial year exceed 20% of the Company’s ordinary shares in issue at the date of passing the 
 above resolution,
(ii)  must be effected through the order book operated by the JSE trading system and done without any prior 
 understanding or arrangement between the Company and the counterparty,
(iii)  may not be made at prices in excess of 10% above the weighted average of the market value of the ordinary 
 shares for the five days preceding the date of purchase,
(iv)  must comply with the requirements of the JSE, and
(v)  if made by a subsidiary or subsidiaries may not exceed 10% in the aggregate of the issued shares in the company.
  
The general authority granted by this resolution will lapse on the earlier of the next annual general meeting of the 
Company or the date 15 months after the date on which this resolution was passed.

At the present time the directors have no specific intention with regard to the utilisation of this authority which will only be 
used if the circumstances are appropriate. If the authority is exercised, the ordinary shares will be purchased on the JSE.

The directors, after considering the effect of a repurchase of up to 20% of the Company’s issued ordinary shares, are of 
the opinion that for a period of 12 months after the date of notice of this annual general meeting:
(i)  the Company and its subsidiaries will be able to pay their debts in the ordinary course of business,
(ii)  recognised and measured in accordance with the accounting policies used in the latest audited annual group 
 financial statements, the assets of the Company and its subsidiaries will exceed  the  liabilities  of  the  Company  
 and  its  subsidiaries,
(iii)  the ordinary capital and reserves of the Company and its subsidiaries will be adequate for the purposes the 
 business of the Company and its subsidiaries, and
(iv)  the working capital of the Company and its subsidiaries will be adequate for the purposes of the business of the 
 Company and its subsidiaries.
  
The Company will ensure that its Designated Advisor will provide the necessary letter on the adequacy of the working 
capital in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, prior to the commencement of any purchase of the Company’s shares 
on the open market.

Special Resolution number 4:
Resolved to adopt the proposed Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company, a complete version of which is available 
for inspection at the company’s offices, with immediate effect, the salient features of which are detailed in the following 
excerpt thereof:

SALIENT TERMS OF THE FINBOND GROUP LIMITED MOI:

2.

2.1

JURISTIC PERSONALITY

The Company is a pre-existing company as defined in the Act and, as such, continues to exist as a 
public company as if it had been incorporated and registered in terms of the Act, as contemplated 
in item 2 of the Fifth Schedule to the Act, and this Memorandum of Incorporation replaces and 
supersedes the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company applicable immediately 
prior to the filing hereof.
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4.

4.1

4.2

5.

6.

6.1

6.2

6.3

POWERS OF 
THE COMPANY

ISSUE OF SHARES AND 
VARIATION OF RIGHTS

6.1.1

6.1.1.1

6.1.1.2

6.1.1.3

6.2.1

6.2.2

6.2.3

6.2.4

6.2.5

6.2.6

6.2.7

The Company has all of the legal powers and capacity contemplated in the Act, and no provision 
contained in this Memorandum of Incorporation should be interpreted or construed as negating, 
limiting, or restricting those powers in any way whatsoever.

The legal powers and capacity of the Company are not subject to any restrictions, limitations or 
qualifications, as contemplated in section 19(1)(b)(ii).

The Company is authorised to issue:

such number of ordinary Shares, of the same class, as set out in Schedule 1 hereto, each of which 
ranks pari passu (as contemplated in paragraph 3.29 of the JSE Listings Requirements) in respect 
of all rights and entitles the holder to – [LR 10.5(a)]

vote at any annual general meeting or general meeting, or as contemplated in clause 25, in 
person or by proxy, on any matter to be decided by the Shareholders of the Company and to 1 
(one) vote in respect of each ordinary Share in the case of a vote by means of a poll; [LR10.5(b)]

participate proportionally in any distribution made by the Company; and

receive proportionally the net assets of the Company upon its liquidation;

The Company may from time to time by special resolution as contemplated in clause 6.3 below:

increase or decrease the number of authorised Shares of any class of the Company’s Shares; 
[LR10.5(d)(iv)]

consolidate and reduce the number of the Company’s issued and authorised Shares of any class; 
[LR10.5(d)(v)]

subdivide its Shares of any class by increasing the number of its issued and authorised Shares of 
that class without an increase of its capital; [LR10.5(d)(vi)]

cancel Shares not taken up by anyone or undertaken to be taken up;

reclassify any classified Shares that have been authorised but not issued; [LR10.5(d)(iii)]

classify any unclassified Shares that have been authorised but not issued; or[LR10.5(d)(iii)]

determine the preferences, rights, limitations or other terms of any Shares, [LR10.5(d)(ii)]

and such powers shall only be capable of being exercised by the Shareholders by way of a special 
resolution of the Shareholders [LR10.5(d) & LR10.9(c)]

The creation, authorisation and classification of Shares, the subdivision or consolidation of Shares, 
amendments to the numbers of authorised Shares of each class, the conversion of one class of 
Shares into one or more other classes of Shares, the conversion of Shares from par value to no 

This Memorandum of Incorporation does not contain any restrictive conditions applicable to the Company as contemplated 
in section 15(2)(b) or (c).

2.2

2.2.1

2.2.2

2.2.3

The Company is incorporated in accordance with and governed by:

the unalterable provisions of the Act, save to the extent that this Memorandum of Incorporation 
does not impose on the Company a higher standard, greater restriction, longer period of time or 
similarly more onerous requirement;

the alterable provisions of the Act, subject to the limitations, extensions, variations or substitutions 
set out in this Memorandum of Incorporation; and

the other provisions of this Memorandum of Incorporation.
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6.4

6.5

6.6

6.7

6.8

6.9

6.10

6.11

6.12

6.7.1

6.7.2

par value and variations to the preferences, rights, limitations and other terms associated with 
any class of Shares as set out in this Memorandum of Incorporation and the change of name of 
the company, may be changed only by an amendment of this Memorandum of Incorporation by 
special resolution and in accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements. [LR10.5(d)(vii]

If a fraction of a Share comes into being as a result of any consolidation, the Board will apply, 
subject to compliance with the JSE Listings Requirements, the principles of rounding and any such 
fraction of shares shall be rounded up or down the nearest whole number of shares.

Each Share issued by the Company has associated with it an irrevocable right of the Shareholder to 
vote on any proposal to amend the preferences, rights, limitations and other terms associated with 
that Share as contemplated in clause 22.2. If any amendment to this Memorandum of Incorporation 
relates to the variation of any preferences, rights, limitation and other terms associated with any 
class of Shares already in issue, such amendments shall not be implemented without a special 
resolution adopted by the holders of Shares of that class at a separate meeting. The holders of 
Shares of that class will, subject to the further provisions of clause 22.2, also be entitled to vote at 
the meeting of ordinary Shareholders where the amendment is tabled for approval. [LR10.5(e) & 
LR10.9(c)]

No Shares may be authorised in respect of which the preferences, rights, limitations or any other 
terms of any class of Shares may be varied in response to any objectively ascertainable external 
fact or facts as provided for in sections 37(6) and 37(7). [LR10.5(g)]

The Board may, subject to clause 6.12 and the further provisions of this clause 6.8, resolve to 
issue Shares for cash and Options and Convertible Securities Granted or issued for cash by the 
Company at any time, but only: [LR10.5(d)(i); 10.9]

within the classes and to the extent that those Shares, Options and Convertible Securities Granted 
have been authorised by or in terms of this Memorandum of Incorporation; and

only to the extent that such issue has been approved by the Shareholders in general meeting, either 
by way of a general authority (which may be either conditional or unconditional) to issue Shares, 
Options and Convertible Securities Granted in its discretion or a specific authority in respect of 
any particular issue of Shares, provided that, if such approval is in the form of a general authority 
to the Directors, it shall be valid only until the next annual general meeting of the Company and 
it may be varied or revoked by any general meeting of the Shareholders prior to such annual 
general meeting.

All issues of Shares for cash and all issues of options and convertible securities granted or issued 
for cash must, in addition, be in accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements. [LR10.9(a)] 

All Securities of the Company for which a listing is sought on the JSE and all Securities of the same 
class as Securities of the Company which are listed on the JSE must, notwithstanding the provisions 
of section 40(5) but unless otherwise required by the Act, only be issued after the Company has 
received the consideration approved by the Board for the issuance of such Securities. [LR 10.2(a)]

Subject to what may be authorised by the Act, the JSE Listings Requirements and at meetings of 
Shareholders in accordance with clause 6.13, and subject to clause 6.12, the Board may only 
issue unissued Shares if such Shares have first been offered to existing ordinary Shareholders in 
proportion to their shareholding on such terms and in accordance with such procedures as the 
Board may determine, unless such Shares are issued for the acquisition of assets by the Company. 
[LR10.1]

Notwithstanding the provisions of clause 6.11, the Shareholders may at a general meeting authorise 
the Directors to issue Shares of the Company at any time and/or grant options to subscribe for 
Shares as the Directors in their discretion think fit, provided that such transaction(s) comply with the 
JSE Listings Requirements. [LR10.1]

Notwithstanding the provisions of clauses 6.2, 6.11 and 6.12, any issue of Shares, Options, 
Securities convertible into Shares, or rights exercisable for Shares in a transaction, or a series 
of integrated transactions shall, in accordance with the provisions of section 41(3), require the 
approval of the Shareholders by special resolution if the voting power of the class of Shares that 
are issued or are issuable as a result of the transaction or series of integrated transactions will be 
equal to or exceed 30% (thirty percent) of the voting power of all the Shares of that class held by 
Shareholders immediately before that transaction or series of integrated transactions.
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9.

9.4

10.

13.

14.

14.1

14.2

15.

16.

18.

18.1

TRANSFER 
OF SECURITIES

NO LIEN

DEBT INSTRUMENTS

CAPITALISATION SHARES

14.1.1

14.1.2

14.1.3

14.2.1

14.2.2

BENEFICIAL INTERESTS 
IN SECURITIES

FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE

ODD-LOT OFFERS

18.1.1

All authorities to sign transfer deeds or other instruments of transfer granted by holders of Securities 
for the purpose of transferring Certificated Securities which may be lodged, produced or exhibited 
with or to the Company at its transfer office shall, as between the Company and the grantor of 
such authorities, be taken and deemed to continue and remain in full force and effect, and the 
Company may allow the same to be acted upon until such time as express notice in writing of 
the revocation of the same shall have been given and lodged at the Company’s transfer office 
at which the authority was first lodged, produced or exhibited. Even after the giving and lodging 
of such notice, the Company shall be entitled to give effect to any instruments signed under the 
authority to sign and certified by any officer of the Company as being in order before the giving 
and lodging of such notice. [LR10.2(b)]

It is recorded for the avoidance of doubt that fully paid Securities shall not be subject to any lien in 
favour of the Company and shall be freely transferable. [LR10.12]

The Board may authorise the Company to issue secured or unsecured debt instruments as set out in 
section 43(2), but no special privileges associated with any such debt instruments as contemplated 
in section 43(3) may be granted, and the authority of the Board in such regard is limited by this 
Memorandum of Incorporation. [LR 10.10]

Subject to the provisions of clauses 6.11 and 6.12 and compliance with the JSE Listings Requirements 
and section 47, to the extent applicable, the Board shall have the power and authority to –

approve the issuing of any authorised Shares as capitalisation Shares;

to issue Shares of one class as capitalisation Shares in respect of Shares of another class; and/or

subject to the provisions of clause 14.2, to resolve to permit Shareholders to elect to receive a cash 
payment in lieu of a capitalisation Share.

The Board may not resolve to offer a cash payment in lieu of awarding a capitalisation share, as 
contemplated in clause 14.1.3, unless the Board – 

has considered the Solvency and Liquidity Test as required by section 46 of the Act, on the 
assumption that every such Shareholder would elect to receive cash; and

is satisfied that the Company would satisfy the Solvency and Liquidity Test immediately upon the 
completion of the distribution. [LR10.6]

The Company’s issued Securities may be held by, and registered in the name of, one person for 
the beneficial interest of another person as set out in section 56(1).

Subject to compliance with the further requirements of the Act, the Board may authorise the 
Company to provide financial assistance by way of loan, guarantee, the provision of security or 
otherwise to any person for the purpose of, or in connection with, the subscription of any option, 
or any Securities, issued or to be issued by the Company or a related or inter-related company, or 
for the purchase of any such Securities, as set out in section 44, and the authority of the Board in 
this regard is not limited or restricted by this Memorandum of Incorporation.

If, upon implementation of any odd-lot offer made by the Company in accordance with the 
restrictions and procedures imposed by the JSE Listings Requirements and subject to the approval 
of Shareholders, there are holders of Shares holding in aggregate less than 100 (one hundred) 
Shares, or such other number of shares as determined by the JSE as amounting to an odd-lot 
(“odd-lots”) in the Company (“odd-lot holders”), then the Company shall, save in respect of odd-
lot holders who have elected to retain their odd-lots or to increase their odd-lots to holdings of 100 
(one hundred) Shares or such other number of Shares as determined by the JSE as amounting to 
an odd-lot, in the Company:

cause the odd-lots to be sold in such manner as the Directors may direct; and
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18.2

19.

19.1

19.2

19.3

19.4

19.5

19.6

20.

20.1

26.

26.1

18.1.2

RECORD DATE 
FOR EXERCISE OF 
SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

SHAREHOLDERS’ 
MEETINGS

20.1.1

20.1.2

20.1.2.1

20.1.2.2

20.1.2.3

COMPOSITION AND 
POWERS OF THE BOARD 
OF DIRECTORS

26.1.1

26.1.2

26.1.3

procure that the proceeds of such sales are paid to such odd-lot holders.

All unclaimed proceeds (of such sales) may be invested or otherwise made use of by the Directors 
for the benefit of the Company until claimed, provided that such proceeds unclaimed for a period 
of 3 (three) years from the date on which the Directors caused the odd-lots to be sold may be 
declared forfeited by the Directors for the benefit of the Company.

The record date for the purpose of determining which Shareholders are entitled to:

receive notice of a Shareholders’ meeting;

participate in and vote at a Shareholders’ meeting;

decide any matter by written consent or by Electronic Communication;

receive a distribution;

be allotted or exercise other rights; or

participate in any other transaction,

shall be determined by the Board, provided that, for as long as the JSE Listings Requirements 
apply to the Company and prescribe a record date, such record date shall be the record date so 
prescribed. [LR10.15]

Calling of Shareholders’ meetings

The Board, or any Prescribed Officer of the Company authorised by the Board, is entitled to call a 
Shareholders’ meeting at any time.

Subject to the provisions of section 60 dealing with the passing of resolutions of Shareholders 
otherwise than at a meeting of Shareholders, the Company shall hold a Shareholders’ meeting –

at any time that the Board is required by the Act, the JSE Listings Requirements or this Memorandum 
of Incorporation to refer a matter to Shareholders for decision; or [LR10.11(d)]

whenever required in terms of the Act to fill a vacancy on the Board; or

when required in terms of clause 20.1.3 or by any other provision of this Memorandum of 
Incorporation.

Number of Directors

In addition to the minimum number of Directors, if any, that the Company must have to satisfy any 
requirement in terms of the Act to appoint an audit committee and a social and ethics committee, 
the Board must comprise at least 4 (four) Directors and the Shareholders shall be entitled, by 
ordinary resolution, to determine such maximum number of Directors as they from time to time 
shall consider appropriate. [LR10.16(a)]

All Directors shall be elected by an ordinary resolution of the Shareholders at a general or annual 
general meeting of the Company and no appointment of a Director in accordance with a resolution 
passed in terms of section 60 shall be competent. [LR10.16(b)]

Every person holding office as a Director, Prescribed Officer, company secretary or auditor of the 
Company immediately before the effective date of the Act will, as contemplated in item 7(1) of 
Schedule 5 to the Act, continue to hold that office.
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31.

31.1

31.2

33.

33.1

33.2

33.3

33.4

33.5

33.6

BORROWING POWERS

31.1.1

31.1.2

31.2.1

31.2.2

ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

33.1.1

33.1.2

33.1.3

Subject to the provisions of clause 31.2 and the other provisions of this Memorandum of 
Incorporation, the Directors may from time to time.

borrow for the purposes of the Company such sums as they think fit; and

secure the payment or repayment of any such sums, or any other sum, as they think fit, whether by 
the creation and issue of Securities, mortgage or charge upon all or any of the property or assets 
of the Company.

The Directors shall procure (but as regards subsidiaries of the Company only insofar as by the 
exercise of voting and other rights or powers of control exercisable by the Company they can so 
procure) that the aggregate principal amount at any one time outstanding in respect of moneys so 
borrowed or raised by:

the Company; and

all the subsidiaries for the time being of the Company (excluding moneys borrowed or raised by any 
of such companies from any other of such companies but including the principal amount secured 
by any outstanding guarantees or suretyships given by the Company or any of its subsidiaries 
for the time being for the indebtedness of any other company or companies whatsoever and not 
already included in the aggregate amount of the moneys so borrowed or raised),

shall not exceed, to the extent applicable, the aggregate amount at that time authorised to be 
borrowed or secured by the Company or the subsidiaries for the time being of the Company (as 
the case may be).

The Company shall keep all such accurate and complete accounting records as are necessary to 
enable the Company to satisfy its obligations in terms of:

the Act;

any other law with respect to the preparation of financial statements to which the Company may 
be subject; and

this Memorandum of Incorporation.

The Company shall each year, after the end of its financial year, prepare annual financial statements 
within the period prescribed by the Act, or such shorter period as may be appropriate to provide 
the required notice of an annual general meeting in terms of section 61(7).

The Company shall appoint an auditor each year at its annual general meeting. If the Company 
appoints a firm as its auditor, any change in the composition of the members of that firm shall not 
by itself create a vacancy in the office of auditor.

The annual financial statements of the Company must be prepared and audited in accordance 
with the provisions of section 30 of the Act.

Not less than 15 (fifteen) business days before the date of any annual general meeting, a 
summarised form of the financial statements to be presented at such meeting and directions for 
obtaining a copy of the complete financial statements for the preceding financial year shall be sent 
to every Shareholder, subject and in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, the JSE 
Listings Requirements and all other applicable laws. In addition, the requisite number of copies 
as may be required by law shall be sent to the Commission and the JSE in accordance with the 
provisions of applicable law. Nothing contained in this clause, shall impose a duty on the Directors 
to send copies of such documents to any person whose Address is not known to the Company, or 
where any Shares are jointly held, to more than one of the joint holders of such Shares. [LR10.19]

The annual financial statements shall be prepared on a basis that is not inconsistent with any 
unalterable provision of the Act and shall:
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36.

36.1

36.2

36.3

36.4

36.5

36.6

36.7

36.8

36.9

36.10

33.6.1

33.6.2

33.6.2.1

33.6.2.2

33.6.2.3

33.6.2.4

DISTRIBUTIONS

36.1.1

36.1.2

36.7.1

36.7.2

36.7.3

36.8.1

36.8.2

satisfy, as to form and content, the financial reporting standards of IFRS; and

subject to and in accordance with IFRS:

present fairly the state of affairs and business of the Company and explain the transactions and 
financial position of the business of the Company; 

show the Company’s assets, liabilities and equity, as well as its income and expenses; 

set out the date on which the statements were produced and the accounting period to which they 
apply; and 

bear on the first page thereof a prominent notice indicating that the annual financial statements 
have been audited and the name and professional designation of the person who prepared them.

Subject to the provisions of the Act, and particularly section 46 and this Memorandum of 
Incorporation, the Company may make any proposed distribution, as defined and contemplated 
in the Act, if such distribution:

is pursuant to an existing legal obligation of the Company, or a court order; or

is authorised by resolution of the Board, in compliance with the JSE Listings Requirements. [LR10.8]

No distribution shall bear interest against the Company, except as otherwise provided under the 
conditions of issue of the Shares in respect of which such distribution is payable.

Distributions may be declared either free of or subject to the deduction of income tax and any other 
tax or duty in respect of which the Company may be chargeable.

The Directors may from time to time declare and pay to the Shareholders such interim distributions 
as the Directors consider to be appropriate.

In accordance with the Act no larger distribution shall be declared by the Company in general 
meeting than is recommended by the Directors, but the Company in general meeting may declare 
a smaller distribution. [LR10.17(a)]

All unclaimed dividends and other unclaimed monies due to shareholders shall be subject to the 
laws of prescription. [LR10.17(c)]

All unclaimed dividends and other unclaimed monies due to Shareholders shall be held in trust but 
subject to the laws of prescription. [LR10.17(c)]

the holder at his registered address; or

in the case of joint holders, the holder whose name appears first in the Securities Register in respect 
of the share, at his registered address; or

such person and at such address as the holder or joint holders may in writing direct.

Every such cheque or warrant shall:

be made payable to the order of the person to whom it is addressed; and

be sent at the risk of the holder or joint holders.

The Company shall not be responsible for the loss in transmission of any cheque or warrant or of 
any document (whether similar to a cheque or warrant or not) sent by post as aforesaid.

A holder or any one of two or more joint holders, or his or their agent duly appointed in writing, 
may give valid receipts for any distributions or other moneys paid in respect of a Share held by 
such holder or joint holders.
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36.11

36.12

36.13

36.14

36.15

36.16

36.17

38.

38.1

40.

40.1

36.13.1

36.13.2

36.13.3

36.13.4

36.15.1

36.15.2

ACCESS TO 
COMPANY RECORDS

38.1.1

38.1.2

NOTICES

When such cheque or warrant is paid, it shall discharge the Company of any further liability in 
respect of the amount concerned.

A distribution may also be paid in any other way determined by the Directors, and if the directives 
of the Directors in that regard are complied with, the Company shall not be liable for any loss or 
damage which a Shareholder may suffer as a result thereof.

Without detracting from the ability of the Company to issue capitalisation Shares, any distribution 
may be paid wholly or in part: [LR10.7]

by the distribution of specific assets; or

by the issue of Shares, debentures or securities of the Company or of any other company; or

in cash; or

in any other way which the Directors or the Company in general meeting may at the time of 
declaring the distribution determine.

Where any difficulty arises in regard to such distribution, the Directors may settle that difficulty as 
they think expedient, and in particular may fix the value which shall be placed on such specific 
assets on distribution.

The Directors may:

determine that cash payments shall be made to any Shareholder on the basis of the value so fixed 
in order to secure equality of distribution; and

vest any such assets in trustees upon such trusts for the benefit of the persons entitled to the 
distribution as the Directors deem expedient.

Any distribution must be made payable to Shareholders registered as at a date subsequent to 
the date of declaration thereof or the date of confirmation thereof, whichever is the later date. 
[LR10.17(b)]

Without limiting the provisions of clause 36.1.2 above, all payments made to holders of Securities 
listed on the JSE (“Listed Securities”) must be in accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements and 
capital payments to holders of Listed Securities may not be made on the basis that it can be called 
up again. [LR10.8]

Each person who holds or has a beneficial interest in any Securities issued by the Company is 
entitled to inspect and copy, without any charge for any such inspection or upon payment of no 
more than the prescribed maximum charge for any such copy, the information contained in the 
records of the Company referred to in section 26(1), being –

this Memorandum of Incorporation, and any amendments or alterations thereof;

a record of the Directors, including the details of any person who has served as a Director, for 
the period as prescribed by the Act after that person has ceased to serve as a Director, and any 
information relating to such persons referred to in section 24(5).

All notices shall be given by the Company to each Shareholder of the Company who has elected 
to receive such notices and simultaneously to the Issuer Services Division of the JSE, and shall be 
given in writing in any manner authorised by the JSE Listings Requirements and/or the Act, as may 
be applicable.  All notices shall, in addition to the above, be released through SENS provided that, 
in the event that the Shares or other Securities of the Company are not listed on the JSE, all the 
provisions of this Memorandum of Incorporation relating to the publication of notices via SENS 
shall no longer apply and such notices shall thereafter only be delivered in accordance with the 
provisions of the Act. [LR10.11(f)]
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43.

43.1

43.2

44. 

AMENDMENT OF 
MEMORANDUM 
OF INCORPORATION

43.2.1

43.2.2

COMPANY RULES

This Memorandum of Incorporation may only be altered or amended by way of a special resolution 
of the ordinary Shareholders in accordance with section 16(1)(c), except if such amendment is 
in compliance with a Court order as contemplated in sections 16(1)(a) and 16(4) of the Act. 
[LR10.5(d)]

An amendment of this Memorandum of Incorporation will take effect from the later of:

the date on, and time at, which the Commission accepts the filing of the notice of amendment 
contemplated in section 16(7);  and

the date, if any, set out in the said notice of amendment;

save in the case of an amendment that changes the name of the Company, which will take effect 
from the date set out in the amended registration certificate issued by the Commission.

The Board is prohibited from making any Rules as contemplated in section 15(3) and the Board’s 
capacity to make such Rules is hereby excluded. [LR10.4]

Special Resolution number 5:
Resolved to adopt the Finbond Group Limited Share Appreciation Rights Scheme in accordance with the JSE’s Listings 
Requirements and section 41 of the Companies Act, a complete version of which is available for inspection at the 
company’s offices, with immediate effect, the salient features of which are detailed in the following excerpt thereof: 

1. INTRODUCTION The purpose of the Scheme is to incentivise executive directors and employees of the Group, as 
approved by the Remuneration Committee, by offering such persons a conditional right to receive 
an award equal to the increase in value of the number of notional Shares comprised in each 
Tranche over the respective Conditionality Periods applicable to each such Tranche, which award 
is to be settled in cash and is to be obligatorily applied towards the subscription and/or purchase 
of Shares.

2. INTERPRETATION 

2.1

2.1.1

2.1.2

2.1.3

2.1.4

2.1.5

2.1.6

2.1.7

2.1.8

In these Rules:

“Acceptance Period”

“Act”

“Business Day”

“Closed Period”

“Company”

“Conditionality Periods”

“Conditions”

“Control”

2.1.8.1

2.1.8.2

means a period of 60 (sixty) Business Days (or such longer period as the Remuneration Committee 
may in its discretion permit) within which Eligible Employees must accept Share Appreciation 
Awards offered to them, in order to qualify as Participants in the Scheme;

means the Companies Act, 71/2008, as amended;

means a day on which the JSE is open for the transaction of business;

means a closed period in relation to the Company as defined in the Listing Requirements;

means Finbond Group Limited;

means the respective periods reflected as such in the Share Appreciation Award Certificate in 
respect of each Tranche;

means the Performance Targets (if applicable) and minimum employment terms set out in Rule 
3.3.2;

means:

the holding of Shares or the aggregate of holdings of Shares entitling the holder thereof to exercise, 
or cause to be exercised, [35% (thirty five percent)] or more of the voting rights at shareholders 
meetings of the Company irrespective of whether such holding or holdings confers de facto 
control;  or

the holding or control by a shareholder alone or pursuant to an agreement with other shareholders 
of more than [35% (thirty five percent)] of the voting rights in the Company;
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2.1.9

2.1.10

2.1.11

2.1.12

2.1.13

“Directors”

“Eligible Employee”

“Family Trust”

“Financial Year”

“JSE”

means the board of directors of the Company or a duly authorised committee of it;

means an employee or executive director of a Participating Company;

means a trust of which the beneficiaries are limited to the Participant and/or his or her spouse, 
widow, widower, children and/or step-children;

means the financial year of the Company;

means JSE Limited, a company duly registered and incorporated with limited liability under the 
company laws of the Republic of South Africa under registration number 2005/022939/06, 
licensed as an exchange under the Securities Services Act, 2004;

2.1.14

2.1.15

2.1.16

2.1.17

2.1.18

2.1.19

2.1.20

2.1.21

2.1.22

2.1.23

2.1.24

2.1.25

2.1.26

2.1.27

2.1.28

2.1.29

2.1.30

“King Code”

“Market Value”

“Measurement Dates”

“Member of the Group”

2.1.17.1

2.1.17.2

“Minimum Employment 
Condition”

“Offer Date”

“Offer Price”

“Participant”

“Participating Company:

“PAYE”

“Payment Date”

“Performance Targets”

“Rand”

“Remuneration 
Committee”

“Rules”

“Scheme”

“SENS”

means King Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa, 2002;

means in relation to a Share on any particular day, the volume weighted average price of the 
Shares as traded on the JSE (as derived from the official list on the JSE) over the [10] Business Days 
ending on that day;

means the respective measurement dates applicable to each Tranche as reflected in the Share 
Appreciation Award Certificate, which shall be the last Business Day of the Conditionality Period 
applicable to the Tranche in question unless the Company is in a Closed Period on such day, in 
which event that Measurement Date shall be deferred to the  1st Business Day after the end of 
Closed Period in question;

means:

the Company;  and

its Subsidiaries;  

and “Group” shall have a corresponding meaning;

means the condition referred to in Rule 3.3.2;

means the date upon which the Remuneration Committee approves of the offer of a Share 
Appreciation Award to an Eligible Employee in terms of Rule 3.1, which date will be specified as 
such in the Share Appreciation Award Certificate;

means the Market Value on the Offer Date;

means an Eligible Employee who has been offered and who has accepted a Share Appreciation 
Award;

means any Member of the Group which is designated as such by the Directors;

means employees tax as defined in paragraph 1 of the Fourth Schedule to the Income Tax Act (Act 
58 of 1962) as amended;

means the date of payment in terms of Rule 10.3;

means any applicable performance targets referred to in Rule 3.3.1;

means the South African Rand, being the official currency of South Africa;

means the remuneration committee of the Company, being a sub-committee of the Directors;

means these rules as changed from time to time:

means this scheme known as The Finbond Group Limited Share Appreciation Rights Scheme as 
amended from time to time;

means the Securities Exchange News Service;
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2.1.31

2.1.32

“Share Appreciation 
Award”

“Share Appreciation 
Award Certificate”

2.1.32.1

2.1.32.2

means a conditional right to receive in cash an amount equal to the increase in value of the 
notional Shares comprised in each Tranche (as specified in a Share Appreciation Award Certificate) 
between the Offer Date and the Measurement Date (applicable to the Tranche in question), to be 
settled by the Participating Company in accordance with the provisions of Rule 10;

means a document prepared by a Participating Company which details:

the name of the Participant to whom the Share Appreciation Award is offered;

the number of notional Shares comprising each Tranche; 

2.1.33

2.1.34

2.1.35

2.1.36

2.1.37

2.2

2.3

2.1.32.3

2.1.32.4

2.1.32.5

2.1.32.6

2.1.32.7

“Shares”

“Subsidiary”

“Take-Over”

“Tranche”

“Unconditional”

2.3.1

2.3.2

2.3.3

2.3.4

2.3.5

2.3.6

2.3.7

the Offer Date;

the Conditionality Periods (in respect of each Tranche);

the Measurement Dates;

the Offer Price; and

any Performance Targets applicable to the Share Appreciation Award or to any of the Tranches;

means fully paid issued ordinary shares in the capital of the Company and Share shall bear a 
corresponding meaning;

means a company which is a subsidiary of the Company within the meaning given to it by Section 
3(1)a of the Companies Act 71/2008;

means in relation to the Company [or any Member of the Group], a person (or group of persons 
acting in concert) who did not Control the Company [or Member of the Group, as applicable] 
obtaining Control of the Company [or Member of the Group];

means a portion of the Share Appreciation Award;

means in relation to any Tranche, that the Remuneration Committee determines in terms of Rule 
10.1 that the Conditions applicable to that Tranche have been fulfilled.

The  headings in these Rules are for reference purposes only and shall not be used in the 
interpretation thereof.

Unless the context clearly indicates a contrary intention:

any reference to one gender shall include the others;

any reference to natural persons includes legal persons and vice versa;

any reference to the singular includes the plural and vice versa;

references to a “person” shall be construed as including references to an individual, firm, 
company, corporation, partnership, association, unincorporated body of persons, trust, a State or 
any Governmental Authority or any other entity whether acting in an individual, financing or other 
capacity and to such person’s permitted successors;

if any provision in a definition is a substantive provision conferring rights or imposing duties, 
notwithstanding that it is only in the definition clause, effect shall be given to it as if it were a 
substantive provision in the body of these Rules; 

where any number of days is prescribed, same shall be reckoned excluding the first and including 
the last day, unless the last day falls on a day which is not a Business Day, in which case the last 
day shall be the next succeeding Business Day;

where any expression is defined within the context of any particular Rule, the expression so defined, 
unless it is clear from that Rule that the expression so defined has limited application to that Rule, 
shall bear the meaning ascribed to it for all purposes of these Rules, notwithstanding that the 
expression has not been defined in the definition section;
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2.3.8

2.3.9

any rule of construction that these Rules shall be interpreted against the party responsible for the 
drafting or preparation of the Scheme, shall not apply;

the expression “including” and its derivatives (such as “include” and “includes”) means including, 
but without limitation.

3.

3.1

3.2

3.3

OFFER OF SHARE 
APPRECIATION AWARDS

Offer of Share 
Appreciation Awards

Time when Share 
Appreciation Awards 
may be offered

3.2.1

3.2.2

3.2.3

3.2.4

3.2.5

Conditions

3.3.1

3.3.1.1

3.3.1.2

3.3.1.2.1

3.3.1.2.2

3.3.2

3.3.3

3.3.3.1

3.3.3.2

Subject to Rules 3.3, 4 and 5, a Participating Company may, with approval of a signed resolution 
of a majority of the Remuneration Committee, offer Share Appreciation Awards to Eligible 
Employees, as it may determine.

Share Appreciation Awards may only be offered within 60 (sixty) Business Days starting on any of 
the following:

the date upon which the Scheme is adopted by the Company in general meeting; or

the day after the announcement of the Company’s annual results through SENS for any period; or

any day on which the Remuneration Committee resolves that circumstances exist which justify the 
offer of Share Appreciation Awards; or

any day on which changes to the legislation or regulations affecting Share Appreciation Awards 
are announced, effected or made; or

the lifting of any restrictions (imposed by the King Code, Listing Requirements or any statute, 
order, regulation or government directive) including, without limitation, any Closed Period), which 
prevented the offering of Share Appreciation Awards during any period specified above.

Performance Targets

Subject to Rule 3.3.1.2, all or any Tranches may be offered conditional upon the achievement of 
Net Profit Performance Targets.  Any such Net Profit Performance Targets will be established by the 
Remuneration Committee and detailed in Share Appreciation Award Certificates.

The Remuneration Committee may in its sole discretion change the Net Profit Performance Targets 
(or authorise the change): 

in accordance with the terms of the Net Profit Performance Targets; or 

if anything happens which causes the Remuneration Committee reasonably to consider that 
changed Net Profit Performance Targets would be a fairer measure of performance, and would in 
the reasonable consideration of the Remuneration Committee be no more difficult to satisfy;

Minimum employment terms

Each Tranche must be offered conditional upon the Remuneration Committee determining in terms 
of Rule 10.1 that the Participants have been employed by a Member of the Group for the whole of 
the Conditionality Period applicable to that Tranche.

Minimum employment termsFailure of Conditions

Subject to the provisions of Rule 8, if Performance Targets applicable to any Tranche are not 
achieved, the whole or applicable portion of the Tranche in question (as determined by the 
Remuneration Committee in terms of Rule 10) shall not become Unconditional, shall lapse and 
shall have no further force or effect whatsoever; and

Subject to the provisions of Rule 8, if a Participant’s employment by the Participating Company (or 
other Member of the Group if his employment is transferred with the approval of the Remuneration 
Committee to another Member of the Group, as the case may be) terminates for any reason or 
cause arising before the end of any Conditionality Period (as set out in the Share Appreciation 
Award Certificate), then all Tranches which are conditional upon the satisfaction of the Minimum 
Employment Condition which relates to that Conditionality Period shall not become Unconditional, 
shall lapse and shall have no further force or effect whatsoever.
 



Finbond Group Limited & Finbond Mutual Bank Integrated Annual Report 2013124

3.4

3.5

3.6

3.7

3.8

4.

5.

Share Appreciation 
Award Certificate

Acceptance

Disposal restrictions

3.6.1

3.6.1.1

3.6.1.2

3.6.2

Derivatives

3.7.1

3.7.2

Administrative errors

SCHEME LIMITS

INDIVIDUAL LIMITS

Each Participant will receive a Share Appreciation Award Certificate on or as soon as practicable 
after the Offer Date.  The Remuneration Committee will set the form of the Share Appreciation 
Award Certificate, but it must be consistent with these Rules.

In order to participate in a Share Appreciation Award, an Eligible Employee must accept the 
Share Appreciation Award by completing the acceptance section of the Share Appreciation Award 
Certificate and must submit same to the Participating Company within the Acceptance Period.  
Should an Eligible Employee fail so to accept the offer of a Share Appreciation Award within the 
Acceptance Period, the offer shall lapse and the Share Appreciation Award which is the subject of 
the lapsed offer, shall have no force or effect whatsoever.

No Tranche may be transferred, assigned or otherwise disposed of by a Participant to any other 
person prior to that Tranche becoming Unconditional, except as follows:

on the death of a Participant, all Tranches may be transmitted to the Participant’s heirs and/or 
beneficiaries; and

with the prior written consent of the Directors, a Share Appreciation Award or any Tranches may 
be transferred by the Participant, subject to any conditions which the Remuneration Committee in 
their sole and absolute discretion may deem fit, to a Family Trust.

Save as provided in Rules 3.6.1.1 and 3.6.1.2, if a Participant attempts to transfer, assign or dispose 
of any Tranche whether voluntarily or involuntarily, prior to that Tranche becoming Unconditional, 
then that Tranche and all other Tranches which are still Unconditional will automatically lapse and 
have no further force or effect whatsoever.

No Participant shall trade in derivatives in respect of the Participant’s Share Appreciation Award or 
any Tranches, nor shall a Participant enter into any transaction, engagement or arrangement which 
shall be analogous with the trading of derivatives in respect of the Participant’s Share Appreciation 
Award or any Tranches.

If a Participant trades in a derivative in respect of the Participant’s Share Appreciation Award or any 
Tranches (or other analogous transaction, engagement or arrangement) or attempts so to trade, 
then the whole Share Appreciation Award shall automatically lapse and have no further force or 
effect whatsoever.

If a Participating Company offers a Share Appreciation Award which is inconsistent with Rules 4 
(Scheme limits) or 5 (Individual limit) the Share Appreciation Award will be limited and will take 
effect from the Offer Date on a basis consistent with Rules 4 and 5.

The number of new Shares which are issued under the Scheme (in terms of Rule 10) on or after 
the date of approval of the Scheme by the shareholders of the Company in general meeting, when 
added to the number of new Shares issued in the same period under the Finbond Group Limited 
Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) and any other employee share-based schemes operated by the 
Group, must not exceed 45 376 894 (forty five million three hundred and seventy six thousand 
eight hundred and ninety four) shares or 7.5% (seven and a half percent) of the issued ordinary 
share capital of the Company from time to time, being [605 025 250 (six hundred and five million, 
twenty five thousand, two hundred and fifty)] shares as of the date of shareholder approval of the 
Scheme. 

The number of Shares which are issued and/or transferred under the Scheme to any Participant 
in terms of Rule 10 in any period of 10 (ten) years commencing on or after the date of approval 
of the Scheme by shareholders of the Company in general meeting, when added to the number 
of Shares which are issued and/or transferred to the same Participant under LTIP and any other 
employee share-based schemes operated by the Group, must not exceed 2% (two percent) of the 
issued ordinary share capital of the Company from time to time, being 605 025 250 (six hundred 
and five million, twenty five thousand, two hundred and fifty) shares as of the date of shareholder 
approval of the Scheme. 
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10.

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

SETTLEMENT

10.6.1

10.6.2

The Remuneration Committee will evaluate and determine the fulfilment of the Conditions as soon 
as practicable after each of the Measurement Dates.   

The amount due to a Participant in respect of each Unconditional Tranche shall be an amount 
calculated in accordance with the following formulae:
 A  =  B  x  C  x  D
 Where:  “A” represents the amount due in Rand:
 “B” represents the difference between the Market Value on the Measurement 
 Date for the applicable Tranche and the Offer Price;
 “C” represents the number of notional Shares which are the subject of the Tranche in 
 question; and
 “D” represents that proportion of the Tranche in respect of which the Performance Targets 
 (as determined by the Remuneration Committee in terms of Rule 10.1) have been 
 achieved, provided that if no Performance Targets are applicable to the Tranche in 
 question, D shall be represented by the number 1 (one).

The Participating Company will settle the amount calculated in terms of Rule 10.2 in respect of 
each Tranche by the payment of such amount, net of PAYE and any other taxation referred to in 
Rule 11, in terms of Rule 10.4 within [20] (twenty) Business Days of the Remuneration Committee’s 
determination in terms of Rule 10.1. 
   
The payment in terms of Rule 10.3 shall, subject to the provisions of Rule 11, be made in cash 
to the Participant or at the election of the Participating Company for ease of administration, to a 
broker or other person specifically appointed by the Participating Company for this purpose (which 
appointment the Participant confirms and ratifies by the Participant’s acceptance of the Share 
Appreciation Award).  The Participant or broker or other person referred to above shall apply the 
whole amount paid exclusively towards the obligatory subscription and/or purchase of Shares by 
the Participant in terms of Rules 10.6 and/or 10.7. If the Company is in a Closed Period at the time 
when the Participating Company is required to effect payment in terms of Rule 10.3, then the date 
upon which such payment is to be made shall be extended to any date within 7 (seven) Business 
Days of the end of the Closed Period in question unless the JSE consents to an earlier payment.

The Participating Company, with the approval of the Remuneration Committee, will determine and 
notify the Participant, at the time of payment in terms of Rule 10.3, if the payment is to be applied 
towards the subscription of new (unissued) Shares or the purchase of existing (issued) Shares or 
any combination of such subscription or purchase.

If the Participating Company determines (in terms of Rule 10.5) that a subscription of new Shares 
is required, the Participating Company shall procure (by way of agreement with the Company) that 
the Company:

upon receipt of payment of the amount referred to in Rule 10.3, allots and issues to the Participant 
(having reflected the Participant as the registered holder thereof in the Company’s register) within 
7 (seven) days of receipt of such payment,  such number of Shares, which valued at the Market 
Value on the Payment Date,  are equal to the amount paid, rounded to the nearest whole number;  
and

unless Rule 11.2 applies, delivers to the broker or other person referred to in Rule 10.3, as agent 
for and on behalf of the Participant, all Shares which are allotted and issued to the Participant in 
terms of Rule 10.6.1, which Shares shall be held and dealt with by the broker or other such person 
in accordance with Rule 11.

If the Participating Company determines (in terms of Rule 10.5) that a purchase of Shares is required, 
the amount paid in terms of Rule 10.3, shall be applied exclusively to the purchase of Shares either 
on the market or by private treaty, and the Participant will be reflected as the registered holder of 
such Shares in the share register of the Company.  The price at which the Shares are purchased 
shall be the price which the broker or other person in terms of clause 10.4 is able to realise, 
such price being as close to the Market Value on the Payment Date as possible. The Participating 
Company shall procure that all such Shares so purchased will be delivered, held and dealt with by 
the broker or other person appointed in terms of Rule 10.4, mutatis mutandis, in accordance with 
Rule 10.6.2. The provisions of paragraphs 3.63 to 3.74 of the JSE Listings Requirements shall be 
complied with as regards all share dealings. Shares purchased as contemplated in this paragraph 
will not impact upon the number of shares issued by the Scheme as set out in Rule 4.
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10.8

10.9

13.

13.1

13.2

13.3

13.4

13.5

Subject to Rule 11, a Participant shall only become entitled to voting, dividend, transfer and other 
rights in and to the Shares subscribed for and/or purchased in terms of Rules 10.6 and/or 10.7, 
upon the allotment and issue or transfer (as applicable) of the Shares to the Participant. Until such 
time as Shares are allotted and issued, the Participant shall have no voting, dividend, transfer 
or other rights, including those rights on liquidation of the company, in respect to any Share 
Appreciation Award granted to them.

The Participating Company, with the approval of the Remuneration Committee, shall determine 
the most appropriate manner to settle the amount due to Participants in its discretion, it being the 
intention that settlement shall normally occur by way of an allotment and issue of new (unissued) 
Shares and/or the purchase and transfer of existing (issued) Shares in terms of Rules 10.6 and/
or 10.7.  However, if circumstances require, the Participating Company shall be entitled, with the 
prior approval of the Remuneration Committee and on written notice to the Participant, to waive 
the requirements of Rules 10.4, 10.5, 10.6 and 10.7 and to settle the amount due to Participants in 
terms of Rule 10.2 by way of a direct cash payment in Rand to the Participant, net of PAYE and any 
other taxation referred to in Rule 11 or by way of an issue of Shares (valued at the Market Value 
on the Payment Date), which is equal to the amount due in terms of clause 10.2 less PAYE or any 
other taxation referred to in Rule 11.

Except as described in the rest of this Rule 13 the Directors may at any time change the Scheme 
in any way, provided that if so required in terms of the Listing Requirements, the prior approval 
thereto shall be obtained from the JSE.

Except as described in Rule 13.3, the Company in general meeting must approve in advance by 
ordinary resolution any proposed change in the Scheme which is to the advantage of present or 
future Participants. Such ordinary resolution is to be passed by 75% of shareholders present or 
represented by proxy. Shareholders who are affected by such proposed changes are excluded from 
voting thereon. Proposed changes would relate specifically to the following:

the persons to or for whom a Share Appreciation Award may be offered under the Scheme and the 
basis upon which the Share Appreciation Award is made;

the limitations on the number of Shares which may be issued under the Scheme;

the individual limit for each Participant under the Scheme;

the determination of the Offer Price and the Market Value and the amounts payable to Participants 
in terms of Rule 10.2;

the provisions of Rules 8.1, 8.2, 8.5.1 and Rule 10.8;

the acquisition of Shares in terms of, or for the benefit of the Scheme in the absence of a modification 
to the Scheme.

to benefit the administration of the Scheme;

to comply with or take account of the provisions of any proposed or existing legislation;

to take account of any changes to legislation or accounting practice;  or

to obtain or maintain favourable tax, exchange control or regulatory treatment of the Company, 
any Subsidiary or any present or future Participant.

As soon as possible after making any change, the Directors will give written notice to any Participant 
affected by the change.

CHANGING THE 
SCHEME AND 
TERMINATION

Directors’ powers

Shareholder approval

13.2.1

13.2.1.1

13.2.1.2

13.2.1.3

13.2.1.4

13.2.1.5

13.2.1.6

13.3.1

13.3.2

13.3.3

13.3.4

Notice

The Directors need not obtain the approval of the Company in general meeting for any changes:

However, if any such change requires the approval or consent of the JSE in terms of the Listing Requirements, it will only take 
effect once this has been obtained.
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Voting procedures and electronic participation
On a show of hands, every shareholder present in person or represented by proxy and entitled to vote shall have only 
one vote irrespective of the number of shares such shareholder holds. On a poll, every shareholder present in person 
or represented by proxy and entitled to vote shall be entitled to one vote for every share held or represented by that 
shareholder. On a poll taken at any such meeting the shareholder entitled to more than one vote need not, if he votes, 
use all of his votes, or cast all the votes he uses in the same way,
•  to furnish them with their voting instructions; or
•  in the event that they wish to attend the general meeting, to obtain the necessary letter of representation to do so. The 
    directors have not made any provision for electronic participation at the AGM.

Threshold for resolution approval
For ordinary resolutions, with the exception of ordinary resolutions 2 and 14 as detailed above, to be approved by 
shareholders, each resolution must be supported by more than 50% of the voting rights exercised on the resolution 
concerned. For special resolutions and ordinary resolutions 2 and 14 to be approved by shareholders, each resolution 
must be supported at least 75% of the voting rights exercised on the resolution concerned.

Proxies
A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend, participate in 
and vote at the meeting in the place of the shareholder. A proxy need not also be a shareholder of the Company. 

Shareholders on the Company share register who have dematerialised their ordinary shares through Strate, other than 
those whose shareholding is recorded in their “own name” in the sub register maintained by their CSDP, and who wish 
to attend the meeting in person, will need to request their CSDP or broker to provide them with the necessary authority to 
do so in terms of the custody agreement entered into between the dematerialised shareholders and their CSDP or broker.

Shareholders who have not dematerialised their shares or who have dematerialised their shares with “own name” 
registration, and who are entitled to attend and vote at the AGM, are entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend, 
speak and vote in their stead.  A proxy need not be a shareholder and shall be entitled to vote on a show of hands or poll.  
It is requested that proxy forms be forwarded so as to reach the transfer secretaries at least 48 hours prior to the meeting. 
If shareholders who have not dematerialised their shares or who have dematerialised their shares with “own name” 
registration and who are entitled to attend and vote at the AGM do not deliver proxy forms to the transfer secretaries 
timeously, such shareholders will nevertheless at any time prior to the commencement of the voting on the resolutions at 
the AGM be entitled to lodge the form of proxy in respect of the AGM, in accordance with the instructions therein with the 
chairperson of the AGM.

Salient dates applicable to the AGM
• Last day to trade to be eligible to vote at the annual general meeting: 
          Thursday, 13 June 2013
• Record date for determining those shareholders entitled to vote at the annual general meeting: 
          Friday,      21 June 2013

Section 63(1) of the Companies Act – Identification of Meeting Participants
Meeting participants (including proxies) are required to provide reasonably satisfactory identification before being entitled 
to attend or participate in shareholders’ meetings. Forms of identification include valid identity documents, drivers’ licences 
and passports.

Additional Information
The following additional information, some of which may appear elsewhere in the annual report of which this notice forms 
part, is provided in terms of paragraph 11.26 of the listing requirements of the JSE:
–    Directors (page 57),
–    Major shareholders (page 107),
–    Directors interests in ordinary shares (page 55), and
–    Share Capital of the Company (page 56).
  

13.6 The Directors may terminate the Scheme at any time.  In this event, all Share Appreciation Awards 
offered before any such termination will continue to be valid and enforceable as described in these 
Rules notwithstanding the termination of the Scheme.

Termination 
of the Scheme
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Litigation Statement
The directors, whose names appear on page 57 of this annual report of which this notice forms part, are not aware of any 
legal or arbitration proceedings including proceedings that are pending or threatened that may have or have had in the 
recent past, being at least the previous 12 (twelve) months, a material effect on the Group’s financial position. 
  
Directors’ responsibility statement
The directors, whose names appear on page 57 of this annual report of which this notice forms part, collectively and 
individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information pertaining to the special resolution and certify 
that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, there are no facts that have been omitted which would make any statement 
false or misleading, that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts have been made and that the special resolution 
contains all information required in terms of the Listings Requirements of the JSE. 
  
Material Changes
Other than the facts and developments reported on in the annual report, there have been no material changes in the 
affairs or financial position of the company and its subsidiaries since the date of signature of the audit report for the period 
ended 28 February 2013. 

Shareholders who have dematerialised their shares through their Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”) or 
broker rather than through own-name registration and who wish to attend the annual general meeting must request their 
CSDP or broker to issue them with a letter of representation. 

Dematerialised shareholders, who have elected own-name registration in the sub-register through a CSDP or broker and 
who are unable to attend but wish to vote at the annual general meeting, should timeously provide their CSDP or broker 
with their voting instructions in terms of the custody agreement entered into between the shareholder and his CSDP or 
broker. 

By order of the Board

Ms. CD du Plessis
Group Secretary

17 May 2013

Bank Forum
Corner of Veale and Fehrsen Street
Brooklyn
Pretoria

PO Box 2127
Brooklyn Square
Brooklyn
Pretoria
0075
  

2.4 | 4.4
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NOTICE TO SHAREHOLDERS OF FINBOND MUTUAL BANK

Notice is hereby given that the annual general meeting of members of Finbond Mutual Bank (“the Bank”) will be held in the Jakaranda 
Ballroom, Sheraton Hotel, 643 cnr of Church and Wessels Street, Pretoria on Friday, 28 June 2013 at 10:00 or immediately following 
the annual general meeting of Finbond Group Limited for the following purposes:
1. To receive and consider the audited annual financial statements of the Bank, for the period ended 28 February 2013, the report of 
    the Board of directors and the report of the external auditors thereon.
2. To consider and, if deemed fit, to pass with or without modification, the following resolutions, or conduct the following business:

Ordinary Resolution number 1: Automatic re-appointment of auditor (s45)
KPMG Inc. as auditors of the Bank, and Mr. J Vliegenthart as the individual, designated auditor of the Bank, for the 2013/2014 financial 
year, are automatically re-appointed until the next annual general meeting.

Director appointment and re-election:
Ordinary resolution number 2: Resolved to ratify the appointment of Mr. R Emslie to the Board of directors in the capacity of 
independent, non-executive director;

Ordinary resolution number 3: Resolved to ratify the appointment of Adv. N Melville to the Board of directors in the capacity of 
independent, non-executive director;

Ordinary resolution number 4: Resolved to ratify the appointment of Dr. M Motlatla to the Board of directors in the capacity of 
independent, non-executive director who, in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, may be required to retire by 
rotation but offered himself for re-election;

Ordinary resolution number 5: Resolved to ratify the appointment of Adv. J Noeth to the Board of directors in the capacity of 
independent, non-executive director who, in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, may be required to retire by 
rotation but offered himself for re-election;

Ordinary resolution number 6: Resolved to ratify the appointment of Mrs. R Xaba to the Board of directors in the capacity of 
independent, non-executive director who, in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, may be required to retire by 
rotation but offered herself for re-election;

Ordinary resolution number 7: Resolved to ratify the appointment of Mr. DC Pentz to the Board of directors in the capacity of 
executive director who, in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, may be required to retire by rotation but offered 
himself for re-election;

Ordinary resolution number 8: Resolved to ratify the appointment of Mrs. H Wilken-Jonker to the Board of directors in the capacity 
of non-executive director who, in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, may be required to retire by rotation but 
offered herself for re-election;

Ordinary resolution number 9: Resolved to ratify the appointment of Dr. W van Aardt to the Board of directors in the capacity of 
executive director;

Ordinary resolution number 10: Resolved to ratify the appointment of Mr. GT Sayers to the Board of directors in the capacity of 
executive director;

Ordinary resolution number 11: Resolved to ratify the appointment of Mr. R Emslie to the audit committee;

Ordinary resolution number 12: Resolved to ratify the appointment of Adv. J Noeth to the audit committee;

Ordinary resolution number 13: Resolved to ratify the appointment of Mrs. R Xaba to the audit committee;

Ordinary resolution number 14: Directors remuneration

Resolved that the remuneration of the non-executive directors as set out on pages 56 and 58 of the annual report of which this notice 
forms part, to be paid by Finbond Mutual Bank, be fixed from 1 June 2013 as follows:
 -  R19 264 for each attendance of a Board meeting (Chairman),
   -  R16 064 for each attendance of a Board meeting (other members),
   -  R15 360 for each attendance of a Board committee meeting (Chairman), including meetings of the remuneration, social 
    and ethics, risk and audit committees
   -  R12 801 for each attendance of a Board committee meeting (other members), including meetings of the remuneration, 
    social and ethics, risk and audit committees  
 -  R8 960 retainer per month (Chairman), and
   -  R6 400 retainer per month (other members).
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It is hereby noted that executive directors are contracted as employees of the Company and are not remunerated separately for 
attending meetings in their capacities as directors. They are elected as directors for as long as they continue to serve in their executive 
capacity, or until they resign such directorships.

Voting procedures and electronic participation
On a show of hands, every shareholder present in person or represented by proxy and entitled to vote shall have only one vote 
irrespective of the number of shares such shareholder holds. On a poll, every shareholder present in person or represented by proxy 
and entitled to vote shall be entitled to one vote for every share held or represented by that shareholder. On a poll taken at any such 
meeting the shareholder entitled to more than one vote need not, if he votes, use all of his votes, or cast all the votes he uses in the 
same way,
 •  to furnish them with their voting instructions; or
 •  in the event that they wish to attend the general meeting, to obtain the necessary letter of representation to do so. 
    The directors have not made any provision for electronic participation at the AGM.

Threshold for resolution approval
For ordinary resolutions as detailed above, to be approved by shareholders, each resolution must be supported by more than 50% of 
the voting rights exercised on the resolution concerned. 

Salient dates applicable to the AGM
 •  Record date for determining those shareholders entitled to vote at the annual general meeting: Thursday, 13 June 2013.

Proxies
A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend, participate in and vote at 
the meeting in the place of the shareholder.  A proxy need not also be a shareholder of the Company.

Litigation Statement
The directors, whose names appear on page 57 of this annual report of which this notice forms part, are not aware of any legal or 
arbitration proceedings including proceedings that are pending or threatened that may have or have had in the recent past, being at 
least the previous 12 (twelve) months, a material effect on the Bank’s financial position. 
  
Material Changes
Other than the facts and developments reported on in the annual report, there have been no material changes in the affairs or financial 
position of the Bank since the date of signature of the audit report for the period ended 28 February 2013. 

By order of the Board

Ms. CD du Plessis
Group Secretary

17 May 2013

Bank Forum
Corner of Veale and Fehrsen Street
Brooklyn
Pretoria

PO Box 2127
Brooklyn Square
Brooklyn
Pretoria
0075
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FORM OF PROXY

FINBOND GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)

Registration number 2001/015761/06
(“Finbond” or “the Group”)

For use by shareholders, that hold shares in certificated form or shareholders who have dematerialised their shares and registered with “own-name” 
registration only, at the annual general meeting to be held in the Jakaranda Ballroom, Sheraton Hotel, 643 corner of Church and Wessels street, Pretoria 
at 10:00 am, on Friday, 28 June 2013.

I/We

being the holder(s) of     ordinary shares in Finbond

do hereby appoint                                      or failing him/her

                         or failing him/her
the chairperson of the annual general meeting, as my/our proxy to vote on my/our behalf at the annual general meeting of the Company to be held in 
the Jakaranda Ballroom, Sheraton Hotel, 643 corner of Church and Wessels street, Pretoria on Friday, 28 June 2013, at 10:00 and at any adjournment 
thereof, as follows:

In favour of Against Abstain

To approve the audited financial statements

Ordinary resolution number 1

Ordinary resolution number 2

Ordinary resolution number 3

Ordinary resolution number 4

Ordinary resolution number 5

Ordinary resolution number 6

Ordinary resolution number 7

Ordinary resolution number 8

Ordinary resolution number 9

Ordinary resolution number 10

Ordinary resolution number 11

Ordinary resolution number 12

Ordinary resolution number 13

Special resolution number 1

Special resolution number 2

Special resolution number 3

Special resolution number 4

Special resolution number 5

(Indicate instructions to proxy by way of “X” in space provided above)

Except as instructed above, or if no instructions are inserted above, my/our proxy may vote as he  thinks fit.

Signed at       this day of      2013

Signature

Assisted by (where necessary) 
(Note: A member entitled to attend and vote is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend, speak and vote in his  stead. Such proxy need not be a member of the Company. 
(See additional notes on the reverse side.))



Finbond Group Limited & Finbond Mutual Bank Integrated Annual Report 2013132

NOTES TO FORM OF PROXY

An ordinary shareholder may insert the name of 
a proxy or the names of two alternative proxies 
of the ordinary shareholder’s choice in the space 
provided, with or without deleting “the chairman 
of the annual general meeting”, but any such 
deletion must be initialed by the shareholder. The 
person whose name appears first on the form of 
proxy and has not been deleted shall be entitled 
to act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose 
names follow.

An ordinary shareholder’s instructions to the 
proxy must be indicated by the insertion of the 
relevant number of votes exercisable by that 
ordinary shareholder in the appropriate spaces 
provided. Failure to comply with the above will 
be deemed to authorise the proxy to vote or 
to abstain from voting at the annual general 
meeting as he deems fit in respect of all the 
shareholder’s votes exercisable thereat.

Forms of proxy must either be lodged at or posted 
to the registered address of the company, PO 
Box 2127, Brooklyn Square, 0075, Bankforum 
Cnr Veale & Fehrsen Street, Brooklyn, Pretoria, 
0181 or the address of the company’s transfer 
secretaries, Link Market Services South Africa 
(Pty) Limited, Rennie House, 19 Ameshoff 
Street, Braamfontein 2001, PO Box 4844, 
Johannesburg 2000, to be received by no later 
than 10:00 on Wednesday, 26 June or 48 hours 
before any adjournment of the annual general 
meeting which date, if necessary, will be notified 
in the press and on SENS.

Any alteration or correction made to this form of 
proxy must be initialled by the signatory/ies.

The completion and lodging of this form of 
proxy shall not preclude the relevant shareholder 
from attending the annual general meeting and 
speaking and voting in person thereat to the 
exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof 
should such shareholder wish to do so.

The chairman of the annual general meeting may 
reject or accept any proxy form which is completed 
and/or received other than in accordance with 
these instructions; provided that he is satisfied as 
to the manner in which a shareholder wishes to 
vote.

This proxy form must be signed by all joint 
members.

A member or proxy is not obliged to vote in respect 
of all the ordinary shares held or represented 
by him, but the total number of votes for or 
against the resolution and in respect of which 
any abstention is recorded, may not exceed the 
total number of votes to which the member or his 
proxy is entitled.

Documentary evidence establishing the authority 
of a person signing this form of proxy in a 
representative capacity, must be attached to this 
form of proxy, unless previously recorded by 
the Company’s transfer office or waived by the 
chairman of the general meeting.

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

ADDITIONAL NOTES
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FORM OF PROXY

FINBOND MUTUAL BANK
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)

Registration number 01102
(“Finbond” or “the Bank”)

For use by shareholders, that hold shares in certificated form or shareholders who have dematerialised their shares and registered with “own-name” 
registration only, at the annual general meeting to be held in the Jakaranda Ballroom, Sheraton Hotel, 643 corner of Church and Wessels street, Pretoria 
at 10:00 am, on Friday, 28 June 2013.

I/We

being the holder(s) of     ordinary shares in Finbond

do hereby appoint                                      or failing him/her

                         or failing him/her
the chairperson of the annual general meeting, as my/our proxy to vote on my/our behalf at the annual general meeting of the Company to be held in 
the Jakaranda Ballroom, Sheraton Hotel, 643 corner of Church and Wessels street, Pretoria on Friday, 28 June 2013, at 10:00 and at any adjournment 
thereof, as follows:

In favour of Against Abstain

To approve the audited financial statements

Ordinary resolution number 1

Ordinary resolution number 2

Ordinary resolution number 3

Ordinary resolution number 4

Ordinary resolution number 5

Ordinary resolution number 6

Ordinary resolution number 7

Ordinary resolution number 8

Ordinary resolution number 9

Ordinary resolution number 10

Ordinary resolution number 11

Ordinary resolution number 12

Ordinary resolution number 13

Ordinary resolution number 14

(Indicate instructions to proxy by way of “X” in space provided above)

Except as instructed above, or if no instructions are inserted above, my/our proxy may vote as he  thinks fit.

Signed at       this day of      2013

Signature

Assisted by (where necessary)

(Note: A member entitled to attend and vote is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend, speak and vote in his  stead. Such proxy need not be a member of the Company. 
(See additional notes  on the reverse side.))
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NOTES TO FORM OF PROXY

An ordinary shareholder may insert the name of 
a proxy or the names of two alternative proxies 
of the ordinary shareholder’s choice in the space 
provided, with or without deleting “the chairman 
of the annual general meeting”, but any such 
deletion must be initialed by the shareholder. The 
person whose name appears first on the form of 
proxy and has not been deleted shall be entitled 
to act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose 
names follow.

An ordinary shareholder’s instructions to the 
proxy must be indicated by the insertion of the 
relevant number of votes exercisable by that 
ordinary shareholder in the appropriate spaces 
provided. Failure to comply with the above will 
be deemed to authorise the proxy to vote or 
to abstain from voting at the annual general 
meeting as he deems fit in respect of all the 
shareholder’s votes exercisable thereat.

Forms of proxy must either be lodged at or posted 
to the registered address of the company, PO 
Box 2127, Brooklyn Square, 0075, Bankforum 
Cnr Veale & Fehrsen Street, Brooklyn, Pretoria, 
0181 or the address of the company’s transfer 
secretaries, Link Market Services South Africa 
(Pty) Limited, Rennie House, 19 Ameshoff 
Street, Braamfontein 2001, PO Box 4844, 
Johannesburg 2000, to be received by no later 
than 10:00 on Wednesday, 26 June or 48 hours 
before any adjournment of the annual general 
meeting which date, if necessary, will be notified 
in the press and on SENS.

Any alteration or correction made to this form of 
proxy must be initialled by the signatory/ies.

The completion and lodging of this form of 
proxy shall not preclude the relevant shareholder 
from attending the annual general meeting and 
speaking and voting in person thereat to the 
exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof 
should such shareholder wish to do so.

The chairman of the annual general meeting may 
reject or accept any proxy form which is completed 
and/or received other than in accordance with 
these instructions; provided that he is satisfied as 
to the manner in which a shareholder wishes to 
vote.

This proxy form must be signed by all joint 
members.

A member or proxy is not obliged to vote in respect 
of all the ordinary shares held or represented 
by him, but the total number of votes for or 
against the resolution and in respect of which 
any abstention is recorded, may not exceed the 
total number of votes to which the member or his 
proxy is entitled.

Documentary evidence establishing the authority 
of a person signing this form of proxy in a 
representative capacity, must be attached to this 
form of proxy, unless previously recorded by 
the Company’s transfer office or waived by the 
chairman of the general meeting.

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

ADDITIONAL NOTES
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Company registration number 
2001/015761/06 
 
Company secretary 
Ms CD du Plessis 
136A Burger Avenue 
Lyttelton 
0157 
Sekretari 
PO Box 14195 
Lyttelton 0140 
 
Auditors 
KPMG Inc. 
KPMG Forum 
1226 Francis Baard Street 
Hatfield 
0083 
 
Business address and registered office 
Bank Forum Building 
Cnr. Veale and Fehrsen Street  
Nieuw Muckleneuk, Brooklyn, Pretoria 0181 
 
Share registrar 
Link Market Services South Africa (Proprietary) Limited 
(Registration number 2000/007239/07) 
11 Diagonal Street 
Johannesburg 
2001 
(PO Box 4844, Johannesburg 2000) 
 
Designated advisor 
Grindrod Bank Limited 
(Registration number 1994/007994/06) 
1st Floor, Building 3 
Commerce Square 
39 Rivonia Road, Sandhurst 
Sandton 2196 
(PO Box 78011, Sandton, 2146) 
 
Commercial  bankers 
ABSA Bank Limited 
Ground Floor, Brooklyn Gardens, Block D, 
Corner Middel and Veale Streets 
Brooklyn 
Pretoria 
(PO Box 2018, Brooklyn Square, 0075) 
 
Standard Chartered Bank 
5th Floor, 4 Sandown Valley Crescent 
Sandton, 2196 
(PO Box 782080, Sandton 2196) 
 
First National Bank 
4 First Place, Bank City 
Cnr Pritchard and Simmonds Street 
Johannesburg, 2000 

Bank registration number 
01102
 
Company secretary 
Ms CD du Plessis 
136A Burger Avenue 
Lyttelton 
0157 
Sekretari 
PO Box 14195 
Lyttelton 0140 
 
Auditors 
KPMG Inc. 
KPMG Forum 
1226 Francis Baard Street 
Hatfield 
0083 
 
Business address and registered office 
Bank Forum Building 
Cnr. Veale and Fehrsen Street 
Nieuw Muckleneuk, Brooklyn, Pretoria 0181 
 
Share registrar 
Link Market Services South Africa (Proprietary) Limited 
(Registration number 2000/007239/07) 
11 Diagonal Street 
Johannesburg 
2001 
(PO Box 4844, Johannesburg 2000) 
 
Designated advisor 
Grindrod Bank Limited 
(Registration number 1994/007994/06) 
1st Floor, Building 3 
Commerce Square 
39 Rivonia Road, Sandhurst 
Sandton 2196 
(PO Box 78011, Sandton, 2146) 
 
Commercial  bankers 
ABSA Bank Limited 
Ground Floor, Brooklyn Gardens, Block D, 
Corner Middel and Veale Streets 
Brooklyn 
Pretoria 
(PO Box 2018, Brooklyn Square, 0075) 
 
Standard Chartered Bank 
5th Floor, 4 Sandown Valley Crescent 
Sandton, 2196 
(PO Box 782080, Sandton 2196) 
 
First National Bank 
4 First Place, Bank City 
Cnr Pritchard and Simmonds Street 
Johannesburg, 2000 
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GRI INDEX (GLOBAL REPORTING INITIATIVE INDEX)

GRI 
Reference

1

2
2.1
2.2
2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6
2.7

2.8
2.9

3

3.1
3.3

3.4
3.6

3.7
3.8

3.10

3.11

4
4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

Topic in Report

Key Performance 
Indicators                                                                                                                                       
CEO’s Review                                                                                                                                           
Chairman’s Review

Cover page
Product Offering
Accounting 
Policies 1.6, 1.7                                                                                                                                         
Notes                 
Corporate Information                                                                                                                                     
Notice to Shareholders                                                       
Accounting Policies 1.7                                                                                                                                   
Our Branches                 

Directors’ Report
Product Offering

About us
Directors’ Report                                                                                                                                           
Note 34                

Cover page
Cover page

GRI Index
Accounting Policies                                                                                                                                         
Segment Report             
Directors’ Responsibility
Accounting Policies                                                                                                                                        
Notes to Financial 
Statements              
N/A

Accounting Policies                                                                                                                                         

Corporate Governance                                                                                                                                       
Audit Committee Report             

Corporate Governance

Finbond Group
Directorate  

Notice to Shareholders

Topic

Statement from the most senior decision-maker of the organisation (eg 
CEO, chairperson or equivalent senior position) about the relevance of 
sustainability to the organisation and its strategy

Organisational Profile
Name of the organisation
Primary brands, products and/or services
Operational structure of the organisation, including main divisions, operating companies, 
subsidiaries and joint ventures

Location of the organisation’s headquarters

Number of countries where the organisation operates, and names of countries with 
either major operations or that are specifically relevant to the sustainability issues 
covered in the report
Nature of ownership and legal form
Markets served (including geographic breakdown, sectors served, and types of 
customers/beneficiaries)
Scale of the reporting organisation
Significant changes during the reporting period regarding size, structure or ownership

Report Parameters
Report Profile
Reporting period (eg fiscal/calendar year) for information provided
Reporting cycle (annual, biennial, etc)

Contact point for questions regarding the report or its contents
Boundary of the report (eg countries, divisions, subsidiaries, leased facilities, joint 
ventures, suppliers)
State any specific limitations on the scope or boundary of the report
Basis for reporting on joint ventures, subsidiaries, leased facilities, outsourced operations, 
and other entities that can significantly  affect comparability from period to period and/
or between organisations
Explanation of the effect of any re-statements of  information provided in earlier reports, 
and the reasons for such re-statement (eg mergers/acquisitions, change of base years/
periods, nature of business, measurement methods)
Significant changes from previous reporting periods in the scope, boundary or 
measurement methods applied in the report

Governance, Commitments and Engagement
Governance structure of the organisation, including committees under the highest 
governance body responsible for specific tasks, such as setting strategy or organisational 
oversight
Is the Chair of the highest governance body also an executive officer, and if so, their 
function within the organisation’s management and the reasons for this arrangement
For organisations that have a unitary board structure, state the number and gender of 
members of the highest governance body that are independent and/or non-executive 
members
Mechanisms for shareholders and employees to provide recommendations or direction 
to the highest governance body

Page

7, 
25, 
28, 
33

Cover
22

68-69

135, 
128

6, 
69

55
22

4
55, 
94

Cover
Cover

139
68-69 
103
49

65- 
106

65-74 

45-48
52-53

45

17-20

128

GRI Reference

3.4 
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GRI
Reference 

FS 6

FS 7

FS 13
FS 14
FS 15
FS 16
EC 1

EC 7

EC 9

EN 1
EN 3
LA 1

LA 2

LA 5

LA 10
LA 12

LA 13

LA 14

HR 4
SO 2

SO 4

SO 5

PR 3

PR 4

PR 5

PR 8

PR 9

Topic in Report 

Product Offering

Segment Report
Note 37     
Our Branches
CEO’s Review
CEO’s Review
Consumer Education
Financial Highlights                                                                                                                                       
Financials                                                                                                                                       
Social Responsibility
Human Capital

Chairman’s Review

Materials Usage
Materials Usage 
Human Capital

Human Capital

Human Capital

Human Capital
Human Capital
CEO’s Review                                                                                                                                         
Finbond Group 
Directorate                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                     
Human Capital

CEO’s Review
Corporate 
Governance
Corporate 
Governance
Finbond Group 
Directorate
Customer Service, 
Rights & Protection
CEO’s Review                                                                            
CEO’s Review
Corporate 
Governance 
CEO’s Review                                                                                                                                           

CEO’s Review

Internal Audit 
& Compliance                                                                                                                                       
               

Topic

INDICATORS
Percentage of the portfolio for business lines by specific region, size (eg micro/SME/large) 
and by sector
Monetary value of products and services designed to deliver a specific social benefit for 
each business line broken down by purpose
Access points in low-populated or economically disadvantaged areas by type
Initiatives to improve access to financial services for disadvantaged people
Policies for the fair design and sale of financial products and services
Initiatives to enhance financial literacy by type of beneficiary
Direct economic value generated and distributed, including revenues, operating costs, 
employee compensation, donations and other community investments, retained earnings, 
and payments to capital providers and governments
Procedures for local hiring and promotion of senior management hired from the local 
community at locations of significant operation
Understanding and describing significant indirect economic impacts, including the extent 
of impacts
Materials used by weight or volume
Direct energy consumption by primary energy source
Total workforce by employment type, employment contract and region, broken down by 
gender
Total number and rate of new employee hires and new employee turnover by age group, 
gender and region
Minimum notice period(s) regarding operational changes, including whether it is specified 
in collective agreements
Average hours of training per year per employee by gender, and employee category
Percentage of employees receiving regular performance and career development reviews, 
by gender
Composition of governance bodies and breakdown of employees per employee category 
according to gender, age group, minority group membership, and other indicators of 
diversity
Ratio of basic salary and remuneration of women to men by employee category by 
significant locations of operation
Total number of incidents of discrimination and corrective actions taken
Percentage and total number of business units analysed for risks related to corruption

Actions taken in response to incidents of corruption

Public policy positions and participation in public policy development and lobbying

Type of product and service information required by procedures and percentage of 
significant products and services subject to such information requirements

Total number of incidents of non-compliance with regulations and voluntary codes 
concerning product and service information and labelling, by type of outcomes

Practices related to customer satisfaction, including results of surveys measuring customer 
satisfaction
Total number of substantiated complaints regarding breaches of customer privacy and 
losses of customer data
Monetary value of significant fines for non-compliance with laws and regulations 
concerning the provision and use of products and services

GRI Reference

Page

22

103

6
27
27
16
14, 
51– 
106, 
31
8

32,33

140, 
141
8

8

8

8
8,
29

17-20

8

25

47

47

17-20

16,

29
27,
48

25

25

11 –
12
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“I recommend you take care of the minutes and the hours will take care of themselves.”
– Earl of Chesterfield –
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DECLARATION

I hereby declare that to the best of my understanding this report fulfils the requirements for a GRI G3 Application Level C. 

Any questions regarding this report or its contents can be directed to me directly by telephone or fax on                                                           
+27 (0)12 460 7288/+27 (0)12 460 7285.

Gary Thomas Sayers C.A. (SA)
Chief Financial Officer

“Our greatest weakness lies in giving up. The most certain way to succeed is always to try just one more time.”
– Thomas A. Edison –

3.4
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MATERIALS USAGE

Energy-efficient consumption of resources:         
Part of the Group’s policy for continued sustainability and in keeping with the fundamental values, employees are 
encouraged to operate as cost effective as possible and not to incur unnecessary costs. Potential areas of expenditure, 
relevant to the Group, to be analysed and measured for GRI project purposes, were identified as paper and energy.  
              
Energy:         
Energy usage is calculated by totalling the utility bills for water and electricity at all branches for the 2013 financial period. 
The energy expense totalled R2,8 million (2012: R2,6 million), which was R400 000 less than the budgeted amount 
of R3,2 million. Energy expenditure increased from year to year as a result of the additional branches, and continued 
increase in rates. The budgeted amount for the 2013/2014 period is R3,7 million. The increase of R500 000 in the 
budget cost is mainly due to the increase in utility rates (8% increase for the 2013/2014 year) and not due to increased 
consumption.         
         
Paper:         
Although the execution of transactions through the use of electronic software is preferred, the result of transactions (personal 
loan contracts), and most of the inputs (client FICA documentation, bank accounts, salary slips) are predominantly paper 
based. Based on its relevance, Finbond identified  the cost of paper usage as a measurable item to be used in the control 
of energy-efficient resource consumption. The calculated cost of this consumption is R636 383 (2012: R537 113), based 
on the following analysis completed for the 2013 financial period.  The increase is due to the growth in core business 
(micro lending) during the year and increases in paper prices, and not reckless consumption.    
     

EN 1 | EN 3
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Finbond TotalHead Office

7 231 628
R636 383
602 636
R53 032

7 543 718
R537 113
628 643
R44 759

153 864
R13 540
12 822
R1 128

166 712
R11 870
13 893

R989

Finbond paper consumption analysis  
 
2013
Average folios per year
Average cost per year
Average folios per month
Average cost per month

2012
Average folios per year
Average cost per year
Average folios per month
Average cost per month

RegionalsBranches

461 593
R40 620
38 466
R3 385

500 136
R35 610
41 678
R2 967

6 616 170
R582 223
551 348
R48 519

6 876 870
R489 633
573 073
R40 803

Assumptions used in Finbond Calculations
1) Calculations are based on a sample of  branches
2) There are 172 branches
3) A folio of A4 paper costs R0.088   1 box costs approx. R220 from Nashua - 2 500 folios per box)
4) This estimate excludes head office and regional offices

Average folios per branch per year        
2013        
GP      KZN  FS      EWC            Average         Finbond folios per year  Cost per year  
35 537       34 488  38 471       45 368       38 466         6 616 170    R582 223

2012         
GP       KZN   FS       EWC           Average          Finbond folios per year  Cost per year 
40 738       39 597   41 205      45 172      41 678          6 876 870    R489 633
        
Average folios per branch per month        
2013        
GP       KZN FS      EWC            Average          Finbond folios per year  Cost per year 
2 961        2 874   3 206       3 781         3 206          551 348    R48 519

2012         
GP        KZN   FS        EWC          Average          Finbond folios per year  Cost per year 
3 395        3 300   3 434        3 764        3 473          573 073    R40 803

5) Assuming that head office uses four times the amount of paper than that of a normal branch and regional offices use 
    three times that amount: 
 Branches 
 Regionals 
 Head Office 
 Total folios 
 Total cost 

6 616 170
461 593
153 864

7 231 628
R636 383

“Opportunity is missed by most people because it is dressed in overalls and looks like work.”
– Thomas A. Edison –

EN 1 | EN 3
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“Go confidently in the direction of your dreams. Live the life you have imagined.”
– Henry David Thoreau –





FINBOND MUTUAL BANK
Brooklyn Forum Building  |  337 corner Veale and Fehrsen Street  |  Nieuw Muckleneuk  |  Pretoria  |  0181

Tel: +27 12 460 7288 / 0860 44 22 11  |  Fax: +27 12 460 7285 / 087 942 6959

www.finbondmutualbank.co.za

FINBOND GROUP LIMITED
Cnr Veale & Fehrsen Streets  |  Nieuw Muckleneuk  |  Brooklyn  |  Pretoria  |  0181

Tel: +27 12 460 7288  |  Fax: +27 12 460 7285

www.finbondlimited.co.za

It’s my bank!


